NEW ISSUE - BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY RATINGS: (See “Ratings” herein)

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, under existing statutes, regulations, rulings and court decisions, interest on the Bonds (defined herein), including interest in the form of
original issue discount, will not be includible in gross income of the holders thereof for federal income tax purposes, assuming continuing compliance by the School
District with the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Under the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, as enacted and construed on
the date hereof, the Bonds are exempt from Pennsylvania personal income tax and Pennsylvania corporate net income tax. See “TAX MATTERS” herein.
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The $316,840,000 School District of Philadelphia General Obligation Bonds, Series of 2021, consisting of $266,980,000 General Obligation Bonds, Series A of
2021 (the “Series A Bonds”) and $49,860,000 General Obligation Bonds, Series B of 2021 (Green Bonds) (the “Series B Bonds,” and together with the Series A Bonds,
the “Bonds”) are issuable as fully registered bonds and, when issued, will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee for The Depository Trust Company,
New York, New York (“DTC”), which will act as securities depository for the Bonds. Purchases of beneficial ownership interests in the Bonds will be made in
book-entry-only form. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in the Bonds. The Bonds will be issuable in denominations
of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. Principal and interest on the Bonds will be paid by U.S. Bank National Association, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, as sinking
fund depository, fiscal agent, registrar and paying agent (the “Fiscal Agent”), directly to Cede & Co., as nominee for DTC, for redistribution by DTC to its participants
and in turn to purchasers of the Bonds as described herein. See APPENDIX F attached hereto. Interest on the Bonds shall be paid on each March 1 and September 1,
commencing on March 1, 2022.

The proceeds of the Series A Bonds are being used by The School District of Philadelphia (the “School District”) to pay: (i) the costs of certain capital projects to
be undertaken by the School District; and (ii) the costs of issuance of the Series A Bonds. The proceeds of the Series B Bonds are being used by the School District to
pay: (i) the costs of certain capital projects to be undertaken by the School District which are designed to be environmentally beneficial by reducing energy usage in
School District buildings; and (ii) the costs of issuance of the Series B Bonds.

The School District has covenanted that it will provide in its budget in each fiscal year, and will appropriate from its general revenues in each such fiscal year, the
amount of the debt service payable on the Bonds for such fiscal year and will duly and punctually pay or cause to be paid from the respective sinking fund established
for each series of the Bonds under a resolution to be adopted by the School District on October 7, 2021 (the “Resolution”), or from any of its other revenues or funds,
the principal or redemption price of, and interest on, the Bonds at the dates and places and in the manner stated in the Bonds. The School District has pledged its full
faith, credit and taxing power for such budgeting, appropriation and payment. Certain limitations on the taxing power of the School District are described herein. See
“SECURITY FOR THE BONDS” and “APPENDIX A - SOURCES OF SCHOOL DISTRICT REVENUE.”

The School District has further covenanted in the Resolution to make daily deposits into the sinking funds established for the Bonds of certain School District tax
revenues. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS - Daily Sinking Fund Deposits.”

The Public School Code of 1949, as amended (the “School Code”), provides that if a school district fails to pay (or provide for payment of) any principal or
interest or the amount required as a sinking fund deposit on indebtedness of the school district, the Secretary of Education of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania is
required to withhold, out of any Commonwealth appropriation due to such school district, and to pay directly to the sinking fund depository for such bonds, an amount
equal to the sum of the interest and principal amount maturing or subject to mandatory redemption or the amount required as a sinking fund deposit which is owing by
such school district. The Bonds are entitled to the benefits of the intercept provisions of the School Code; however, the intercept provisions of the School Code are not
part of any contract with the holders of the Bonds and may be amended or repealed by future legislation. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS - Direct Payment of
State Appropriations to Fiscal Agent.”

The Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity as provided herein. See “DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS.”

This cover page contains certain information regarding the School District and the Bonds for quick reference only. It is not a summary of this issue.
Investors must read the entire Official Statement to obtain information essential to the making of an informed investment decision regarding the Bonds.

The Bonds are offered when, as and if issued to the Underwriters, subject to approval as to legality of issuance by Eckert Seamans Cherin & Mellott, LLC of
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, Bond Counsel. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the School District by the Office of the General Counsel to the School District

and for the Underwriters by their Counsel, Ahmad Zaffarese LLC of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. It is expected that the Bonds will be available for delivery in definitive
form through DTC in New York, New York on or about November 4, 2021.

Siebert Williams Shank & Co., LLC

AmeriVet Securities Barclays BofA Securities, Inc. PNC Capital Markets LLC Ramirez & Co., Inc. RBC Capital Markets

Official Statement dated: October 7, 2021



THE SCHOOL DISTRICT OF PHILADELPHIA
$316,840,000
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES OF 2021

$266,980,000 General Obligation Bonds, Series A of 2021

Due CUSIPT NO.
(September 1) Amount Interest Rate Yield Price (717883)
2022 $2,815,000 5.000% 0.180% 103.971 XW7
2023 2,960,000 5.000 0.270 108.604 XX5
2024 3,110,000 5.000 0.410 112.878 XY3
2025 3,265,000 5.000 0.590 116.654 XZ0
2026 3,435,000 5.000 0.760 120.048 YA4
2027 3,615,000 5.000 1.000 122.578 YB2
2028 3,795,000 5.000 1.190 124.902 YCO
2029 3,995,000 5.000 1.360 126.931 YD8
2030 4,195,000 5.000 1.470 129.114 YE6
2031 4,415,000 5.000 1.580 131.007 YF3
2032 11,135,000 5.000 1.640 130.372 ¢ YGlI
2033 11,705,000 5.000 1.690 129.846 ¢ YH9
2034 12,310,000 5.000 1.780 128.904 © YJ5
2035 12,940,000 5.000 1.820 128.488 © YK2
2036 13,535,000 4.000 2.020 117.562 ¢ YLO
2037 14,085,000 4.000 2.080 116.979 © YM8
2038 14,660,000 4.000 2.110 116.689 © YN6
2039 15,260,000 4.000 2.150 116.303 © YPI
2040 15,880,000 4.000 2.190 115919 ¢ YQ9
2041 16,530,000 4.000 2.220 115.632°¢ YR7

$ 93,340,000 4.000% Term Bond Due September 1, 2046 Price: 114.209° Yield: 2.370% CUSIPT NO. 717883YS5

$49,860,000 General Obligation Bonds, Series B of 2021 (Green Bonds)

Due CUSIP' NO.
(September 1) Amount Interest Rate Yield Price (717883)

2022 $3,940,000 5.000% 0.180% 103.971 YT3
2023 4,140,000 5.000 0.270 108.604 YUO
2024 4,355,000 5.000 0.410 112.878 YVS8
2025 4,580,000 5.000 0.590 116.654 YW6
2026 4,815,000 5.000 0.760 120.048 YX4
2027 5,060,000 5.000 1.000 122.578 YY2
2028 5,320,000 5.000 1.190 124.902 YZ9
2029 5,590,000 5.000 1.360 126.931 ZA3
2030 5,880,000 5.000 1.470 129.114 ZBl1
2031 6,180,000 5.000 1.580 131.007 7C9

= Price to the first optional redemption date of September 1, 2031, at par.

Registered trademark of American Bankers Association. CUSIP numbers are provided by CUSIP Global Services, which is managed on
behalf of the ABA by S&P Global Market Intelligence, a part of S&P Global Inc. The CUSIP numbers listed above are being provided
solely for the convenience of Bondholders only at the time of issuance of the Bonds and the School District and the Underwriters do not
make any representation with respect to such numbers or undertake any responsibility for their accuracy now or at any time in the future.
The CUSIP number for a specific maturity is subject to change after the issuance of the Bonds as a result of various subsequent actions
including, but not limited to, a refunding in whole or in part of such maturity or as a result of the procurement of secondary market portfolio
insurance or other secondary market enhancement by bondholders that may be applicable to all or a portion of certain maturities of the
Bonds. The School District and the Underwriters have not undertaken responsibility for any CUSIP number changes resulting from the
purchase of secondary market enhancement.



THE ORDER AND PLACEMENT OF MATERIALS IN THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT, INCLUDING
THE APPENDICES, ARE NOT TO BE DEEMED TO BE A DETERMINATION OF RELEVANCE,
MATERIALITY OR IMPORTANCE, AND THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT, INCLUDING THE
APPENDICES, MUST BE CONSIDERED IN ITS ENTIRETY. THE OFFERING OF THE BONDS IS
MADE ONLY BY MEANS OF THIS ENTIRE OFFICIAL STATEMENT.

No dealer, broker, salesman or other person has been authorized by the School District or the
Underwriters to give any information or to make any representations other than those contained in this Official
Statement, and if given or made, such other information or representations must not be relied upon as having
been authorized by any of the foregoing. This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the
solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall there be any sale of the Bonds by any person in any jurisdiction in
which it is unlawful for such person to make such offer, solicitation or sale. The information set forth herein
has been obtained from the School District and other sources which are believed to be reliable, but, as to
information from other sources, is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness by the School District. The
information and expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without notice and neither the delivery of
this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that
there has been no change in the affairs of the School District or with respect to other matters set forth herein
since the date hereof or the date as of which particular information is given, if earlier.

The Underwriters have provided the following sentence for inclusion in this Official Statement: The
Underwriters have reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with and as part of their
responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this
transaction, but the Underwriters do not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information.

The School District assumes no responsibility for any of the statements contained under the heading
“UNDERWRITING” in this Official Statement, other than the statements contained in the first three
paragraphs under such heading, or for the information contained in APPENDICES C or F hereto.

This Official Statement, including the appendices hereto, speaks only as of the date printed on
the cover page hereof, or as otherwise indicated herein. The information contained herein is subject to
change. The Underwriters have agreed to deliver this Official Statement to the Municipal Securities
Rulemaking Board so that it will be made available through the Electronic Municipal Market Access
System (“EMMA?”), which is the sole Nationally Recognized Municipal Securities Information
Repository.

If and when included in this Official Statement, including the appendices hereto, the words
“expects,” “forecasts,” “projects,” “intends,” “anticipates,” “estimates,” “assumes” and analogous
expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements and any such statements inherently are
subject to a variety of risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from
those that have been projected. Such risks and uncertainties which could affect the revenues and
obligations of the School District include, among others, changes in economic conditions, mandates from
other governments and various other events, conditions and circumstances, many of which are beyond
the control of the School District. Such forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this
Official Statement. The School District disclaims any obligation or undertaking to release publicly any
updates or revisions to any forward-looking statement contained herein to reflect any changes in the
School District’s expectations with regard thereto or any change in events, conditions or circumstances
on which any such statement is based.

The Bonds are not and will not be registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the
Resolution has not been qualified under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, or under any state
securities laws, in reliance upon exemptions contained therein. Neither the Securities and Exchange
Commission nor any federal, state, municipal or other governmental agency will pass upon the accuracy,
completeness or adequacy of this Official Statement. In making an investment decision, investors must rely on
their own examination of the Bonds and the terms of the offering, including the merits and risks involved.



THE SCHOOL DISTRICT OF PHILADELPHIA

440 North Broad Street
Philadelphia, PA 19130
Telephone: 215-400-4000
www.philasd.org

BOARD OF EDUCATION
(Voting Members)

Joyce Wilkerson, Board President
Leticia Egea-Hinton, Board Vice President
Julia Danzy
Mallory Fix Lopez
Maria McColgan
Lisa Salley
Reginald Streater
Cecilia Thompson

SUPERINTENDENT OF SCHOOLS

WILLIAM R. HITE, JR., ED.D

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

URI MONSON

GENERAL COUNSEL

LYNN R. RAUCH, ESQUIRE

BOND COUNSEL

ECKERT SEAMANS CHERIN & MELLOTT, LLC

FINANCIAL ADVISOR

PHOENIX CAPITAL PARTNERS, LLP



TABLE OF CONTENTS*

Page
INTRODUCTION 1
The School District Of PRILAAEIPIIEA .......cveieiieiieiieiesieiese ettt et et teesa e te e st eseesaessessaenseessensesssansesssensesseansenses 1
Authority for Issuance and Security for the BONAS ...........ooiiiiiiiiii et 2
PUIPOSE OF the BOMAS ...ttt et b et e bt e bt b et e e st e st eb e et e b et eneeseeseeseeaeabe s eneeneeneeneatenens 2
Designation of the Series B Bonds as Green BONS..........couiiiiiiiiiiiiieieiee ettt st st 3
CONINUING DISCIOSUIE ......etieititiete ettt ettt ettt ea e s bt e st e s bt e st e bt eat et e e bt et e eaeeebeesteebeenbesbeenteabeenteebeense bt enbesbeeneenbean 3
The COVID-19 PANACIMIC. ......etiiiieiieiietieiteste ettt ettt ettt st ettt et e bt e st e s et esbe st e estesseenseebeestesseensesseenseeseenseeseensesseansesseensesseensennes 3
Other INFOIMIALION ...c..itiiiieiiii ettt ettt e b e ettt a e bbbttt be st eseeeteb e ebe s bt sa et et eateaeebesuesaennens 5
DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS 5
GETIETAL ...ttt ettt ettt e st b e a e bt e st e bt ea e e bt eh e et e e h e et e e et en bt eh e e bt e et e bt ea b ekt e Rt e eh e en b e eheea b e bt et e ebeen b e bt et e nbeentenbean 5
Redemption Provisions of the Bonds..
General Redemption PrOVISIONS. ........c.couiiiiiiiiiiinertie ettt ettt b ettt ettt eb ettt sa bt eae bt e bt sue st nnens 6
SECURITY FOR THE BONDS 7
GENETAL OBIIZALION......euiitiitietiett ettt ettt h et bt e st e s bt ea b e s bt es e e bt ea b e bt es b e bt ea b e ebeenbeebeenbesbeemteabeeabesbeente bt enbesbeentenaean
SINKING FUINAS ...ttt ettt et e e et e b e e a et e st e e st e e bt ensesteemse bt ente e s e ente st entesseenteseentesseestenseensanseeseeseensansenns
Daily Sinking Fund Deposits
Direct Payment of State Appropriations t0 FiSCAl AGENT .......c.ccieieriiriieriiiieiieeeieeteie ettt teete e esseesaesesseeseesaensesseensennes 8
STATULOTY REIMEAICS . .vvevvivieiiieieeieeiieteeteete sttt et et ste et e s teesteste e st e teeseesseessesseesaesseessenseessanseessenseessensesseenseaseensesseansensesssesseensenses 10
Limitation Of REMEAIES. ... c.eeueeiiiiiiiiiteeee ettt ettt b et et e st e bt et et e et e be s em s e st eneeseebeeb e et e e eneeneeneanesbenseneens 11
PLAN OF FINANCE 11
Purpose of the Bonds
Green Bonds
SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS 12
AdAIIONAL FINANCINE ...e.veeuiietieiieitieieett ettt ettt ettt et et et et e et e b e et e este s st esteeseente st ensaseeste st ensesseense st ensenseentenseentensessaenseentansenns 12
SCHOOL DISTRICT DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS 13
NO LITIGATION AFFECTING THE BONDS 15
FINANCIAL ADVISOR 15
UNDERWRITING 15
RATINGS 16
TAX MATTERS 16

LEGAL MATTERS 17
CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS 17
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 18
Continuing DiSCloSUIe UNAEITAKINGS .......cc.evvieiieriieieriieierieeiesttetesteetesteettesteseeessesseessessaeseeseessesssesseessessesssessesssessesseessenssensenss 18
Oher INFOTIMALION ...evvieieiiciieiieiete ettt e et e et et e e teestesseesbe et eessesseesseaseessessaenseassensesssenseassensesssensenssensasseensenssensenen 18
FINANCIAL STALCINIENITS ....evvevieiieiectietietete et et e et et e stt et e eteestesteessaebeesaesseessessesssasseessasseassessaaseessassaasseseassanseessesseassassanssessenssensenes 19
MISCELLANEOUS 19
INEGOLIADIE TNSTIUMEILS ......vevieiiitieie sttt ettt ettt et et e et et e et estesseesbeesaessesseesseaseessesseassessensesseensensaensesssensensaessesseansensenssensens 19
COItAIN RETETEICES ...uvevieeiieiieiieiete ettt ettt ettt e et e et e st e e se e seestesbeessesseeseesseassesseessenseessesesssenseassensasssenseassensanseensenssensenen 19

APPENDIX A — THE SCHOOL DISTRICT OF PHILADELPHIA

APPENDIX B — CERTAIN FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE SCHOOL DISTRICT
APPENDIX C - CITY OF PHILADELPHIA SOCIOECONOMIC INFORMATION
APPENDIX D — FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION FOR THE BONDS
APPENDIX E - FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT

APPENDIX F — BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM

APPENDIX G — DESCRIPTION OF GREEN PROJECTS

*The Table of Contents does not list all of the subjects in this Official Statement and in all instances reference should be made to
the complete Official Statement to determine the subjects set forth herein.



[ THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK ]



OFFICIAL STATEMENT
Relating to
THE SCHOOL DISTRICT OF PHILADELPHIA
$316,840,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES OF 2021

Consisting of:

$266,980,000 $ 49,860,000
General Obligation Bonds, General Obligation Bonds,
Series A of 2021 Series B of 2021 (Green Bonds)
INTRODUCTION

The purpose of this Official Statement, including the cover page and appendices hereto, is to provide information
concerning $316,840,000 The School District of Philadelphia General Obligation Bonds, Series of 2021, consisting of
$266,980,000 General Obligation Bonds, Series A of 2021 (the “Series A Bonds”) and $49,860,000 General Obligation Bonds,
Series B of 2021 (Green Bonds) (the “Series B Bonds,” and together with the Series A Bonds, the “Bonds”). The Bonds will be
dated, mature and bear interest, and will be subject to redemption prior to scheduled maturity, all as described herein.

This introduction is not a summary of this Official Statement. It is only a brief description of and guide to, and is
qualified by, more complete and detailed information contained in the entire Official Statement, including the cover page and
appendices hereto, and the documents summarized or described herein. Any capitalized term used in the forepart of this Official
Statement, unless otherwise defined herein, shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the Resolution (hereinafter defined).

If and when included in this Official Statement, including the appendices hereto, the words “expects,”
“forecasts,” “projects,” “intends,” “anticipates,” “estimates,” “assumes” and analogous expressions are intended to
identify forward-looking statements and any such statements inherently are subject to a variety of risks and uncertainties
that could cause actual results to differ materially from those that have been projected. Such risks and uncertainties
which could affect the revenues and obligations of the School District include, among others, changes in economic
conditions, mandates from other governments and various other events, conditions and circumstances, many of which are
beyond the control of the School District. Such forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Official
Statement. The School District disclaims any obligation or undertaking to release publicly any updates or revisions to any
forward-looking statement contained herein to reflect any changes in the School District’s expectations with regard
thereto or any change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such statement is based.

The School District of Philadelphia

The School District of Philadelphia (the “School District”) is a separate and independent home rule school district of
the first class established by the Philadelphia Home Rule Charter (the “Home Rule Charter”). The School District is the only
school district of the first class in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania (the “Commonwealth”). Pursuant to the Home Rule
Charter, the School District is governed by a nine-member Board of Education (the “Board”) appointed by the Mayor (the
“Mayor”) of The City of Philadelphia (the “City”).

The School District is the largest school district in the Commonwealth, with Fiscal Year 2021 enrollment of
approximately 202,940 students, including (1) approximately 122,450 students who attended School District-operated schools
(118,850 of whom attended at traditional school buildings, 640 of whom attended the Philadelphia Virtual Academy and 2,960
students who attended alternative educational schools); (2) approximately 79,400 students who attended charter schools
(traditional and cyber charter schools); and (3) approximately 1,090 non-public students and other students who received special
education services through the School District’s Intermediate Unit #26. The School District has the eighth largest enrollment in
the nation and employs approximately 19,000 professional and nonprofessional persons with one central administrative office
and 16 learning networks. The boundaries of the School District are coterminous with the boundaries of the City. The School
District’s fiscal year is July 1 to June 30, identical to that of the City and the Commonwealth. The term “Fiscal Year,” when
followed by a year, refers to the fiscal year ended June 30 of that year. For example, “Fiscal Year 2021” refers to the Fiscal Year
commencing on July 1, 2020, and ending June 30, 2021.

On December 21, 2001, pursuant to criteria provided by the Public School Code of 1949, as amended (the “School
Code”), the School District was declared financially distressed by the Secretary of Education of the Commonwealth. A school,



reform commission (“SRC”) was established and members were appointed. On November 16, 2017, the SRC adopted a
resolution recommending dissolution of the SRC and rescission of the declaration of distress and recommending to the Secretary
of Education that he issue a declaration that the SRC be dissolved effective June 30, 2018. On December 26, 2017, pursuant to
Section 696(n) of the School Code, the Secretary approved the dissolution of the SRC and rescinded the School District’s
declaration of distressed school district status effective June 30, 2018. An education nominating panel was appointed by the
Mayor which nominated persons to serve as members of the Board. In April 2018, the Mayor appointed nine members to serve
on the Board and the Board assumed governance of the School District on July 1, 2018. As of such date, the Board governs the
School District. There is currently one vacancy on the Board.

The School District has been led by Dr. William R. Hite, Jr., Superintendent of Schools, since 2012. On September 27,
2021, Dr. Hite announced his decision to not seek renewal of his current contract which, expires at the end of the 2021-22 school
year in August 2022. On September 28, 2021, the Board announced that a search for the new Superintendent will begin
immediately with a public engagement process expected to begin in October 2021 and the formal search expected to begin in
November 2021. The Board’s expectation is to appoint a new Superintendent in the spring of 2022 and for the appointee to take
office in August 2022, at the end of Dr. Hite’s current contract.

See APPENDIX A hereto for a description of the School District and its affairs, including its organization and financial
procedures.

Authority for Issuance and Security for the Bonds

The Bonds are general obligations of the School District, issued pursuant to the Pennsylvania Local Government Unit
Debt Act, 53 Pa. C.S. Chs. 80-82, as amended (the “Debt Act” or the “Act”), and a resolution of the School District to be adopted
by the Board on October 7, 2021 (the “Resolution”). Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the
meanings set forth in the Resolution. Pursuant to the Act and the Resolution, the School District has covenanted with the holders
of the Bonds that it shall (i) include in its budget for each fiscal year, the amount of debt service on the Bonds payable in such
fiscal year, (ii) appropriate such amounts from its general revenues for the payment of such debt service, and (iii) duly and
punctually pay, or cause to be paid from its sinking funds, or any other of its revenues or funds, the principal or redemption price
of, and interest on, the Bonds at the dates and places and in the manner stated in the Bonds. For such budgeting, appropriation
and payment, the School District has pledged its full faith, credit and taxing power. The Act provides that this covenant is
specifically enforceable. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS” herein.

The School District may levy taxes only upon the authorization of the General Assembly of the Commonwealth (the
“General Assembly”) or the Council of the City (“City Council”), as described in “APPENDIX A - SOURCES OF SCHOOL
DISTRICT REVENUE” herein.

See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS — Daily Sinking Fund Deposits” herein for a description of the daily deposits into
the sinking funds established for the Bonds (as well as the other outstanding fixed rate general obligation bonds of the School
District, each series of fixed rate general obligation bonds to be issued by the School District in the future and, at the option of the
School District, any series of variable rate general obligation bonds to be issued by the School District in the future) of School
District tax revenues collected by the Revenue Commissioner of the City, as School Tax Collector, and “APPENDIX A -
SOURCES OF SCHOOL DISTRICT REVENUE - Local Tax Revenues” for a description of the School District Real Estate Tax,
Business Use and Occupancy Tax, Liquor Sales Tax and Non-Business Income Tax collected by the Revenue Commissioner of
the City, as School Tax Collector.

For a description of the intercept provisions of Section 633 of the School Code applicable to the Bonds, see
“SECURITY FOR THE BONDS” herein and “APPENDIX A — SCHOOL DISTRICT DEBT.” For a description of the features
of the School District’s general obligation bonds, including the Bonds, and the bonds issued by the State Public School Building
Authority (the “SPSBA”) for the benefit of the School District and the intercept agreement applicable to the bonds issued by the
SPSBA for the benefit of the School District, see “APPENDIX A — SCHOOL DISTRICT DEBT.” For a description of the
provisions of Section 1703-E.4 of the Fiscal Code (as defined herein) allowing certain intercept payments under the School Code
to be made in the event that the Commonwealth does not timely enact annual appropriations for public education for a fiscal year,
see “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS - Direct Payment of State Appropriations to Fiscal Agent” herein.

Purpose of the Bonds

The proceeds of the Series A Bonds are being used by the School District to pay: (i) the costs of certain capital projects
to be undertaken by the School District; and (ii) the costs of issuance of the Series A Bonds. The proceeds of the Series B Bonds
are being used by the School District to pay: (i) the costs of certain capital projects to be undertaken by the School District which
are designed to be environmentally beneficial by reducing energy usage in School District buildings; and (ii) the costs of issuance
of the Series B Bonds. See “PLAN OF FINANCE” herein.



Designation of the Series B Bonds as Green Bonds

The Series B Bonds are being issued to finance certain projects that are designed to be environmentally beneficial
(“Green Projects”) by reducing energy usage in School District buildings. See “PLAN OF FINANCE — Green Bonds — Use of’
Proceeds” herein. See APPENDIX G for a description of the particular Green Projects expected to be financed with proceeds of
the Series B Bonds.

Continuing Disclosure

In order to assist the Underwriters in complying with the requirements of Rule 15¢2-12, as amended (“Rule 15¢2-12”),
promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the School District will enter into a Continuing Disclosure
Agreement (the “Continuing Disclosure Agreement”) with Digital Assurance Certification, L.L.C. (“DAC”), as Dissemination
Agent, in substantially the form set forth as APPENDIX E to this Official Statement. See “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AND
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION” herein. Certain information concerning the School District, required or permitted to be filed
pursuant to the School District’s prior continuing disclosure agreements, is on file with the Electronic Municipal Market Access
System (“EMMA”) at http://emma.msrb.org. Such information is not incorporated herein by reference.

The COVID-19 Pandemic

In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus causing the disease known as “COVID-19” was discovered in Wuhan,
China. Since then, COVID-19 has spread throughout the world, including throughout the United States and the Commonwealth,
resulting in the United States Department of Health and Human Services declaring a public health emergency on January 31,
2020, and the then President of the United States declaring a national emergency on March 13, 2020. The Governor of the
Commonwealth (the “Governor”) declared a state of emergency on March 6, 2020. The World Health Organization officially
proclaimed COVID-19 to be a pandemic (the “COVID-19 Pandemic”) on March 11, 2020.

Certain Federal, State and Local Responses to the COVID-19 Pandemic

In an effort to limit the spread of COVID-19, the United States government, state governments, local governments, and
private industries have taken measures to mitigate the impacts of COVID-19 on the general population and the economy,
including the restriction of social interactions, encouraging citizens to obtain one of the vaccines that have been developed to
protect against COVID-19 (the “COVID-19 vaccines”), and in some cases, mandating inoculation with a COVID-19 vaccine in
order to obtain access to certain public and private spaces. The effects of the spread of COVID-19 and the related governmental,
non-profit and private responses continue to rapidly evolve. The spread of COVID-19, including various mutations which have
been identified (“variants™), has altered and continues to alter the behavior of businesses and people in a manner that has caused
significant disruptions to the global, national, regional, Commonwealth and local economy.

By April 1, 2020, stay-at-home orders were in place for the entire Commonwealth. Throughout the fall and winter of
2020, the City and the Commonwealth implemented several actions to address increases in COVID-19 infection rates in the City
and in the Commonwealth. The restrictions in the Commonwealth’s stay-at-home orders continued to be modified as
circumstances permitted, with all such restrictions completely lifted on June 28, 2021. On August 31, 2021, Pennsylvania’s
Acting Secretary of Health signed an order requiring face coverings to be worn in all public and private school settings (including
the School Districts) effective September 7, 2021. Other than the recent school mask mandate, no other Commonwealth COVID-
19 restrictions are in place. However, municipalities, such as the City of Philadelphia, have been permitted to continue to
implement their own mitigation efforts. Throughout the COVID-19 Pandemic, the Mayor has also implemented various
emergency measures and other actions to respond to the spread of COVID-19 in the City, including its own stay-at-home orders.
Such measures were modified depending on then-current health and safety conditions in the City. On June 15, 2021, in response
to falling COVID-19 infection rates and increased vaccination rates, the Mayor and the Health Commissioner issued an order to
establish safety measures to allow the full reopening of the City. On August 11, 2021, in response to rising COVID-19 infection
rates believed to be caused by one or more variants, the Mayor and the Health Commissioner issued an order re-establishing
certain social restrictions that had been lifted by prior orders. The Commonwealth and the City continue to monitor the evolution
of the COVID-19 pandemic and modify their respective responses as necessary.

Pennsylvania Act No. 13 of 2020

Pennsylvania Act No. 13 (“Act 13”) was enacted on March 27, 2020. Act 13 permitted the Pennsylvania Secretary of
Education to order the closure of all school entities (during the 2019-20 school year only) until the threat to health and safety
caused by the COVID-19 Pandemic had ended. Act No. 13 also waived the requirement that school entities be open for at least
180 days of instruction during the 2019-20 school year and provided for, inter alia, compensation of school entity employees,
school subsidies and reimbursements from the Commonwealth as a result of actions taken by the Secretary of Education pursuant
to Act No. 13.



Act 13 required each school entity to make a good faith effort to develop a plan to offer continuity of education using
alternative means during the closure period. Pursuant to the requirements of Act 13, the School District submitted a continuity of
education plan to the Pennsylvania Department of Education (“PED”) for the 2019-20 academic year which was approved.
Although not required under Act 13, the School District later submitted health and safety plans for the 2020-21 and 2021-22
academic years to the PED detailing its readiness to make rapid shifts to a short-term virtual environment as the need may arise in
order to respond to COVID-19 infections in schools.

The School District’s Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic

Educational institutions, including the School District, have taken and are taking a variety of measures to protect
students, teachers, staff, administrators, and School District personnel from the effects of the COVID-19 Pandemic. Beginning on
March 16, 2020 (pursuant to the Governor’s March 13, 2020, order), all School District schools were closed for in-person
instruction and remained closed through the end of the 2019-20 academic year (pursuant to the Governor’s April 9, 2020, order).
Distance learning (virtual, online) was implemented for all School District students.

The School’s District’s continuity plan for the latter quarter of the 2019-20 academic year included distance learning
for all students. Summer school for the 2019-20 academic year was also offered in distance learning format. The School District
started the 2020-21 academic year still requiring distance learning for all students and later shifting to a hybrid instruction model
with instruction offered both in-person and via distance learning for certain students beginning in March 2021. Summer school
for the 2020-21 academic year was offered in person.

The School District started the 2021-22 academic year on August 31, 2021, with all of its schools operating fully and
the vast majority of students attending 100% in-person. The School District is also operating Philadelphia Virtual Academy as an
alternative to in-person learning for those students whose families want them to participate in distance learning through virtual
instruction. Approximately 1,400 students have chosen the virtual instruction option for the 2021-22 calendar year.

Pursuant to guidelines put in place by the School District prior to the start of the current academic year (and recently
enshrined in an order of the Commonwealth Department of Health applying to all Commonwealth school settings beginning on
September 7, 2021), all students and staff of the School District buildings are required to wear face coverings inside, regardless
of vaccination status. Additionally, on August 24, 2021, the Board voted to mandate COVID-19 vaccination for all of its
approximately 20,000 teachers and staff members. Teachers and staff members were required to report their current vaccination
status to the School District by a deadline of September 30, 2021. Going forward, if a teacher or staff member is unvaccinated or
partially vaccinated and tests positive for COVID-19, the teacher or staff member will not be entitled to use the District’s 10-day
Direct Quarantine Leave program. Unvaccinated and partially vaccinated teachers and staff members must be tested for COVID-
19 twice a week. Fully vaccinated teachers and staff members must continue being tested for COVID-19 once a week.

Effects of the COVID-19 Pandemic on the School District’s Financial Position and Operations

As a result of revenue losses and increases in expenses resulting from the COVID-19 Pandemic, the School District had
an operating deficit for its fiscal year ending June 30, 2020. For the fiscal year ending June 30, 2021, the School District was able
to recover from its prior fiscal year operating deficit, due in large part to federal funds received as part of the CARES Act. The
School District expects an operating surplus, as set forth in its proposed budget, for the current fiscal year ending June 30, 2022.
See “CERTAIN FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE SCHOOL DISTRICT” in APPENDIX A hereto.

Despite the School District’s previous distance learning measures and the current 2021-22 academic year beginning
with most students participating in all in-person learning, there can be no assurances that the spread of COVID-19 or other highly
contagious or epidemic diseases will not adversely impact the School District in regards to, among other things, future enrollment
and its corresponding financial impact to the School District. The School District has plans in place to address COVID-19
infections that may arise in particular classrooms and schools and has implemented such plans as needed, including targeted
quarantining of affected students and staff and short-term transitions from in-person learning to virtual learning.

While the School District does not anticipate that COVID-19 will affect its ability to obtain funding as projected in
APPENDIX A - SOURCES OF SCHOOL DISTRICT REVENUE, the extent to which COVID-19 impacts the School District,
or its financial condition will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted by the
management of the School District, including the extent or duration of the outbreak. In addition, the finances of the
Commonwealth may be materially adversely affected by the continued spread of COVID-19, which could affect the amount or
timing of educational aid appropriated to the School District.

The School District continues to monitor and assess the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on the
School District’s financial position and operations. A full assessment of the impact on the School District depends, in part, on the
impact of COVID-19 on the City and the Commonwealth. It is not possible, at present, to project the impact on the School
District’s revenues, expenditures, reserves, budgets, or financial position. Such impact will depend heavily on future events and
actions by other governmental entities. No assurance can be given by the School District at this time.



For more information on the School District’s response to COVID-19 and the related impact on the School District’s
finances and operations, see APPENDIX A — “COVID-19.”

Other Information

Certain information relating to the School District’s operations and financial affairs is available on the School District’s
website: www.philasd.org. Such information is not incorporated herein by reference. See “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AND
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION” herein.

The School District’s financial statements are audited by the City Controller of the City (the “City Controller”). The
School District has included its audited financial statements for Fiscal Year 2020 in “APPENDIX B” hercin. See
“CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION-Financial Statements” herein and APPENDIX B hereto.

Certain City socioeconomic information is attached hereto as APPENDIX C.

This Official Statement speaks only as of its date, unless otherwise expressly noted, and the information
contained herein is subject to change.

DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS

General

The Bonds will be dated the date of delivery thereof, will be issued as fixed rate bonds and will bear interest at the rates
and will mature on September 1 of the years set forth on the inside front cover page hereof until maturity or redemption. Interest
on the Bonds shall be paid on each September 1 and March 1 (each an “Interest Payment Date””) commencing on March 1, 2022.
Interest on Bonds will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year comprised of twelve 30-day months. “Record Date” with
respect to the Bonds means the fifteenth (15") day of the month next preceding the Interest Payment Date. The Bonds shall be
issued in fully registered form in the denomination of $5,000 and any integral multiple thereof (“Authorized Denominations™).

The Bonds shall be registered on the registration books kept by the Fiscal Agent (hereinafter defined), as registrar and
fiscal agent, in the name of The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (the “Securities Depository” or “DTC”), or its
nominee, Cede & Co. Beneficial owners (“Beneficial Owners”) of the Bonds will not receive certificates representing their
respective interests in such Bonds, except in the event the Fiscal Agent issues replacement bonds. The Bonds shall be payable as
to principal or redemption price in lawful money of the United States of America at the corporate trust office of U.S Bank,
National Association, located in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, which shall act as Sinking Fund Depository, Fiscal Agent, Registrar
and Paying Agent with respect to the Bonds (the “Fiscal Agent”). Interest on the Bonds shall be paid by check or draft in lawful
money of the United States to each registered owner of the Bond at their address as it appears on the Record Date on the
registration books of the School District kept by the Fiscal Agent or by wire transfer to a bank account in the continental United
States to registered owners of more than $1,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds at the written request of such
registered owners delivered to the Fiscal Agent at the time set forth in the Bonds. As long as the Bonds are registered in the name
of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, such payments will be made directly to DTC. See APPENDIX F hereto. Disbursement of
such payments to the Direct Participants (as defined in APPENDIX F hereto) is the responsibility of DTC and disbursement of
such payments to the Beneficial Owners is the responsibility of the Direct Participants and the Indirect Participants (as defined in
APPENDIX F hereto), as more fully described in APPENDIX F hereto.

The Bonds may be transferred by the registered owners thereof or by their duly authorized attorneys-in-fact or other
legal representative for Bonds of the same series and maturity in the same aggregate principal amount and bearing interest at the
same rate upon the registration books maintained by the Fiscal Agent upon delivery to the Fiscal Agent of the Bonds
accompanied by a written instrument or instruments of transfer in form and with guaranty of signature satisfactory to the Fiscal
Agent, duly executed by the registered owner of the Bonds to be transferred or his or her duly authorized attorney-in-fact or other
legal representative, containing written instructions as to the details of the transfer of such Bonds. No transfer of any Bond shall
be effective until entered on the registration books maintained by the Fiscal Agent or its successor. In like manner Bonds may be
exchanged by the registered owners thereof or by their duly authorized attorneys-in-fact or other legal representative for Bonds of
the same series, maturity and interest rate and of authorized denomination or denominations in the same aggregate principal
amount and bearing interest at the same rate. The Fiscal Agent may impose a charge sufficient to reimburse the School District or
the Fiscal Agent for any tax, fee or other governmental charge required to be paid with respect to such exchange or any transfer
of a Bond. The cost, if any, of preparing each new Bond issued upon such exchange or transfer, and any other expenses of the
School District or the Fiscal Agent incurred in connection therewith, will be paid by the person requesting such exchange or
transfer. The Fiscal Agent will not be required to transfer or exchange any Bond: (1) during a period beginning at the opening of
business on any date when Bonds, or portions thereof, are selected for redemption and ending at the close of business on the day
of the mailing of a notice of redemption of such Bonds; or (2) which has been so selected for redemption in whole or in part.



Redemption Provisions of the Bonds
The Series A Bonds shall be subject to redemption as follows:

Optional Redemption. The Series A Bonds maturing on or after September 1, 2032, are subject to redemption at the
option of the School District, from monies available therefor, on or after September 1, 2031, in whole at any time, and in part
from time to time, and if in part by lot within a maturity and within particular maturities or portions thereof as determined by the
School District, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Series A Bonds to be redeemed plus accrued
and unpaid interest on the Series A Bonds to be redeemed to the date of redemption.

Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption. The Series A Bonds maturing on September 1, 2046, are subject to mandatory
redemption prior to maturity by the School District, in part, by lot, at a redemption price of the principal amount of Series A
Bonds to be redeemed plus interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption, from funds which the School District covenants to
deposit in the Series A Mandatory Sinking Fund Account created in the Sinking Fund (defined below) for the Series A Bonds
established under the Resolution, annually, on or before September 1 of the years and in the principal amounts set forth below:

Partial Maturity Date
(September 1) Amount
2042 $17,205,000
2043 17,905,000
2044 18,640,000
2045 19,400,000
2046* 20,190,000

* Final Maturity.
The Series B Bonds shall be subject to redemption as follows:

Optional Redemption. The Series B Bonds are not subject to optional redemption prior to maturity.

General Redemption Provisions

Selection of Bonds for Redemption. If less than all of a series and maturity of the Bonds are to be redeemed, the
particular Bonds of such series and maturity to be redeemed shall be selected by the Fiscal Agent by lot in such manner as the
Fiscal Agent in its discretion may determine and which shall provide for the selection for redemption of portions of the principal
of Bonds in Authorized Denominations.

Notice of Redemption. The Fiscal Agent shall mail a notice of redemption by first class mail not more than 45 days
and not less than 30 days before the date of redemption to the registered owner of each Bond to be redeemed in whole or in part
at the address shown on the registration books. Failure to give such notice by mailing to any registered owner of any Bonds or
any defect therein shall not affect the validity of any proceedings for the redemption of other Bonds. Deposit of any such notice
in the United States mail shall constitute constructive receipt by such registered owner of such Bonds. The Fiscal Agent shall
redeem on each respective redemption date the principal amount of such Bonds or portions thereof aggregating the amount to be
then redeemed. So long as the Securities Depository is the sole registered owner of the Bonds, the Fiscal Agent shall send a
notice of redemption to the Securities Depository at the time and in the manner specified in DTC’s Operational Arrangements.
Any failure of the Securities Depository to advise any of its participants or any failure of any direct or indirect participant therein
to notify any Beneficial Owner of any such notice and its content or effect shall not affect the validity of the proceedings for
redemption of the Bonds called for redemption or of any other action premised on such notice. No further interest shall accrue on
any Bond called for redemption on and after the redemption date if payment of the redemption price is on deposit with the Fiscal
Agent, and the registered owner of the Bond shall have no rights except to receive payment of the redemption price and the
unpaid interest accrued on the Bond to the date of redemption.

If such notice is given with respect to an optional redemption prior to moneys for such redemption being deposited with
the Fiscal Agent, then such notice shall be conditioned upon the deposit of the redemption moneys with the Fiscal Agent on or
before the date fixed for redemption and such notice shall be of no effect (and shall so state) unless moneys are so deposited.



SECURITY FOR THE BONDS
General Obligation

The Bonds are general obligations of the School District. Pursuant to the Act and as provided in the Resolution, the
School District covenants with the holders of the Bonds that it shall (i) include in its budget for each fiscal year the amount of
debt service on the Bonds payable in such fiscal year, (ii) appropriate such amounts from its general revenues for the payment of
such debt service, and (iii) duly and punctually pay, or cause to be paid, from its sinking funds or any other of its revenues or
funds, the principal or redemption price of, and the interest on, the Bonds at the dates and places and in the manner stated in the
Bonds. For such budgeting, appropriation and payment, the School District has pledged its full faith, credit and taxing power.
The Act provides that this covenant is specifically enforceable.

The School District may levy taxes only upon the authorization of the General Assembly or City Council as described
in “APPENDIX A - SOURCES OF SCHOOL DISTRICT REVENUE” herein.

The issuance of the Bonds by the School District constitutes the incurrence of non-electoral debt by the School District
pursuant to the Debt Act and must be approved in advance by the Pennsylvania Department of Community and Economic
Development (“DCED”). This approval will be obtained prior to issuance and delivery of the Bonds. See “APPENDIX A —
SCHOOL DISTRICT DEBT.”

Sinking Funds

Pursuant to the Act and the Resolution, sinking funds for each series of the Bonds, designated “Sinking Fund - Series A
of 2021,” and “Sinking Fund — Series B of 2021,” respectively (each a “Sinking Fund” and collectively, the “Sinking Funds”),
shall be established with the Fiscal Agent and held segregated from all other funds of the School District. The Act requires that
the School District deposit into each Sinking Fund, not later than the date when the interest and principal is to become due on the
respective series of Bonds, amounts sufficient to pay the interest and principal then due. The School District has covenanted in
the Resolution to provide for the full amount of each debt service payment due on the Bonds by a date which is 15 days prior to
each debt service payment date (each, a “Sinking Fund Deposit Date”). See “Direct Payment of State Appropriations to Fiscal
Agent” below for further information regarding the making of sinking fund deposits.

The sinking fund depository for the Bonds is U.S. Bank National Association, the Fiscal Agent.

Moneys in each of the Sinking Funds may be invested by the Fiscal Agent in securities or deposits authorized by law
and the Resolution, upon direction of the School District, all as provided in the Act and the Resolution. Such deposits and
securities shall be in the name of the School District, but shall be subject to withdrawal or collection only by the Fiscal Agent,
and such deposits and securities, together with the interest thereon, shall be a part of such Sinking Fund.

The Fiscal Agent is irrevocably authorized and directed to pay from the Sinking Funds pursuant to the Debt Act and the
Resolution the principal of, and interest on, the Bonds when due and payable.

The Debt Act provides that all moneys deposited in each of the Sinking Funds and all investments and proceeds of
investments thereof shall be, without further action or filing, subject to a perfected security interest in favor of the owners of the
applicable series of Bonds.

Daily Sinking Fund Deposits

In conjunction with the sale of fixed rate general obligation bonds in 1982, the School District covenanted to make
daily deposits into each sinking fund established for each of its outstanding fixed rate general obligation bond issues from School
District tax revenues collected by the Revenue Commissioner of the City, as School Tax Collector. All subsequent issues of
fixed rate general obligation bonds have contained such a covenant, and the Resolution contains a similar covenant with respect
to the Bonds. The School District may, in its sole discretion, covenant to make daily deposits into sinking funds established for
any variable rate general obligation bonds that the School District may issue in the future. See “APPENDIX A - SOURCES OF
SCHOOL DISTRICT REVENUE - Local Tax Revenues” for a description of the Real Estate Tax, Business Use and Occupancy
Tax, Liquor Sales Tax and Non-Business Income Tax collected by the Revenue Commissioner of the City, as School Tax
Collector.

Each total daily deposit represents the aggregate pro-rata amount required to accumulate in each of the sinking funds on
the Sinking Fund Deposit Date (the “Accumulation Date) which is 15 days in advance of a debt service payment date (including
a mandatory sinking fund installment deposit date with respect to the School District’s 2011 qualified school construction bonds
and 2016 qualified school construction bonds (together, the “QSCBs”)), an amount sufficient to make the ensuing interest and
principal or mandatory redemption payment required to be paid from such sinking fund (including the next mandatory sinking
fund installment deposit with respect to the QSCBs). For example, if the School District is required to make an interest and



principal payment on fixed rate bonds (including for a mandatory sinking fund installment deposit with respect to the QSCBs) on
September 1, 2021, the required funds must be accumulated in the required sinking fund by August 17, 2021. The daily amount
to be set aside for interest is calculated by dividing the amount of the interest payment by the actual number of City business days
occurring during the period February 14, 2021, to August 17, 2021. The daily amount to be set aside for principal (and, as
applicable, for a mandatory sinking fund installment deposit with respect to the QSCBs) is calculated by dividing the amount of
the principal payment (or, as applicable, the mandatory sinking fund installment with respect to the QSCBs) by the actual number
of City business days occurring during the period August 17, 2020, to August 17, 2021. Although the Resolution permits interest
income to be taken into account in calculating the daily deposits, the School District’s current practice is that the interest income
earned on investments in the respective sinking funds is not considered in calculating the required total daily deposits.

All of the School District tax revenues subject to this daily deposit covenant are collected for the School District by the
Department of Collections (the “Department of Revenue”) of the City, acting pursuant to the requirements of the Home Rule
Charter and the School Code as the School Tax Collector for the School District. The School District, pursuant to the Resolution,
has irrevocably directed the Department of Revenue to make the required total deposits from School District tax revenues directly
to the Sinking Fund. With respect to each of the School District’s outstanding series of fixed rate General Obligation Bonds, the
School District, in each bond resolution, has irrevocably directed the Department of Revenue to make the required total daily
deposits for such bonds from School District tax revenues directly to the appropriate sinking funds. After making such deposits,
the balance of the revenues, if any, is then deposited to the credit of the School District for general operating purposes. The daily
deposit covenant is not considered breached if the revenues collected on a given day are insufficient to cover that day’s required
total daily sinking fund deposit. Such deficiencies are to be made up out of the next days’ receipts and no further deposits are to
be made to the credit of the School District for general operating purposes until the sinking funds are current.

It is possible that the debt service requirement for the Bonds, with the debt service requirements for outstanding fixed
rate and variable rate general obligation bonds, if hereafter issued and determined by the School District to have the benefit of the
daily deposit covenant, and additional fixed rate general obligation bonds and variable rate general obligation bonds issued by the
School District in the future may create occasional deficiencies in certain of the sinking funds on certain of the Accumulation
Dates. The Accumulation Dates are also Sinking Fund Deposit Dates. The School District has covenanted in the resolutions for
its fixed rate general obligation bonds, including the Resolution, that if, on any Accumulation Date, the amount on deposit in a
sinking fund is less than the full amount due on the next maturity, redemption or interest payment date, the School District shall
deposit, from any available revenues, the amount of such deficiency in such sinking fund.

The foregoing daily deposit covenants are in addition to, and not in place of the pledge by the School District of its full
faith, credit and taxing power for the budgeting, appropriation and payment of debt service on the Bonds. Certain limitations on
the taxing power of the School District are described in “APPENDIX A - SOURCES OF SCHOOL DISTRICT REVENUE -
Local Tax Revenues.”

The holders of each respective Series of the Bonds will have a claim only to moneys deposited into the sinking fund for
such Series of Bonds and do not have a claim on the sinking fund for any other Series of Bonds. The Act provides that each
sinking fund is subject to a perfected security interest in favor of the holders of the Series of Bonds for which such sinking fund is
established without any requirement for filing or recording.

Direct Payment of State Appropriations to Fiscal Agent

The School Code provides that where a school district fails to pay or to provide for the payment of any principal or
interest or the amount required as a sinking fund deposit on indebtedness of the school district, the Secretary of Education of the
Commonwealth is required to withhold, out of any Commonwealth appropriation due to such school district, and to pay directly
to the sinking fund depository for such bonds an amount equal to the sum of the interest and principal amount maturing or subject
to mandatory sinking fund redemption or the amount required as a sinking fund deposit which is owing by such school district.
The general obligation bonds of the School District are entitled to the benefits of the intercept provisions of the School Code.
Section 633 of the School Code states:

“In all cases where the board of directors of any school district fails to pay or to provide for the payment of
any indebtedness at date of maturity or date of mandatory sinking fund redemption or on any sinking fund
deposit date, or any interest due on such indebtedness on any interest payment date, or on any sinking fund
deposit date in accordance with the schedule under which the bonds were issued, the Secretary of
Education shall notify such board of school directors of its obligations and shall withhold out of any State
appropriation due such school district an amount equal to the sum of the principal amount maturing or
subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption and interest owing by such school district, or such sinking
fund deposit due by such school district, and shall pay over the amount so withheld to the bank or other
person acting as sinking fund depositary for such bond issue.”



The intercept provisions of Section 633 of the School Code will apply to the Sinking Fund Deposit Dates established
by the School District in the Resolution.

The School Code also requires each school district to report to the Secretary of Education of the Commonwealth within
120 days after the close of its fiscal year as part of its annual financial report, the amount of bonds or other indebtedness that
became due during the fiscal year together with amounts paid on such indebtedness. Failure to include such information in the
annual report permits the Secretary of Education of the Commonwealth to withhold any Commonwealth appropriation until such
report is filed.

In the Resolution, the Fiscal Agent, as sinking fund depository, is directed to make demand on the Secretary of
Education of the Commonwealth if there is a deficiency on a Sinking Fund Deposit Date in order to cause the implementation of
the provisions of Section 633 of the School Code in advance of an actual debt service payment date. The declaration of distress
by the Secretary of Education of the Commonwealth does not affect the application of the withholding provisions of Section 633
of the School Code.

All public school subsidies made by the Commonwealth are subject to appropriation by the General Assembly. The
withholding provisions of Section 633 of the School Code are not part of any contract with the holders of the Bonds, and may be
amended or repealed by future legislation. Furthermore, the schedule of installments and payment dates for the basic education
subsidy, which is the largest State appropriation to the School District, is statutorily established and is subject to change by
legislative action. Other Commonwealth appropriations are paid at the discretion of the executive branch. The Commonwealth
has the right, but not the obligation, to pay appropriations in advance of their due dates. Although the Constitution of the
Commonwealth provides that “the General Assembly shall provide for the maintenance and support of a thorough and efficient
system of public education to serve the needs of the Commonwealth,” the General Assembly is not legally obligated to
appropriate such subsidies and there can be no assurance that it will do so in the future. The allocation formula pursuant to which
the Commonwealth distributes such subsidies to the various school districts throughout the Commonwealth may be amended at
any time by the General Assembly. Moreover, the Commonwealth’s ability to make such disbursements will be dependent upon
its own financial condition. At various times in the past, the enactment of budget and appropriation laws by the Commonwealth
has been delayed, resulting in, among other things, the inability of the Treasurer to make direct payments of school district
subsidies pursuant to the intercept provisions described below and increased interim borrowing by school districts pending the
appropriation and payment of state aid. Consequently, there can be no assurance that financial support from the Commonwealth
for school districts, either for capital projects or education programs in general, will continue at present levels or that
appropriations will be available for payments to bondholders if indebtedness of such school district is not paid when due. See
“APPENDIX A — SOURCES OF SCHOOL DISTRICT REVENUE - Commonwealth Subsidies” and “— CERTAIN
FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE SCHOOL DISTRICT — Operating Budget Revenues, Obligations and Changes in Fund
Balances” herein for information concerning current payments made by the Commonwealth.

Certain bonds have been previously issued on behalf of the School District by the SPSBA (the “SPSBA Bonds”). The
Public School Code contains certain debt service intercept provisions applicable to the School District’s debt obligations related
to the SPSBA Bonds and the School District is a party to an intercept agreement relating thereto. In Fiscal Year 2016, due to the
Commonwealth’s Fiscal Year 2016 budget impasse, certain payments of base rental payments required to be paid pursuant to the
Intercept Agreement (as defined herein) were not made and such payments were timely made in full directly by the School
District as required by the sublease and the indenture related to the SPSBA Bonds. For a description of the intercept agreement
(the “Intercept Agreement”) among the SPSBA, the School District and the Treasurer of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania (the
“State Treasurer”) and acknowledged and agreed to by the Pennsylvania Department of Education (“PDE”) and the trustee for the
bonds issued on behalf of the School District by the SPSBA, see “APPENDIX A — SCHOOL DISTRICT DEBT” and —
“SOURCES OF SCHOOL DISTRICT REVENUE — Commonwealth Subsidies.”

Over the last fifteen years, the Commonwealth has experienced a number of budget stalemates which resulted in the
related fiscal year operating budgets being enacted after July 1 of the Commonwealth’s fiscal year as required by law. In certain
cases, the delayed enactments caused a delay in the payment of Commonwealth funds to school districts, including the School
District. On July 13, 2016, the Governor of the Commonwealth signed into law Act No. 85 of 2016, (P.L. 664, No. 85) (“Act 85
of 2016”), an amendment to the Act of April 9, 1929 (P.L. 343, No. 176), known as the Fiscal Code (“Fiscal Code™). Act 85 of
2016 adds to the Fiscal Code Article XVII-E.4, entitled “School District Intercepts for the Payment of Debt Service During
Budget Impasse”, which provides for intercept of subsidy payments by PDE from a school district subject to an intercept statute
or an intercept agreement in the event of a budget impasse in any fiscal year (“Article XVII-E.4”). Section 1701-E.4 of the Fiscal
Code includes in the definition of “intercept statutes” Section 633 of the Public School Code, which applies to the Bonds.
“Intercept agreements” are defined in Section 1701-E.4 as agreements entered into under the authority of an intercept statute.
The School District’s general obligation bonds, including the Bonds, are subject to Section 633 of the Public School Code, and
Section 785 of the Public School Code governs the Intercept Agreement. For additional information concerning the Intercept
Agreement, see “APPENDIX A — SCHOOL DISTRICT DEBT” and — “SOURCES OF SCHOOL DISTRICT REVENUE -
Commonwealth Subsidies.”



Article XVII-E.4 of the Fiscal Code provides that the amounts as may be necessary for PDE to comply with the
provisions of the applicable intercept statute or intercept agreement “shall be appropriated” to PDE from the General Fund of the
Commonwealth after PDE submits justification to the majority and minority chairs of the appropriations committees of the
Pennsylvania Senate and House of Representatives allowing ten (10) calendar days for their review and comment, if, in any fiscal
year: (1) annual appropriations for payment of Commonwealth money to school districts have not been enacted by July 1 and
continue not to be enacted when a payment is due; (2) the conditions under which PDE is required to comply with an intercept
statute or intercept agreement have occurred, thereby requiring PDE to withhold payments which would otherwise be due to
school districts; and (3) the Secretary of PDE, in consultation with the Secretary of the Budget, determines that there are no
payments or allocations due to be paid to the applicable school districts from which PDE may withhold money as required by the
applicable intercept statute or intercept agreement.

The necessary amounts shall be appropriated on the expiration of the tenth (10th) day following submission of the
justification described above to the majority and minority chairs of the appropriations committees, who may comment on the
justification but cannot prevent the effectiveness of the appropriation.

The School District has not been advised as to whether PDE will submit a justification covering all school districts at
the beginning of a budget impasse on July 1 of a fiscal year or on a case by case basis. The School District will include in its
fiscal agent agreements which govern its general obligation bonds, including the Bonds, and which require the Section 633
intercept to be triggered if insufficient funds are in a sinking fund fifteen (15) days before a debt service payment date provisions
requiring notice to be given to PDE that the justification required by Article XVII-E.4 must be submitted to the appropriation
committee chairs immediately (if it has not already been submitted) so that the steps necessary for the intercept payment to be
made by the applicable debt service payment date can be implemented in sufficient time.

The total of all intercept payments under Article XVII-E.4 for a school district may not exceed 50% of the total non-
federal general fund subsidy payments made to that school district in the prior fiscal year. Any payments pursuant to Article
XVII-E 4 are also limited to available cash balances in the General Fund of the Commonwealth.

Section 1703-E.4 requires that each school district subject to an intercept statute or intercept agreement must deliver to
PDE, in such format as PDE may direct, a copy of the final Official Statement for the relevant bonds or notes or the loan
documents relating to the obligations, within thirty (30) days of receipt of the proceeds of the obligations. As required by PDE
and in PDE’s required format, the School District will file schedules of principal and interest payments for all series of
obligations outstanding, including sinking fund deposit dates or intercept payment dates, as applicable, and scheduled debt
service payment dates for each series, including the Bonds. The School District will also file a hard copy of this Official
Statement.

Section 1703-E.4 provides that any obligation for which PDE does not receive the required documents shall not be
subject to the applicable intercept statute or intercept agreement.

The provisions of Article XVII-E.4 are not part of any contract with the holders of the Bonds and may be amended or
repealed by future legislation.

Statutory Remedies

The Act provides that if principal or interest on bonds issued pursuant to the Act is not paid when due and such failure
continues for 30 days, the holder of such bonds, subject to any prior rights of holders of tax and revenue anticipation notes and
the right of the court to require the deposit of moneys in any sinking fund by writ of mandamus, shall have the right to recover
the amount due in an action brought in the court of common pleas and any such judgment shall have an appropriate priority upon
moneys next coming into the treasury of the issuer and may be a judgment upon which funding bonds may be issued.

The Act further provides that in the event of such default and its continuance for 30 days, the holders of 25 percent in
aggregate principal amount of the bonds may appoint a trustee to represent their interests. The trustee is entitled, by mandamus
or other suit, to enforce the rights of the holders of the bonds and require the issuer to carry out agreements with holders of the
bonds, bring suit on the bonds, petition the court of common pleas to levy, after a hearing upon notice to the owners of assessable
real estate, the amount due before or after the exercise of any right to acceleration, upon all taxable real estate and other property
subject to ad valorem taxation in the jurisdiction of the issuer in proportion to the value thereof as assessed for tax purposes.
Such assessments may be collected as by foreclosure of a mortgage or security interest on the realty or other property if not paid
on demand. In addition, such trustee may by suit in equity seek to enjoin any acts or things which may be unlawful or in violation
of the rights of the holders of such bonds, and, upon thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the School District, subject to any
limitation in the Resolution, may declare the unpaid principal amount of such bonds due and payable.



Limitation of Remedies

The rights and remedies of holders of the Bonds are subject to the provisions of Chapter 9 of the Federal Bankruptcy
Code (the “United States Bankruptcy Code”). In general, Chapter 9 permits, under prescribed circumstances, a political
subdivision of a state to commence a voluntary bankruptcy proceeding and to file a plan of adjustment in the repayment of its
debts, if such political subdivision is generally not paying its debts as they become due (unless such debts are the subject of a
bona fide dispute), or is unable to pay its debts as they become due. Under the United States Bankruptcy Code, an involuntary
petition cannot be filed against a political subdivision.

In order to proceed under Chapter 9, state law must authorize the political subdivision to file a petition under the United
States Bankruptcy Code. Pennsylvania law prohibits the School District from filing such a petition unless the petition has first
been submitted to, and its filing, together with the plan for adjustment of debts, has been approved in writing by DCED. DCED is
required to investigate the financial condition of the School District in order to determine whether the presentation of the petition
is justified or represents an unjust attempt to evade payment of some of the petitioner’s contractual obligations before approving
the petition and plan. DCED has the right to require modification of any proposed plan before granting approval of a petition.

The filing of such a petition in bankruptcy operates as an automatic stay of the commencement or the continuation of
any judicial or other proceeding against the petitioner, its property or any officer or inhabitant thereof. The petitioner must file a
plan for adjustment of the debts, which may include provisions modifying or altering the rights of creditors generally, or any
class of them, secured or unsecured. The United States Bankruptcy Code establishes procedures for confirmation of such a plan,
and, under certain circumstances, allows confirmation of a plan over the objection of one or more classes of creditors.

The foregoing references to the United States Bankruptcy Code are informational only, and are not to be construed as
any indication that the School District expects to request permission from DCED to resort to the provisions of the United States
Bankruptcy Code or that if it did, permission would be granted by DCED, or that any proposed plan of adjustment would include
a dilution of the sources of payment and security for the Bonds.

PLAN OF FINANCE

Purpose of the Bonds

The proceeds of the Series A Bonds are being used by the School District to pay: (i) the costs of certain capital projects
to be undertaken by the School District; and (ii) the costs of issuance of the Series A Bonds.

The proceeds of the Series B Bonds (sometimes referred to herein as the “2021 Green Bonds”™) are being used by the
School District to pay: (i) the costs of certain Green Projects; and (ii) the costs of issuance of the Series B Bonds. See “Green
Bonds — Use of Proceeds” below.

Green Bonds

Use of Proceeds. The 2021 Green Bonds will finance various capital projects that are designed to be environmentally
beneficial (referred to herein as “Green Projects”™).

Proceeds of the 2021 Green Bonds are expected to be used to fund certain Green Projects for energy efficiency and
conservation purposes in certain School District buildings. These Green Projects are designed to reduce energy costs in existing
School District buildings and reduce the School District’s environmental footprint. The Board has approved the engagement of
Johnson Controls International PLC (“JCI”) for an approximately ten-year term to provide design, construction and energy
conservation and savings analysis (collectively, “ESCO Services”) for all Green Projects designated under GESA-1 (defined
below), a portion of which will be financed with proceeds of the 2021 Green Bonds. The remaining Green Projects which the
School District currently anticipates completing as a part of GESA-1 are set forth in APPENDIX G hereto.

Project Evaluation and Selection Process. The School District previously undertook a guaranteed energy saving
agreement (“GESA”) pilot program (the “Pilot GESA”) at three high schools. The Pilot GESA was completed in calendar year
2019, and included approximately $22.4 million of capital upgrades including LED lighting and window, boiler, unit vent and
control improvements. The Pilot GESA is not being financed by the 2021 Green Bonds.

In 2019, The School District prepared a six-year plan to identify and implement Green Projects at several School
District buildings. Such identified Green Projects, as amended by the School District from time to time, are referred to as
“GESA-1,” and fall under the School District’s overall GESA program. In 2019, the School District secured $30 million in
proceeds from its issuance of general obligation green bonds to fund certain of the GESA-1 Green Projects.



The School District expects to expend an additional $60 million from the proceeds of the 2021 Green Bonds to finance
additional GESA-1 Green Projects, as set forth in APPENDIX G. The particular schools (or other buildings) at which Green
Projects will be undertaken and the particular Green Project components that will be financed with proceeds of the 2021 Green
Bonds are subject to change due to timing and other considerations related to the School District’s capital improvement plans and
conditions in the construction and construction materials markets. Any changes in the selection of particular Green Projects to be
financed with proceeds of the 2021 Green Bonds beyond the seven schools set forth in APPENDIX G will be described within
the School District’s post-issuance reporting described below.

Management of Bond Proceeds. The proceeds of the Green Bonds will be deposited into a segregated account, and
expenditure of such proceeds will be tracked by the School District.

Post-Issuance Reporting. Contracts entered into with JCI or any other vendor to perform ESCO Services will require
JCI and any other vendor to provide industry standard annual reports on the performance of the Green Projects which the School
District will make publicly available by posting such reports on the School District’s website.

SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS

Series A Bonds Series B Bonds Total

Sources of Funds

Principal Amount of the Bonds $266,980,000.00 $49,860,000.00 $316,840,000.00
Original Issue Premium 49,624,147.70 10,402.376.20 60.026.523.90
Total $316,604,147.70 $60,262,376.20 $376,866,523.90
Uses of Funds

Deposit for 2021 A Project Fund $315,000,000.00 - $315,000,000.00
Deposit for 2021B Green Project Fund - $60,000,000.00  $60,000,000.00
Costs of Issuance' 1,604,147.70 262,376.20 1,866,523.90
Total $316,604,147.70 $60,262,376.20 $376,866,523.90

T Includes legal fees and expenses, underwriters’ discount, financial advisory fees, Fiscal Agent’s fees, rating agency fees,
printing and miscellaneous fees and expenses.

Additional Financing

The School District has other outstanding debt and may, from time to time, issue additional debt to finance certain
projects or to refund certain outstanding debt of the School District. For additional information concerning the School District’s
outstanding debt, see “SCHOOL DISTRICT DEBT” in APPENDIX A attached hereto.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



SCHOOL DISTRICT DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS

The table below sets forth total debt service on the Bonds when issued, and the table on the following page shows the School District’s
outstanding general obligation bonds and lease rental debt, in each case for the fiscal years ending June 30, 2022, and thereafter:

Debt Service on the Bonds

Series A Bonds Series B Bonds

Fiscal Total Total

Year Principal Interest Debt Service Principal Interest Debt Service Total
2022 - $3,742,733 $3,742,733 - $810,225 $ 810,225 $ 4,552,958
2023 $2,815,000 11,445,725 14,260,725 $3,940,000 2,394,500 6,334,500 20,595,225
2024 2,960,000 11,301,350 14,261,350 4,140,000 2,192,500 6,332,500 20,593,850
2025 3,110,000 11,149,600 14,259,600 4,355,000 1,980,125 6,335,125 20,594,725
2026 3,265,000 10,990,225 14,255,225 4,580,000 1,756,750 6,336,750 20,591,975
2027 3,435,000 10,822,725 14,257,725 4,815,000 1,521,875 6,336,875 20,594,600
2028 3,615,000 10,646,475 14,261,475 5,060,000 1,275,000 6,335,000 20,596,475
2029 3,795,000 10,461,225 14,256,225 5,320,000 1,015,500 6,335,500 20,591,725
2030 3,995,000 10,266,475 14,261,475 5,590,000 742,750 6,332,750 20,594,225
2031 4,195,000 10,061,725 14,256,725 5,880,000 456,000 6,336,000 20,592,725
2032 4,415,000 9,846,475 14,261,475 6,180,000 154,500 6,334,500 20,595,975
2033 11,135,000 9,457,725 20,592,725 20,592,725
2034 11,705,000 8,886,725 20,591,725 20,591,725
2035 12,310,000 8,286,350 20,596,350 20,596,350
2036 12,940,000 7,655,100 20,595,100 20,595,100
2037 13,535,000 7,060,900 20,595,900 20,595,900
2038 14,085,000 6,508,500 20,593,500 20,593,500
2039 14,660,000 5,933,600 20,593,600 20,593,600
2040 15,260,000 5,335,200 20,595,200 20,595,200
2041 15,880,000 4,712,400 20,592,400 20,592,400
2042 16,530,000 4,064,200 20,594,200 20,594,200
2043 17,205,000 3,389,500 20,594,500 20,594,500
2044 17,905,000 2,687,300 20,592,300 20,592,300
2045 18,640,000 1,956,400 20,596,400 20,596,400
2046 19,400,000 1,195,600 20,595,600 20,595,600
2047 20,190,000 403,800 20,593,800 20,593,800
TOTAL $266,980,000 $188,268,033 $455,248,033 $49,860,000 $14,299,725 $64,159,725  $519,407,758



Total School District Debt Service

Total
Total Other General Other General Other General Total Total Total
Fiscal Debt Service on the Obligation Debt Obligation Debt Obligation Debt General Obligation Lease Revenue School District
Year Series 2021 Bonds Principal Interest Service) Debt Service Debt Service® Debt Service @
2022 $4,552,958 $144,455,667 $107,978,329 $252,433,996 $256,986,953 $68,121,111 $325,108,065
2023 20,595,225 136,415,667 101,508,994 237,924,660 258,519,885 68,076,014 326,595,899
2024 20,593,850 119,380,000 95,749,047 215,129,047 235,722,897 89,664,954 325,387,851
2025 20,594,725 115,945,000 90,343,845 206,288,845 226,883,570 90,508,487 317,392,057
2026 20,591,975 121,810,000 84,865,152 206,675,152 227,267,127 89,838,275 317,105,401
2027 20,594,600 115,475,000 79,766,175 195,241,175 215,835,775 99,297,177 315,132,951
2028 20,596,475 115,520,000 73,570,099 189,090,099 209,686,574 104,141,987 313,828,561
2029 20,591,725 116,604,750 68,213,620 184,818,370 205,410,095 104,796,369 310,206,464
2030 20,594,225 120,326,089 62,926,666 183,252,755 203,846,980 96,874,760 300,721,741
2031 20,592,725 99,036,089 53,983,545 153,019,634 173,612,359 122,118,790 295,731,150
2032 20,595,975 62,151,089 46,208,472 108,359,561 128,955,536 155,881,075 284,836,611
2033 20,592,725 64,741,089 43,386,096 108,127,186 128,719,911 134,485,500 263,205,411
2034 20,591,725 136,256,089 39,815,242 176,071,331 196,663,056 18,252,750 214,915,806
2035 20,596,350 70,276,089 33,875,055 104,151,144 124,747,494 18,257,000 143,004,494
2036 20,595,100 73,151,089 30,719,057 103,870,147 124,465,247 14,831,250 139,296,497
2037 20,595,900 72,286,089 27,611,134 99,897,223 120,493,123 - 120,493,123
2038 20,593,500 75,141,089 24,453,519 99,594,608 120,188,108 - 120,188,108
2039 20,593,600 75,501,089 21,215,133 96,716,222 117,309,822 - 117,309,822
2040 20,595,200 61,706,089 18,323,323 80,029,413 100,624,613 - 100,624,613
2041 20,592,400 50,476,089 15,750,472 66,226,561 86,818,961 - 86,818,961
2042 20,594,200 52,331,089 13,896,497 66,227,586 86,821,786 - 86,821,786
2043 20,594,500 54,276,089 8,226,199 62,502,288 83,096,788 - 83,096,788
2044 20,592,300 45,950,000 2,460,425 48,410,425 69,002,725 - 69,002,725
2045 20,596,400 30,315,000 707,875 31,022,875 51,619,275 - 51,619,275
2046 20,595,600 - - - 20,595,600 - 20,595,600
2047 20,593,800 - - - 20,593,800 - 20,593,800
Total®: $519,407,758 $2,129,526,333 $1,145,553,967 $3,275,080,301 $3,794,488,058 $1,275,145,499 $5,069,633,558

M Includes gross debt service on the Build America Bonds Series B of 2010, Qualified School Construction Bonds Series A Bonds of 2011 and Qualified School Construction Bonds Series E of 2016. Other
General Obligation Debt Service reflects Mandatory Sinking Fund Installments due on Qualified School Construction Bonds Series A Bonds of 2011 and Qualified School Construction Bonds Series E of 2016.
@ Totals may not add due to rounding.



NO LITIGATION AFFECTING THE BONDS

Upon the respective deliveries of the Bonds, the Office of the General Counsel to the School District shall furnish an
opinion, in form satisfactory to Bond Counsel and the Underwriters, to the effect that, among other things, except as disclosed in
this Official Statement, there is no litigation or other legal proceeding pending, or to the best of its knowledge, threatened, to
restrain or enjoin the issuance or delivery of such Bonds or challenging the validity of the proceedings of the School District
taken in connection therewith or the covenant of the School District with respect to the payment of the Bonds, or contesting the
powers of the School District with respect to any of the foregoing.

See “APPENDIX A - LEGAL PROCEEDINGS” herein for a summary of certain legal proceedings affecting the
School District.

FINANCIAL ADVISOR

In connection with the authorization and issuance of the Bonds, the School District has retained Phoenix Capital
Partners LLP, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, an independent registered municipal advisor, as its financial advisor (the “Financial
Advisor”). The Financial Advisor is not obligated to undertake, and has not undertaken, either to make an independent
verification of or to assume responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or fairness of the information contained in this Official
Statement and the appendices hereto. The Financial Advisor is a registered municipal advisor and an independent financial
advisory firm and is not engaged in the business of underwriting, trading, or distributing municipal securities or other securities.

UNDERWRITING

Siebert Williams Shank & Co., LLC is acting as the representative for the Underwriters shown on the cover page of this
Official Statement.

The Underwriters have agreed to purchase the Series A Bonds from the School District, subject to the terms of the bond
purchase contract between the School District and the Underwriters dated October 7, 2021 (the “Bond Purchase Contract”), at a
purchase price of $315,524,286.58 (which is equal to the par amount of $266,980,000.00, plus original issue premium of
$49,624,147.70, and less the Underwriters’ discount of $1,079,861.12).

The Underwriters have agreed to purchase the Series B Bonds from the School District, subject to the terms of the
Bond Purchase Contract, at a purchase price of $60,102,061.09 (which is equal to the par amount of $49,860,000.00, plus
original issue premium of $10,402,376.20, and less the Underwriters’ discount of $160,315.11).

The Underwriters will be obligated to purchase all the Series A Bonds and Series B Bonds if any such Bonds are
purchased. The Underwriters will be separately obligated to purchase all of the Bonds if any such Bonds are purchased.

The Underwriters may offer and sell the Bonds to certain dealers and others (including sales for deposit into investment
trusts, certain of which may be sponsored or managed by one or more of the Underwriters) at prices lower than the public
offering prices stated on the inside cover page hereof.

The Underwriters have provided the following three paragraphs for inclusion in this Official Statement.

The Underwriters and their respective affiliates are full service financial institutions engaged in various activities,
which may include securities trading, commercial and investment banking, financial advisory, investment management, principal
investment, hedging, financing and brokerage services. Certain of the Underwriters and their respective affiliates have, from time
to time, performed, and may in the future perform, various investment banking services for the School District, for which it
received or will receive customary fees and expenses.

In the ordinary course of their various business activities, the Underwriters and their respective affiliates may make or
hold a broad array of investments and actively trade debt and equity securities (or related derivative securities, which may include
credit default swaps) and financial instruments (including bank loans) for its own account and for the accounts of its customers
and may at any time hold long and short positions in such securities and instruments. Such investment and securities activities
may involve securities and instruments of the School District.

The Underwriters and their respective affiliates may also communicate independent investment recommendations,
market color or trading ideas and/or publish or express independent research views in respect of such assets, securities or
instruments and may at any time hold, or recommend to clients that they should acquire, long and/or short positions in such
assets, securities and instruments.



BofA Securities, Inc., an underwriter of the Bonds, has entered into a distribution agreement with its affiliate Merrill
Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated (“MLPF&S”). As part of this arrangement, BofA Securities, Inc. may distribute
securities to MLPF&S, which may in turn distribute such securities to investors through the financial advisor network of
MLPF&S. As part of this arrangement, BofA Securities, Inc. may compensate MLPF&S as a dealer for their selling efforts with
respect to the Bonds.

PNC Capital Markets LLC, an underwriter for the Bonds, may offer to sell to its affiliate, PNC Investments LLC,
securities in PNC Capital Markets LLC’s inventory for resale to PNC Investments’ customers, including securities such as the
Bonds. PNC Capital Markets LLC may share with PNC Investments LLC a portion of the fee or commission paid to PNC Capital
Markets LLC if any Bonds are sold to customers of PNC Investments LLC.

The preceding two paragraphs have been furnished by BofA Securities, Inc. and PNC Capital Markets, LLC for
inclusion in this section of the Official Statement. The School District has not requested or been furnished with any documents
relating to the distribution arrangements described above (collectively, the “Distribution Agreements”) and has not entered into
any agreement or arrangement with any of the parties who are entering into any of the Distribution Agreements with respect to
the offering and sale of the Bonds (other than the Bond Purchase Contract).

RATINGS

Moody’s and Fitch have assigned their respective municipal bond ratings of “A2” (with a Stable outlook) and “A+”
(with a Stable outlook) to the Bonds, based on intercept provisions of the School Code.

Moody’s has assigned the Bonds an underlying rating, without regard to the intercept provision of the School Code of
“Baa3” (with a Stable outlook). Fitch has also assigned its underlying rating with respect to the School District’s general
obligation bonds, including the Bonds, without regard to the intercept provisions of the School Code, of “BB+” (with a Stable
outlook). See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS” herein.

No application has been made to any other ratings service for a rating on the Bonds. The School District furnished to
Moody’s and Fitch certain materials and information in addition to that provided herein. Generally, rating agencies base their
ratings on such information and materials, and on investigations, studies and assumptions. Any explanation of the significance of
each of such ratings may only be obtained from the rating agency furnishing the rating. There is no assurance that any rating will
be maintained for any given period of time or that it may not be raised, lowered or withdrawn entirely, if in the rating agency’s
judgment circumstances so warrant. Any downward change in or withdrawal of such ratings, or any of them, may have an
adverse effect on the price at which the Bonds may be resold.

Any ratings assigned represent only the views of the respective rating agency. Further information is available upon
request from:

Moody’s Investors Service  Fitch Ratings, Inc.

7 Trade Center at 250 One State Street Plaza
Greenwich Street New York, NY 10004
New York, NY 10007 (212) 908-0500

(212) 553-0377

Neither the School District nor the Underwriters have assumed any responsibility to maintain any particular
rating on the Bonds. The School District has agreed to report actual rating changes on the Bonds. See “APPENDIX E — FORM
OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT.”

TAX MATTERS
Federal Exclusion of Interest from Gross Income

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, under existing statutes, regulations, rulings and court decisions, interest on the Bonds,
including interest in the form of original issue discount, will not be includible in the gross income of the holders thereof for
federal income tax purposes, assuming continuing compliance by the School District with the requirements of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”™).



In rendering its opinion, Bond Counsel has assumed compliance by the School District with its covenants contained in
the Resolution and the Tax Compliance Certificate executed and delivered in connection with the issuance of the Bonds, that are
intended to comply with the provisions of the Code relating to actions to be taken by the School District in respect of the Bonds
after issuance thereof to the extent necessary to effect or maintain the exclusion from federal gross income of the interest on the
Bonds. These covenants relate to, inter alia, the use of and investment of proceeds of the Bonds and the rebate to the United
States Treasury of specified arbitrage earnings, if any. Failure to comply with such covenants could result in interest on the
Bonds becoming includible in gross income for federal income tax purposes from the date of issuance of the Bonds.

Other Federal Tax Matters

Ownership or disposition of the Bonds may result in other federal tax consequences to certain taxpayers, including,
without limitation, certain S corporations, foreign corporations with branches in the United States, property and casualty
insurance companies, taxpayers who have an initial basis in the Bonds greater or less than the principal amount thereof,
individual recipients of Social Security or Railroad Retirement benefits, and taxpayers, including banks, thrift institutions and
other financial institutions subject to Section 265 of the Code, who may be deemed to have incurred or continued indebtedness to
purchase or to carry the Bonds.

Bond Counsel is not rendering any opinion as to any federal tax matters other than those described under the
sub-caption “Federal Exclusion of Interest from Gross Income” and expressly stated in the form of the opinion of Bond
Counsel included as APPENDIX D hereto. Prospective purchasers of the Bonds should consult their independent tax
advisors with regard to all federal tax matters.

Pennsylvania

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, under the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania as presently enacted and
construed, interest on the Bonds is exempt from Pennsylvania personal income tax and Pennsylvania corporate net income tax
and the Bonds are exempt from personal property taxes in Pennsylvania; however, under the laws of the Commonwealth, as
enacted and construed on the date hereof, any profits, gains or income derived from the sale, exchange or other disposition of the
Bonds will be subject to Pennsylvania taxes and local taxes within the Commonwealth.

Other

The Bonds and interest thereon may be subject to state and local taxes in jurisdictions other than the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania under applicable state or local tax laws.

Bond Counsel is not rendering any opinion on state tax matters other than those described under the caption
“Pennsylvania” and expressly stated in the form of the Bond Counsel opinion included in APPENDIX D hereto.

Prospective purchasers of the Bonds should consult their independent tax advisors with regard to all state and
local tax matters.

LEGAL MATTERS

Certain legal matters incident to the authorization, issuance and sale of the Bonds are subject to the approval of the
legality of issuance of the Bonds by Eckert Seamans Cherin & Mellott, LLC of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, Bond Counsel. The
form of opinion of Bond Counsel expected to be delivered at the time of issuance of the respective Bonds is attached hereto as
APPENDIX D. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the School District by the Office of the General Counsel to the
School District and for the Underwriters by Ahmad Zaffarese, LLC of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS

Eckert Seamans Cherin & Mellott, LLC, Bond Counsel, represents the School District in matters unrelated to the
issuance of the Bonds, and from time to time represents certain of the Underwriters in matters unrelated to the School District and
the Bonds.

From time to time, Ahmad Zaffarese LLC, Counsel to the Underwriters, represents the School District in matters
unrelated to the issuance of the Bonds.



CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
Continuing Disclosure Undertakings

In order to assist the Underwriters in complying with the requirements of Rule 15¢2-12, as amended (“Rule 15¢2-12”),
promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the School District will enter into the Continuing
Disclosure Agreement in substantially the form of APPENDIX E to this Official Statement, which should be read in its entirety.

The School District has previously entered into various continuing disclosure agreements relating to its general
obligation bonds and to bonds issued on its behalf by the SPSBA. For continuing disclosure agreements entered into by the
School District prior to 2006 (the “Pre-2006 Continuing Disclosure Agreements”), the School District is required to provide its
annual financial information within 180 days of the close of each fiscal year of the School District. The School District has two
existing Pre-2006 Continuing Disclosure Agreements. For the fiscal years ending June 30, 2007 through June 30, 2020, the
annual financial information required to be posted within 180 days was not posted with the applicable repository or EMMA by
the date required (although such annual financial information was subsequently posted) due to delays in the completion of the
audited financial statements and the issuance of the City Controller’s audit report on the School District’s annual financial
statements. For Fiscal Years 2015, 2016, 2018, 2019, and 2020, the School District’s unaudited financial statements were posted
on EMMA within 180 days of the close of each fiscal year. The School District’s Annual Financial Information (including its
audited financial statements) for each of Fiscal Years 2014 through 2017 was posted on EMMA within 240 days of the close of
the fiscal year, except as otherwise described herein. The School District’s Annual Financial Information for Fiscal Year 2018
was not posted on EMMA in its entirety until the School District posted its Comprehensive Annual Financial Report on March
26, 2019, which was more than 240 days after the end of Fiscal Year 2018.

All of the School District’s other continuing disclosure agreements (the “2006 and Later Continuing Disclosure
Agreements”) relating to its general obligation bonds, and bonds issued by the SPSBA for the benefit of the School District,
including the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, require the School District to file its annual financial information with EMMA
within 240 days of the close of each fiscal year of the School District. In the past five years, the School District has filed its
annual financial information in a timely manner pursuant to the 2006 and Later Continuing Disclosure Agreements, except as
otherwise described herein, including: (i) as described in the preceding paragraph with respect to the late filing of certain Annual
Financial Information for Fiscal Year 2018 and (ii) that the annual financial information for Fiscal Year 2014 was timely filed but
mislabeled as being for Fiscal Year 2015 and was indexed under “Other Financial Information.” This filing has been refiled
under the correct indexing and relabeled.

In its filing for Fiscal Year 2017, certain information relating to “Local Tax Revenues Subject to Daily Deposit
Covenant by Month” required by certain of the continuing disclosure agreements of the School District was omitted from the
School District’s annual financial information. This information has been filed with EMMA.

Under certain of the continuing disclosure agreements of the School District, event notices with respect to certain bond
rating changes related to third-party credit enhancer downgrades, the state intercept program and other ratings (including
underlying ratings of the School District) were not filed in a timely manner. Certain event filings and annual financial
information were filed timely but were not linked to all relevant CUSIPs. These have been corrected.

The foregoing descriptions of instances of non-compliance by the School District should not be construed as an
acknowledgement by the School District that any such instance was material.

As of the date of this Official Statement, except as noted above, the School District has complied for the past five years
in all material respects with its continuing disclosure agreements. As of May 1, 2019, all of the School District’s continuing
disclosure agreements currently provide for DAC to serve as the School District’s sole Dissemination Agent, as successor the
School’s District previous dissemination agent.

Other Information

Certain information concerning the School District is on file with EMMA. Certain additional information relating to the
School District’s operations and financial affairs is made available from the School District at its website (www.philasd.org).
Information on EMMA and the School District’s website is not incorporated by reference in this Official Statement and
prospective purchasers of Bonds should rely only on the information contained in this Official Statement. Persons wishing to
obtain copies of the School District’s Annual Financial Report, and operating or capital budgets should address such requests to:
Chief Financial Officer, The School District of Philadelphia, Administration Building, 440 North Broad Street, Philadelphia,
Pennsylvania 19130. The School District may charge a fee for costs of reproduction and mailing of any information requested.



Financial Statements
The School District has included its audited financial statements for Fiscal Year 2020 in APPENDIX B.

The School District’s financial statements are audited by the City Controller. The City Controller has not participated in
the preparation of this Official Statement and has not participated in the preparation of any budget estimates or projections of the
School District included in APPENDIX A hereto. Consequently, the City Controller expresses no opinion on any of the data
contained in this Official Statement relating to the School District other than the financial statements included in APPENDIX B
hereto.

MISCELLANEOUS
Negotiable Instruments

The Act provides that obligations issued thereunder which have all the qualities and incidents of securities under
Article 8 of the Uniform Commercial Code of the Commonwealth shall be negotiable instruments.

Certain References

All references to the provisions of the Bonds and the security therefor, the Act, the Resolution, and the Continuing
Disclosure Agreement set forth herein, and all summaries and references to other materials not purported to be quoted in full are
only brief outlines of certain provisions thereof and do not constitute complete statements of such documents or provisions.
Reference is made hereby to the complete documents relating to such matters for the complete terms and provisions thereof or for
the information contained therein. A copy of the Resolution is on file at the designated corporate trust office of the Fiscal Agent.
Insofar as any statements are made in this Official Statement involving matters of opinion, whether or not expressly so stated,
they are made merely as such and not as representations of fact.

NEITHER ANY ADVERTISEMENT FOR THE BONDS NOR THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT IS TO BE
CONSTRUED AS CONSTITUTING A CONTRACT WITH PURCHASERS OF THE BONDS.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



The distribution of this Official Statement has been approved by the School District.

THE SCHOOL DISTRICT OF PHILADELPHIA

By:_ /s/ Joyce Wilkerson
Name: Joyce Wilkerson
Title: President, Board of Education
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APPENDIX A

COVID-19

This Appendix A includes historical financial and operating information concerning the
School District of Philadelphia (the “School District” or “District”), including after the outbreak
of the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) pandemic. This historic information should not be read to
predict or estimate future financial or operating outcomes. COVID-19 continues to affect the
operations of the School District. The School District opened schools on August 31, 2021, with
five days per week in-person learning. Philadelphia Virtual Academy was offered as an option for
those families that wanted to continue virtual instruction. Approximately 1,400 students chose the
virtual instruction option.

The School District continues to monitor and assess the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic
and its impact on the School District’s financial position and operations. A full assessment of the
impact on the School District depends, in part, on the impact of COVID-19 on the City and the
Commonwealth and any restrictions which may be imposed to address the continuing COVID-19
pandemic. It is not possible to determine the future impact on the School District’s revenues,
expenditures, reserves, budgets, or financial position. Such impact may depend on future events
and actions by other governmental entities, including the City and the Commonwealth, which may
or may not occur and the timing of which is uncertain.

On May 27, 2021, the School District’s Board of Education (the “Board”) adopted an
amended FY 2021 budget, an amended FY 2021 capital budget, the FY 2022 budget, the FY 2022
capital budget and its capital program for FY 2022 through FY 2027. The School District’s budgets
are available publicly on the School District’s website. As a result of revenue losses and increases
in expenses resulting from COVID-19, the School District incurred a $49.8 million operating
deficit for FY 2020 and estimates that it will incur a $38.4 million operating deficit as set forth in
its amended FY 2021 budget. The FY 2021 budget deficit was eliminated through the use of fund
balance, reductions to planned spending, and reduced reserve levels. The FY 2022 budget is based
upon certain revenue and expenditure assumptions and assumptions regarding the City and
Commonwealth budgets. The Commonwealth budget for FY 2022 was signed on June 30, 2021.
The Commonwealth’s funding for K-12 education for FY 2022 was expected to be at the same
levels as for FY 2021 and is consistent with the assumptions included in the School District’s
adopted FY 2022 budget. However, the Commonwealth’s budget included an additional $65.8
million in basic education subsidies and an additional $8.4 million in special education funding
for the School District. The City adopted its budget on June 24, 2021. See “CERTAIN
FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE SCHOOL DISTRICT.”

Local tax revenues increased by $23.2 million from FY 2020 to FY 2021. Most of the
increase was attributable to real estate tax which increased by $42.6 million. Business use and
occupancy tax increased by $1.9 million. School income tax increased by $2.6 million. COVID-
19 negatively impacted the liquor sales tax which declined by $23.7 million over this same period.
Local tax revenue is expected to increase by $13.6 million in FY 2022. Real estate tax, the
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District’s largest tax revenue source, which generates approximately 65.2 percent of the District’s
local tax revenues, is expected to decrease by $5.6 million in FY 2022. Business use and occupancy
is expected to decrease by $2.7 million. School income tax is expected to decrease by $4.9 million.
Liquor sales tax is expected to rebound during this same period, increasing by $26.5 million. See
“SOURCES OF SCHOOL DISTRICT REVENUE — Local Tax Revenues.” The foregoing
estimates may be negatively impacted by the continuation of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Local non-tax revenues consist of the City grant, the contribution from the Parking
Authority, gaming revenue, and other local non-tax revenue. Local non-tax revenues are expected
to increase in FY 2022 by $5.1 million, or 1.9 percent. This is in contrast to the 1.6 percent increase
in local non-tax revenues from FY 2020 to FY 2021. See “SOURCES OF SCHOOL DISTRICT
REVENUE — Local Non-Tax Revenues.”

The basic education subsidy is the School District’s largest State revenue source, making
up approximately 74 percent of revenues from the Commonwealth in FY 2022. School District
revenues received from the Commonwealth are projected to increase by $2.2 million in FY 2021.
See “SOURCES OF SCHOOL DISTRICT REVENUE — Commonwealth Subsidies.”

In FY 2021, the School District received nearly $196 million in federal funds from the
CARES Act in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. These funds were used for extraordinary
expenses related to school closures and re-opening related to the pandemic, as well as for other
activities necessary to maintain the operation of the School District and the continuity of services
and staff. In FY 2022, the District anticipates $861 million in federal COVID-19 relief funds from
the CARES Act.

As a result of the shutdown, the School District incurred additional expenses in certain
areas, but also saw expense reductions in other areas. See “SCHOOL DISTRICT
EXPENDITURES.”

THE SCHOOL DISTRICT OF PHILADELPHIA

The School District of Philadelphia (“School District” or “District”) is a separate and
independent home rule district of the first class established by the Philadelphia Home Rule Charter
(“Home Rule Charter”). It is the largest school district in the Commonwealth with Fiscal Year
2021 enrollment, of approximately 202,940 students, including approximately 79,401 charter
school students and approximately 2,960 students attending alternative educational programs. The
School District is the eighth largest school district in the nation and employs approximately 19,000
full-time professional and nonprofessional persons with one central administrative office and 16
learning networks.

The boundaries of the School District are coterminous with the boundaries of the City of
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania (“City”). The School District is an agency of the Commonwealth
created to assist in the administration of the General Assembly’s duties under the Pennsylvania
Constitution to “provide for the maintenance and support of a thorough and efficient system of
public education to serve the needs of the Commonwealth.” As an agency of the Commonwealth,
the School District is governed by both the Public School Code of 1949, as amended (“School
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Code”), and the Home Rule Charter, and is subject to the jurisdiction of the Secretary of Education
of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania (“Secretary of Education™).

The School District also serves as the agent for Intermediate Unit No. 26 (“IU”), an entity
established by the Commonwealth to provide programs in and for special education, special
education transportation, non-public school services and other management services. All TU
services are performed by the School District pursuant to contracts between it and the IU. The
School District’s Board also constitutes the Board of Directors of the IU, and the boundaries of
the U are coterminous with those of the School District.

The City was authorized to adopt the Home Rule Charter provisions establishing the School
District as a home rule school district by the First Class City Public Education Home Rule Act,
approved August 9, 1963, P.L. 643 (“Home Rule Act”). The Home Rule Act expressly limits the
powers of the City with respect to the School District by prohibiting the City from, among other
things, assuming the debt of the School District or enacting legislation regulating public education
or its administration, except only with respect to setting maximum tax rates for school purposes as
authorized by the General Assembly of the Commonwealth (“General Assembly”). Thus, the
School District is a distinct legal entity separate and apart from the City. The Home Rule Act and
the Home Rule Charter vest title to all property, real and personal, tangible and intangible, all
easements and all evidences of ownership, in whole or in part, in or to the School District.

The Home Rule Charter requires the Board of the School District to levy taxes annually,
within the limits and upon the subjects authorized by the General Assembly or the Council of the
City of Philadelphia (“City Council”), in amounts sufficient to provide funds for operating
expenses, debt service charges, and for the costs of any other services incidental to the operation
of public schools. See “SOURCES OF SCHOOL DISTRICT REVENUES — Local Tax Revenues”
herein.

The School District’s Fiscal Year is July 1 to June 30, and is identical with those of the
City and the Commonwealth. The term “Fiscal Year” or “FY” when followed by a year, refers to
the Fiscal Year ended June 30 of that year. For example, “Fiscal Year 2020 refers to the Fiscal
Year ending June 30, 2020.

Board of Education

From December 22, 2001 through June 30, 2018, the School District was governed by a
School Reform Commission. Currently, since July 1, 2018, the School District is governed by the
Board.! The Board consists of nine members appointed by the Mayor of the City (“Mayor”) from
a list of persons nominated by an Educational Nominating Panel established according to
provisions set forth in the Home Rule Charter. The Board is responsible for the management and
governance of the School District. Pursuant to the Home Rule Charter: (i) members of the Board
are appointed by the Mayor for four-year terms commencing on May 1% of the year a Mayor’s
term of office began?; (ii) members serve no more than three full terms and the balance of an
unexpired term; (ii1) members serve at the pleasure of the Mayor; and (iv) the Board, the Mayor

' The current members of the Board were appointed by the Mayor and were confirmed by City Council and sworn in
on February 19, 2021.
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and City Council are required to meet publicly at least twice during the school year to discuss the
administration, management, operations, and finances of the School District in order to develop
and adopt their activities for the improvement and benefit of plans to coordinate public education
in the City.

Specific duties of the Board include, among other things, formulation of educational policy,
the adoption of the annual operating budget, the capital budget and a capital program, the
submission of an annual request to the Mayor and City Council for authority to levy certain taxes,
and the incurrence of indebtedness of the School District. The Board is to regularly monitor
proposed changes within the overall budget framework, including, for example, personnel
transactions and contractual commitments. The following sets forth a list and brief biographies of
the current Board members:

Name Title

Joyce Wilkerson President
Julia Danzy Member
Leticia Egea-Hinton Vice President
Mallory Fix Lopez Member
Maria McColgan Member

Lisa Salley Member
Reginald Streater Member
Cecelia Thompson Member
Vacancy Member

Joyce Wilkerson, President. Ms. Wilkerson serves as a senior advisor for community
relations and development at Temple University working to strengthen and expand the university’s
relationship with its North Philadelphia neighbors. A Cleveland native, Ms. Wilkerson started her
career in Philadelphia as an attorney representing public housing tenants with Community Legal
Services of Philadelphia. She went on to spend six years at the Philadelphia Redevelopment
Authority, as legal counsel to the housing division.

In 1992 when John Street became City Council president, Ms. Wilkerson joined his staff.
She continued to work for Mr. Street as his chief of staff when he became Mayor in 2000. Ms.
Wilkerson played a major role in the development and oversight of Mayor Street’s signature
program (the Neighborhood Transformation Initiative), as well as the turnaround of the
Philadelphia Gas Works, and the coordination of work throughout government.

More recently, Ms. Wilkerson served as executive director of the New Orleans
Redevelopment Authority. For two years she led efforts to restore the historic city’s neighborhoods
after Hurricane Katrina. Ms. Wilkerson has served on a number of boards and is currently a
member of the board of directors at the Merchant Fund, Scribe Video Center, Project Home, and
the Committee of Seventy. Ms. Wilkerson earned a Bachelor’s Degree in psychology from the
University of Pennsylvania and a law degree from the University of California, Berkeley.

Julia Danzy, Board Member. Ms. Danzy has an extensive career in Social Services. Ms.
Danzy worked at the Department of Human Services (DHS) as Director of Protective Services and




Operations Director. During her tenure, she started the 24-hour response to child abuse reports;
established the first distinct unit specializing in investigations of sexual abuse; and worked with
advocates to establish an organization that created an integrated process between DHS, police and
medical providers for the investigation and treatment of sexual abuse cases. Ms. Danzy served as
Deputy Secretary for PA Department of Human Services Office of Children, Youth and Families
where she established a state-wide training requirement for all Children Protective Services (CPS)
staff. Ms. Danzy served as Deputy Commissioner for Children Services in the Philadelphia Health
Department where she, in conjunction with the School District, developed a seamless enrollment
process for children receiving early intervention services moving into the public-school system.
Her last position with the City was as Director of Social Services, where she was responsible for
the DHS, Behavioral Health, Office of Supportive Housing, Recreation Department and Prisons.
During this tenure, she coordinated the development of an integrated data system (CARES) for all
of the City’s social service departments. Ms. Danzy has served as board member for the
Philadelphia Housing Authority, Black Administrators in Child Welfare and Carson Valley
Children’s Aid.

Ms. Danzy received her Bachelor of Arts from Howard University, Masters of Social Work
from Columbia University, and Master of Government Administration from University of
Pennsylvania. Ms. Danzy is an ACSW member of the National Association of Social Workers.

Leticia Egea-Hinton, Vice President. Fluent in English and Spanish, Ms. Egea-Hinton has
specialized for 28 years in homeless services, having served as the Director of the Office of
Emergency Shelter and Services and as Deputy Director of the Office of Supportive Housing.
During this time, Ms. Egea-Hinton oversaw the early development of transitional housing and the
transformation of the City’s homeless services. Ms. Egea-Hinton has served as an advisory board
member at the Public Health Management Corporation/Care Clinic and is a member of the
National Association of Social Workers and a board member of Trinity Health/Nazareth Hospital.
Ms. Egea-Hinton is a former Philadelphia public school parent and is currently an adjunct
professor of social welfare at Alvernia College.

Ms. Egea-Hinton was the first in her family to earn a high school degree and to graduate
from college. Ms. Egea-Hinton graduated from Chestnut Hill College with a Bachelor of Science
in Psychology, earned a Master of Arts in Public Administration from Antioch University, and
earned a Master in Social Work from the University of Pennsylvania.

Mallory Fix Lopez, Board Member. Ms. Fix Lopez is an educator and a small business
owner, who is committed to supporting neighborhood schools. She began her career in
Philadelphia schools as a teacher of social studies and English as a second language (“ESL”), and
today she is a full-time faculty member at the Community College of Philadelphia, where she
specializes in ESL. Ms. Fix Lopez has worked to organize job skills training for local immigrant
restaurant workers. Ms. Fix Lopez has been an active member of Neighbors Invested in Child’s
Elementary, supporting G.W. Child’s Elementary, where she plans to send her child in the next
few years.
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Ms. Fix Lopez has lived in Philadelphia for 15 years, after moving here to pursue a
Bachelor’s and then a Master’s degree in Education both at Temple University. During her
graduate work, she studied Teaching English to Speakers of Other Languages and concentrated in
Curriculum, Instruction, and Technology in Education.

Maria McColgan, Board Member. Dr. McColgan’s career has always centered on children
and education. Her experience as a teacher in Philadelphia public schools helped shape her passion
for learning and education. As a child abuse pediatrician, Dr. McColgan has provided medical care
for thousands of vulnerable children, first at St. Christopher’s Hospital for Children where she was
the Medical Director of the Child Protection Program, and now at the CARES Institute and Cooper
Hospital where she serves as Fellowship Director. A graduate of Philadelphia public and parochial
schools and Temple University, Dr. McColgan is the parent of two current charter school students.

Lisa Salley, Board Member. Ms. Salley, a graduate of Philadelphia High School for Girls,
is a metallurgical engineer and senior business executive, who currently advises Arduro on its
intellectual property, product strategy and commercialization. Arduro is a cleantech start-up,
materials science company that develops, manufactures and commercializes recycled carbon
black. Ms. Salley has spent her career in corporate America leading global strategy and operations
in Energy, Specialty Chemicals and Emerging Technologies, which includes officer-level roles at
GE, Underwriters’ Laboratories and the American Petroleum Institute. Additionally, she has
advised advanced stage start-ups. She holds a Bachelor of Science in metallurgical and materials
engineering and a Master of Science in simulation and modeling of manufacturing systems from
Carnegie Mellon University and Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute, respectively. Although her
career has literally taken her all over the world, Ms. Salley has never lost sight of the community
or her desire to create paths that help sustain future generations. She believes that all students must
have an education that prepares them to be global citizens who embrace technology to make a
positive impact on society.

Reginald L. Streater, Board Member. Mr. Streater, who believes that public education is
not only a civil right but also a human right, is a graduate of Germantown High School and has
two children attending a Philadelphia public school. Mr. Streater is an attorney at Berger
Montague, PC., in Philadelphia, practicing in the Employment and Unpaid Wage and Consumer
Protection groups. He previously worked as an attorney at Archer and Greiner, as a Federal Judicial
Honors Clerk for the Honorable Chief Judge Theodore McKee in the Federal Third Circuit Court
of Appeals, and as a Law Clerk/Intern for the Pennsylvania Innocence Project. Mr. Streater holds
a Juris Doctorate (doctoral degree) from Temple University Beasley School of Law and a Bachelor
of Arts Degree in political science and African American studies from Temple University, College
of Liberal Arts. As a member of Alpha Phi Alpha Fraternity, Inc., Rho Chapter, and as an executive
board member to the Barristers’ Association of Philadelphia, Mr. Streater engages in various
community service initiatives. Mr. Streater is also co-counsel to the Temple University Alumni
Association. Mr. Streater’s worldview as a servant-leader has been shaped by the John S. Mbiti
quote: “I am because WE are and, since we are, therefore [ am.”

Cecelia Thompson, Board Member. Ms. Thompson, a Philadelphia native and longtime
special education advocate, is the proud parent of an adult son living with autism who is a recent




graduate of the Philadelphia public school system. Ms. Thompson, a graduate of the Philadelphia
High School for Girls, serves as a Family Interviewer through the University of Pennsylvania
under the Philadelphia System of Care and served as a Community Education Outreach
Coordinator at the Arc of Philadelphia. Ms. Thompson is Chairperson of the Philadelphia Right to
Education Local Task Force and Secretary for the Governor-appointed Special Education
Advisory Panel (SEAP). She participates as a member of the Pennsylvania Department of
Education’s Bureau of Special Education Cyclical Monitoring for Continuous Improvement team,
and is a founding and former member of Parents United for Public Education. Ms. Thompson is a
member of PARENT POWER, an organization for families, a mayoral appointee to the Mayor’s
Commission on People with Disabilities, and a member of the Advisory Committee for the
Philadelphia Autism Project. Ms. Thompson served as one of the first members on the Parent and
Community Advisory Council to the Board of Education, is a member of the Special Education
Coalition of Advocates and participates on the Promise Zone Housing, Health and Wellness, and
Workforce and Economic Opportunity Committees. She is currently pursuing a Master’s Degree
in special education at Grand Canyon University. Ms. Thompson believes that families, schools
and communities must partner to provide children with a holistic education to help them reach
their full potential as productive, innovative, and compassionate leaders in society.

Senior Management and Administration

CEO/Superintendent of Schools. The Superintendent of Schools (“Superintendent”) is the
chief executive officer of the School District and is responsible for the administration and
operation of the public school system and the supervision of all matters subject to the policies and
directions of the Board. The Superintendent identifies goals and develops policies relating to the
operation of the School District, submits such policies to the Board with recommendations for
their adoption, and coordinates the implementation of immediate and long-range strategies to
achieve the objectives of those adopted. The Superintendent is accountable for ensuring fiscal
responsibility and the effective and equitable allocation of all School District resources. The
Superintendent submits reports showing the financial condition of the School District and the
annual School District budget, including periodic updates to the Board. The Superintendent
supervises the work of the School District’s leadership team, which includes the: Chief of Staff,
Chief Academic Support Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Chief
Information Officer, Chief Talent Officer, General Counsel, Chief of Schools, Chief of Research
Evaluation and Accountability, Chief of Communications and External Relations, Chief of
Diversity, Equity & Inclusion, Chief of School Safety, and Chief of Student Support Services. The
Superintendent represents the School District before students and families, the media, government
officials, community organizations and other stakeholders. As provided in the Home Rule Charter
and the School Code, the Superintendent is the Treasurer and Secretary of the Board.

Chief Academic Support Officer. The Chief Academic Support Officer reports directly to
the Superintendent and is responsible for establishing and meeting academic standards, developing
instructional resources, constructing best-in-class educational offerings that address the needs of
all of the District’s students, and providing ongoing learning opportunities for teachers. The Chief
Academic Support Officer manages the following offices within the District: Curriculum and
Instruction, Specialized Services, Multilingual Curriculum and Programs, Career and Technical
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Education, Early Childhood Education, Postsecondary Readiness, Athletics, Arts and Creative
Learning, and Teaching and Learning.

Chief Financial Officer. The Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) determines, defines and
implements procedures and policies for achieving the financial and operational goals, objectives
and priorities of the School District. The CFO develops short and long-range strategic plans for
School District budgets and fiscal stability and evaluates the efficiency and effectiveness of the
School District’s financial and operations activities. The CFO is responsible for the preparation
and implementation of the School District’s operating and categorical budgets and the five-year
plan. The CFO also oversees and directs Accounting Services and Audit Coordination, Financial
Services, and Management and Budget. Together with the Superintendent, the CFO articulates the
School District’s position on a variety of issues to government officials, community groups and
other stakeholders, and confers with representatives of corporations, government agencies, legal
authorities and the public with regard to the School District’s financial services and operations.

Chief Operating Officer. The Chief Operating Officer (“COQO”) reports directly to the
Superintendent. The COO is responsible for establishing policies that promote the culture and
vision of the School District and support the day-to-day operation of Capital Programs,
Environmental Services, Facilities and Maintenance, Food Services, Real Property, and
Transportation. The COO provides ongoing leadership and support to provide safe, comfortable,
welcoming and healthy school facilities that support teaching and learning opportunities while
offering nutritious food and safe and effective transportation to principals, students, teachers,
administrators, district colleagues and the school community.

General Counsel. The General Counsel reports directly to the Board and the
Superintendent. The General Counsel oversees the Office of General Counsel (“OGC”) and is
responsible for providing, in an efficient and timely manner, legal advice and representation on
litigation, civil rights, labor and employment, special education, transactional, and other matters
affecting the School District. OGC is responsible for providing legal services to the
Superintendent, District program offices, the IU, and the Board.

Certain Officials of the School District

The following sets forth a list and brief biographies of certain officials who are part of the
current management structure of the School District:

Name Title

Dr. William R. Hite, Jr. Superintendent of Schools
Dr. Malika Savoy-Brooks Chief of Academic Support
Uri Z. Monson Chief Financial Officer
Reginald B. McNeil 11 Chief Operating Officer
Lynn Rosner Rauch General Counsel

Dr. William R. Hite, Jr., Superintendent of Schools. Dr. Hite was named Superintendent
by the School Reform Commission on June 29, 2012, and assumed his responsibilities as
Superintendent and the Executive Director of the 1.U. the week of September 17, 2012. On
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September 27, 2021, Dr. Hite announced that he has chosen not to renew his contract, which ends
in August 2022. On September 28, 2021, the Board announced that a search for the new
Superintendent will begin immediately with a public engagement process expected to begin in
October 2021 and the formal search expected to begin in November 2021. The Board’s expectation
is to appoint a new Superintendent in the Spring of 2022 and for the appointee to take office in
August 2022, at the end of Dr. Hite’s current contract.

From April 3, 2009, until joining the School District, Dr. Hite was the superintendent of
Prince George’s County Public Schools (“PGCPS”), Maryland’s second largest school system,
and the eighteenth largest in the nation with 135,000 students, 200 schools, and a budget of $1.6
billion. Dr. Hite served as interim superintendent from December 2008, and as the deputy
superintendent from June 2006. Dr. Hite has led major efforts resulting in increased student
achievement, significant improvements in teaching and learning, and school improvement status.
This included work on the Intensive Support and Intervention Schools model that provided
significant support to schools most in need based on student and school performance indicators,
as well as work in partnership with the Institute for Learning at the University of Pittsburgh, which
focused on improving the capacity of teachers and administrators to strengthen the teaching and
learning process. He also oversaw a major reorganization of PGCPS’s regions into zones to reduce
costs and provide greater support to schools, and developed systems that measure central
leadership effectiveness against student and school performance. Before joining PGCPS, Dr. Hite
served as area assistant superintendent for the Cobb County School District in Atlanta, Georgia. In
this role, he supervised 15 high school, middle school and elementary school principals and was
responsible for the instructional program for more than 18,000 students. Dr. Hite has also served
as director of middle school instruction for the Henrico County Public School System in
Richmond, Virginia, and was an urban middle and high school principal.

Dr. Hite holds a Master’s degree in Educational Leadership from the University of
Virginia, and a Bachelor’s degree and Doctorate in Educational Leadership from Virginia Tech
University.

Dr. Malika Savoy-Brooks, Chief of Academic Support. Dr. Brooks was appointed by Dr.
Hite on July 1, 2018, to set the strategic vision and direction for the instructional framework and
pedagogical approach to the District's academic programs and supports. As Chief Academic
Support Officer, Dr. Brooks works to create authentic partnerships between offices and schools
that ensure closer alignment of resources with school needs in order to implement effective
teaching and to create conditions that ensure the systemic improvement of practice over time in
every classroom.

Dr. Brooks’ extensive professional experience includes serving in various roles in the
District, including teacher, teacher coach, principal, and Assistant Superintendent. As Assistant
Superintendent from 2017 until 2018, she led a network of District schools and is credited
with increasing School Progress Report scores. From 2016 to 2017, Dr. Brooks served as Director
of Instructional Resources for the District's network of historically low-performing schools. As
Director of Instructional Resources, she led numerous professional development sessions for
administrators, teachers, and parents on effective teaching and learning practices, curriculum
development, school improvement, and academic achievement. Before rejoining the District in
2016 as Director of Instructional Resources, Dr. Brooks spent three years in the Chester Upland
School District as the Director of Curriculum and Instruction (Pre-K-12). There, she developed
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and led plans to implement research-based instructional practices aligned with Pennsylvania's
Academic and Core Standards.

Dr. Brooks was recently appointed as one of the 11 Middle States Commissioners. She
holds a Master of Science degree in elementary education and educational leadership from St.
Joseph's University. She also holds a Doctorate degree in educational leadership from the
University of Phoenix with a focus on curriculum and instruction. She holds multiple Pennsylvania
certifications including ones in elementary education, supervision and administration of K-12, as
well as a Superintendent’s Letter of Eligibility.

Uri Monson, Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Monson began serving as the Chief Financial
Officer for the School District in February 2016. He brings extensive governmental experience to
this role. From January 2012 until joining the School District, Mr. Monson served as the Chief
Financial Officer for Montgomery County, Pennsylvania where he advised the Commissioners on
County fiscal matters and was responsible for the overall management of County funds, including
formation of the County’s operating and capital budgets, monitoring County spending throughout
the year, producing reports to promote better internal management and public awareness of County
revenues and expenditures, managing the County’s debt portfolio, and overseeing the County’s
Pension Fund. From 2008 to 2012, Mr. Monson served as the Executive Director of the
Pennsylvania Intergovernmental Cooperation Authority for Cities of the First Class (PICA). In this
role, he monitored the City of Philadelphia's budget; reviewed the City's annual $20 billion Five-
Year Financial Plan; and authored reports on the City's financial and economic outlook. Prior
thereto, he also served as PICA’s Director of Budgetary Analysis for two years and PICA’s Deputy
Executive Director from October 2001 until December 2011.

Mr. Monson previously served as Assistant Budget Director for the City of Philadelphia
where his primary responsibilities included analyzing proposed policies for the Finance Director
and the Mayor’s Cabinet. Additionally, Mr. Monson worked for the United States Department of
Education in Washington, D.C. as a Congressional Liaison and as a policy analyst for the Office
of Postsecondary Education. In these roles he proposed initiatives on organizational restructuring
and program development and helped to redesign and facilitate passage of the Higher Education
Reauthorization Act of 1998. Mr. Monson also served as manager of the Javits Graduate
Fellowship Program and co-managed the National Resource Center Program.

Mr. Monson has a Master’s Degree in Public Policy, with a concentration in education
policy, from the Columbia University School of International and Public Affairs. He has a
Bachelor’s Degree in Political Science from Columbia University, as well as a Bachelor’s Degree
in Midrash from the Jewish Theological Seminary of America.

Reginald B. McNeil II, Chief Operating Officer. Mr. McNeil was appointed Chief
Operating Officer for the School District in August 2020. In his capacity, Mr. McNeil is
responsible for the daily activities of the Offices of Facilities, Maintenance, Environmental,
Transportation, Capital Programs and Food Services.

Prior to coming to the School District of Philadelphia, Mr. McNeil led a team of
professionals in the successful execution of a $500 million Capital Program where he committed
90% of the program budget in less than 65% of the allotted time in the Charleston County School
District. An audit conducted by the South Carolina Department of Revenue published on April 19,
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2021, regarding the expenditures of the Charleston County School District (CCSD) Educational
Capital Improvement Tax collected from March 1, 2017, to June 30, 2020, concluded that CCSD
was in full compliance with zero findings.

This is a second career for Mr. McNeil. He previously served as a Naval Officer and retired
after 22 years of honorable service where he managed a portion of the Navy’s infrastructure,
manpower and programs both domestic and abroad. He earned a Bachelor’s degree in Mechanical
Engineering from the University of Memphis and a Master’s degree in Construction Engineering
from the University of Florida as well as a Technical Project Management Certificate at the
Citadel.

Lynn Rosner Rauch, General Counsel. Ms. Rauch joined the School District as General
Counsel in 2017. In this role, she advises the Superintendent and other School District leaders, the
Board, and program offices throughout the District. Ms. Rauch manages the Office of General
Counsel, overseeing the provision of legal services by attorneys in OGC and outside counsel. Her
experience with the District dates back to the mid-1990’s, having since represented the District in
desegregation, constitutional and civil rights, equitable and adequate funding, and environmental
proceedings. Ms. Rauch graduated from Duke University and earned her law degree from the
University of Pennsylvania Law School. Before joining the School District, Ms. Rauch was a
partner at Dilworth Paxson LLP, and Manko, Gold, Katcher & Fox, LLP, representing clients in
complex litigation in federal and state courts, administrative forums, and mediation.

SCHOOL DISTRICT DEBT
Outstanding Debt

As of September 1, 2021, the School District’s outstanding general obligation bond and
lease rental indebtedness was in the principal amount of $2,972,936,333. The School District has
never defaulted in the payment of debt service on any of its bonds, notes, or lease rental
obligations.

Debt Practices

The Local Government Unit Debt Act (the “Debt Act” or the “Act”) which governs all debt
incurrence by the School District, includes requirements that local governmental units, including
the School District, establish serial maturities or sinking fund installments for each bond issue that
achieve, as nearly as practicable, level debt service within an issue or overall level debt service
within a particular classification of debt. For purposes of this requirement, general obligation debt
and lease-rental debt are treated as a single classification.

Tax and Revenue Anticipation Notes

The School District, in 34 of the last 36 fiscal years, has issued tax and revenue anticipation
notes pursuant to the Debt Act to relieve temporary cyclical cash flow deficiencies. Such tax and
revenue anticipation notes are required under the Debt Act to be paid in the fiscal year in which
they are issued and are not considered “debt” for purposes of determining the School District’s
debt limits and borrowing capacity. Due to advances by the Commonwealth of portions of
installments of basic education subsidies payable in Fiscal Year 2001 and Fiscal Year 2002, the



School District did not issue tax and revenue anticipation notes for those fiscal years. On July 9,
2020, the School District issued $533,325,000 of Tax and Revenue Anticipation Notes, Series A
0f2020-2021 (“FY 2021 Notes”). The FY 2021 Notes matured on June 30, 2021.

On July 21, 2021, the School District issued $150.0 million of Tax and Revenue
Anticipation Notes, Series A of 2021-2022 and $150.0 million of Tax and Revenue Anticipation
Notes, Series B 0f 2021-2022 (together, the “FY 2022 Notes”), in direct purchase transactions with
two financial institutions. The School District anticipates that it will issue additional tax and
revenue anticipation notes (i.e., the Series C and Series D Notes) to cover anticipated cash flow
deficits in the combined amount of not to exceed $250.0 million in Fiscal Year 2022. General
Obligation Debt

Fixed Rate. The School District has covenanted to make daily deposits of school tax
revenues collected on behalf of the School District by the Department of Revenue of the City, as
School Tax Collector, to each sinking fund established for each of its outstanding fixed rate general
obligation bond issues (“Daily Deposit Covenant”). As of September 1, 2021, the aggregate
principal amount of fixed rate general obligation debt outstanding, including Qualified Zone
Academy Bonds and Qualified School Construction Bonds described below, was $2,057,051,333.
For information on the School taxes subject to the Daily Deposit Covenant, see “SCHOOL
DISTRICT FINANCIAL PROCEDURES — Tax Collection” herein.

Variable Rate. The School District has from time to time issued a portion of its debt as
variable rate obligations. The School District currently has no outstanding variable rate debt. The
Debt Policy of the School District, originally adopted by the School Reform Commission on
February 18, 2009 (“Debt Policy”), limits the amount of unhedged variable rate debt the School
District may issue and have outstanding to 20% of its total outstanding debt. The Debt Policy, like
all other policies adopted by the School Reform Commission or the Board may be amended at any
time in the sole discretion of the Board, subject to applicable law.

Qualified Zone Academy Bonds. Qualified Zone Academy Bonds (or “QZABs”) are
general obligation bonds and are entitled to the benefit of the Daily Deposit Covenant. The
Commonwealth receives an allocation each year of the amount of QZABs permitted to be issued
within the Commonwealth which it, in turn, grants to local school districts pursuant to an
application process. QZABs may be purchased only by qualified purchasers and provide the
qualified purchasers with a federal tax credit under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended. As of September 1, 2021, the School District has two outstanding issues of general
obligation bonds which are QZABs in the aggregate principal amount of $9,916,333.

Qualified School Construction Bonds. Qualified School Construction Bonds (or
“QSCBs”) are general obligation bonds and are entitled to the benefit of the Daily Deposit
Covenant. The School District issued $147,245,000 of Federally Taxable Direct Subsidy QSCBs
on November 16, 2016, based upon the 2009 QSCB allocation Volume Cap issued by the Secretary
of the Treasury. The aggregate principal amount outstanding on the QSCBs is $291,280,000 as of
September 1, 2021. The School District has no remaining allocation of volume cap for QSCBs.




Lease Rental Debt

The School District has also financed a portion of its Capital Improvement Program
through the incurrence of lease rental debt under the Debt Act. In August of 2003, the School
District incurred $588,140,000 of lease rental debt through the issuance of bonds (the “2003
Bonds”) by the Pennsylvania State Public School Building Authority (the “Authority”). The
sublease agreement securing payment of the 2003 Bonds is an instrument evidencing such lease
rental debt (the “Sublease Agreement”). The School District also entered into an Intercept
Agreement (the “Intercept Agreement”) with the Treasurer of the Commonwealth (“State
Treasurer”), acknowledged by PDE and the Trustee for the 2003 Bonds, in order to provide for
Base Rental Payments (as defined in the Sublease Agreement) due under the Sublease Agreement
to be made directly to the Trustee from Commonwealth appropriations. Payments under the
Intercept Agreement are made directly to the Trustee by the State Treasurer from Commonwealth
appropriations due to the School District.

In December 2006, the School District incurred lease rental debt through the issuance of
bonds (the “2006A Bonds” and the “2006B Bonds” collectively, the “2006 Bonds™), by the
Authority in two series in the aggregate principal amount of $862,695,000. The Sublease
Agreement was amended to continue to secure payment of the 2003 Bonds which were not
refunded and to secure payment of the 2006A Bonds and the 2006B Bonds. The 2006 A Bonds
were issued in the amount of $317,125,000 to finance portions of the School District’s Capital
Improvement Program. The 2006B Bonds were issued in the amount of $545,570,000 to, inter
alia, advance refund a portion of the 2003 Bonds. In connection with the issuance of the 2006A
Bonds and the 2006B Bonds, the Intercept Agreement was amended to provide for payment of
Base Rental Payments to become due under the Sublease Agreement with respect to the 2003
Bonds which were not refunded by the 2006 A Bonds and the 2006B Bonds, as well as Base Rental
Payments to become due under a supplement to the Sublease Agreement for the 2006 A Bonds and
the 2006B Bonds.

In November 2012, the School District incurred lease rental debt through the issuance of
bonds (the “2012 Bonds”), by the Authority in the principal amount of $264,995,000 to finance
the acquisition of a leasehold interest in certain real estate, including the buildings, fixtures,
improvements, furnishings and equipment thereon in order to provide the School District with
funds to pay certain operating expenses of the School District. In connection with the issuance of
the 2012 Bonds, the Sublease was further supplemented to provide for Base Rental Payments with
respect to the 2012 Bonds and the Intercept Agreement amended so that Base Rental Payments to
become due under the Sublease Agreement with respect to the 2012 Bonds are made directly to
the Trustee from Commonwealth appropriations due to the School District.

In 2015, the School District incurred lease rental debt through the issuance of the
Authority’s School Lease Revenue Refunding Bonds (The School District of Philadelphia Project),
Series 2015A (the “2015 SPSBA Bonds”) in the amount of $80,000,000 which constitutes lease
rental debt which refunded a portion of the 2006A Bonds. In connection with the issuance of the
2015 SPSBA Bonds, the Sublease was amended to reflect the Base Rental Payments to become
due under the Sublease with respect to the 2006 Bonds that were not refunded by the 2015 SPSBA
Bonds, as well as the 2015 SPSBA Bonds and the Intercept Agreement was similarly amended so
that it provides for the Base Rental Payments with respect to the 2015 SPSBA Bonds.



In FY 2016, due to the Commonwealth’s FY 2016 budget impasse, certain payments of
lease rentals required to be paid pursuant to the Intercept Agreement were not made to the Trustee
and such payments were made (when required to be made) directly by the School District. See:
“SOURCES OF SCHOOL DISTRICT REVENUE — Commonwealth Operating Budget Impasse”
herein. On November 16, 2016, the School District incurred lease rental debt through the issuance
of the Authority’s School Lease Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2016A (the “2016 Bonds™) in
the aggregate principal amount of $570.0 million to advance and currently refund the then-
outstanding 2006A Bonds and the 2006B Bonds, except for the 2006B Bonds scheduled to mature
on June 1, 2027, and June 1, 2029. In connection with the issuance of the 2016 Bonds, the Sublease
Agreement was amended and supplemented to provide for the payment of Base Rental Payments
to become due under the Sublease Agreement with respect to the 2006B Bonds which were not
refunded by the 2016 Bonds, as well as Base Rental Payments to become due under the Sublease
Agreement for the 2016 Bonds. The Intercept Agreement was further amended so that the Base
Rental Payments to become due under the Sublease Agreement with respect to the 2016 Bonds are
made directly to the Trustee from Commonwealth appropriations due to the School District.

In 2019, the School District incurred lease rental debt through the issuance of the
Authority’s $167,535,000 aggregate principal amount, School Lease Revenue Refunding Bonds
(The School District of Philadelphia Project), Series A of 2019 (Federally Taxable) (the “Series A
Bonds”) and $20,755,000 aggregate principal amount, School Lease Revenue Refunding Bonds
(The School District of Philadelphia Project), Series B of 2019 (Federally Taxable) (The School
District of Philadelphia Project), (the “Series B Bonds” and, together with the Series A Bonds, the
“2019 SPSBA Bonds”) which refunded a portion of the 2012 Bonds. In connection with the
issuance of the 2019 SPSBA Bonds, the Sublease was amended to reflect the Base Rental
Payments to become due under the Sublease with respect to the 2012 Bonds that were not refunded
by the 2019 SPSBA Bonds, as well as the debt service on the 2019 SPSBA Bonds and the Intercept
Agreement was amended so that it provides for the Base Rental Payments with respect to the 2019
SPSBA Bonds, and the un-refunded 2012 Bonds.

As of September 1, 2021, the aggregate principal amount outstanding of lease rental debt
is $915,885,000.

Rating Agency Actions

On December 11, 2015, Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services (“S&P”’) withdrew its ratings
on Pennsylvania school districts and community colleges that are based on Pennsylvania’s State
Aid Intercept Program and on December 22, 2015, Moody’s Investors Service (“Moody’s”)
downgraded the ratings on Pennsylvania School District Enhancement Programs to the underlying
rating of the school district plus one notch, with a floor of B1 and a ceiling of Baal. On August
15, 2016, as a result of the passage of Article XVII-E.4 of the Fiscal Code, Moody’s upgraded the
Pennsylvania School District Enhancement Programs referred to by Moody’s as the “Fiscal Agent
Agreement” or “Pre-default” program to A2 from Baal and revised the outlook to stable from
negative. As aresult, the School District’s outstanding bonds (including bonds issued by the State
Public School Building Authority for the benefit of the School District) (i) have no rating from
S&P (the School District’s bonds do not have an unenhanced underlying rating from S&P), and



(i1) were then assigned an enhanced rating from Moody’s of A2 and a Moody’s underlying rating
of Ba3.

On December 18, 2018, Moody’s upgraded the School District’s unenhanced bond rating
on its general obligation and lease rental debt from Ba2 to Baa3 with a stable outlook. The School
District’s enhanced intercept rating from Moody’s was affirmed at A2. Strengths cited in the
Moody’s report include stable charter school enrollment for the past three years; structural balance
and operating surpluses for the last three years; experienced management that brings control of
finances and detailed management of daily school operations; and the City’s willingness to support
the School District with permanent new dedicated tax revenue and an increased governance link
between the City and the District.

On October 3, 2019, Fitch upgraded the School District’s unenhanced rating to BB+ from
BB- and maintained the outlook as stable. The enhanced intercept rating from Fitch was affirmed
at A+ with a stable outlook. See “Ratings” in the forepart of this Official Statement.

Interest Rate Management Plan

General. The School District is authorized, under amendments to the Debt Act enacted in
September of 2003, to enter into “qualified interest rate management agreements,” which term is
defined as agreements determined in the judgment of the School District to be designed to manage
interest rate risk or interest costs of the School District on any debt which the School District is
authorized to incur under the Debt Act. The School District has, heretofore, entered into various
swaps. The last outstanding basis swap was terminated in January 2020. Such qualified interest
rate management agreements may include swaps, interest rate caps, collars, corridors, ceiling and
floor agreements, forward agreements, float agreements and other similar financing arrangements.
At the present time, the School District has no outstanding swaps.

The Debt Act requires that, prior to entering a qualified interest rate management
agreement, the School District must adopt a written interest rate management plan (“Interest Rate
Management Plan”) prepared or reviewed by an independent financial advisor, which includes: (1)
schedules of all outstanding debt of the School District and all outstanding qualified interest rate
management agreements, including outstanding debt service and estimated and maximum periodic
scheduled payments of all outstanding qualified interest rate management agreements; (ii) a
schedule of all consulting, advisory, brokerage or similar fees paid or payable by the School
District in connection with the qualified interest rate management agreement and of all such fees
and finder’s fees, if any, paid or payable by any other party in connection with qualified interest
rate management agreements; (iii) analyses of the interest rate risk, basis risk, termination risk,
credit risk, market-access risk, and other risks of entering into such agreements and of the net
payments due for all debt outstanding and for all qualified interest rate management agreements;
and (iv) the School District’s plan to monitor interest rate risk, basis risk, termination risk, credit
risk, market-access risk, and other risks. Monitoring requires valuation of the market or
termination value of all outstanding qualified interest rate management agreements.

The Interest Rate Management Plan. The School District adopted its Interest Rate
Management Plan pursuant to a resolution of the School Reform Commission, authorized on
February 2, 2004, and supplemented the Interest Rate Management Plan on March 24, 2004, May
26, 2004, May 25, 2005, October 6, 2005, November 15, 2006, November 21, 2006, April 23,
2008, April 6,2010, January 3, 2011, and September 2, 2011. The Interest Rate Management Plan,




as supplemented, was prepared by the School District’s independent financial advisors within the
meaning of the Debt Act.

The Interest Rate Management Plan states, in pertinent part, that derivatives are appropriate
interest rate management tools that can assist the School District in managing its interest rate risk
or interest cost. If and when properly used, these instruments can increase the School District’s
financial flexibility, provide opportunities for interest rate savings or enhanced investment yields,
and help the School District manage its balance sheet through better matching of assets and
liabilities. Derivatives may not be used for speculative purposes.

The Interest Rate Management Plan also provides that the School District will only utilize
derivatives if it is determined that the proposed transaction will be designed to manage interest
rate risk or interest cost to the School District on any debt that the School District is authorized to
incur, and:

(1) Optimize capital structure including the schedule of debt service payments and/or
fixed versus variable rate allocations;
(1))  Achieve appropriate asset/liability match;
(ii1))  Reduce risk, including:
e Interest rate risk;
e Tax risk; or
e Liquidity renewal risk;
(iv)  Provide greater financial flexibility;
(v) Generate interest rate savings;
(vi)  Enhance investment yields; or
(vil) Manage exposure to changing markets in advance of anticipated bond issuances
(through the use of anticipatory hedging instruments).

The Interest Rate Management Plan further provides that the School District will seek to
maximize the benefits and minimize the risks of derivative instruments by actively managing its
derivative program. The School District engages an independent swap monitoring firm to assist in
the monitoring of market conditions. The independent swap monitor provides monthly reports,
including the Mark to Market (“MTM”) values of any outstanding swaps. Active management
shall include:

(1) Early termination;

(i1) Shortening or lengthening the term;
(ii1))  Sale or purchase of options; or

(iv)  Utilization of basis swaps.

The Interest Rate Management Plan requires monitoring reports that include, among other
things, the valuation of all outstanding qualified interest rate management agreements to be
delivered by the Chief Financial Officer to the Board at least quarterly. The reports must include
the following:

(1) A description of all outstanding qualified interest rate management agreements,
including bond series, type of derivatives, rates paid and received by the School



District, total notional amount, forward start dates, average life of each swap
agreement, remaining term of each derivative, and option terms;

(i1))  Description of all material changes to qualified interest rate management
agreements or new qualified interest rate management agreements entered into by
the School District since the last report;

(iii))  Market value including termination exposure of each of the School District’s
qualified interest rate management agreements;

(iv)  The credit rating of each counterparty and credit enhancer, if any, insuring qualified
interest rate management agreement payments;

(V) Information concerning any default by a counterparty, including, but not limited to,
the financial impact, if any, to the School District;

(vi)  Information concerning any default by the School District to any counterparty, if
applicable;

(vii))  Summary of qualified interest rate management agreements that were terminated
or that have expired and the financial impact therefrom since the last report;

(viii) For a qualified interest rate management agreement entered into to generate debt
service savings, calculation on an annual basis of the actual debt requirements
compared to the projected debt service on the swap transaction at the original time
of execution. The calculation shall include a determination of the cumulative actual
savings (or, if applicable, additional payments made by the School District)
compared to the projected or expected savings at the time the swap was executed,
and

(ix)  The status of any collateral related to any swap transaction including, the type and
amount of collateral, the market value of that collateral and the identity of the
custodian.

The Debt Policy stipulates that the School District will limit the notional amount of its
outstanding swaps to not more than 45.0% of the total outstanding long-term debt.

Security for Qualified Interest Rate Management Agreements. Pursuant to the Debt Act,
periodic scheduled payments due from the School District under a qualified interest rate
management agreement (other than termination payments) are payable on parity with debt service
on the bonds or lease rental debt related to the applicable qualified interest rate management
agreement.

Under the Debt Act, if a school district fails to provide for the payment of periodic
scheduled payments under a qualified interest rate management agreement, the school district shall
notify the Secretary of Education and the Secretary of Education shall notify the Department of
Community and Economic Development. If the Secretary of Education finds that the amount due
and payable by the school district has not been paid, the Secretary of Education shall withhold, out
of any state appropriation due to the school district, an amount equal to the amount due pursuant
to the qualified interest rate management agreement and shall pay over the same so withheld to the
party to whom the amount is due under the qualified interest rate management agreement. This
provision of the Debt Act is applicable with respect to periodic scheduled payments due from the
School District under its qualified interest rate management agreements.



Current Policy. The School District does not presently expect to enter into any further
interest rate management agreements.

Borrowing Capacity
THE SCHOOL DISTRICT OF PHILADELPHIA

Borrowing Base and Debt Limit Calculations
As of September 1, 2021

BORROWING BASE

Gross Revenues: General, Special Revenue
and Debt Service Fund for the fiscal years ended
June 30, 2018, 2019 and 2020
Less: Statutory exclusions
Net Revenues

Borrowing Base (average of net revenues for the fiscal
years ended June 30, 2018, 2019 and 2020)

DEBT LIMIT

Electoral Debt Limit
Electoral Debt Outstanding

Electoral Debt Capacity
Non-Electoral Debt Limit (100% of Borrowing Base)
Non Electoral Debt

Exclusion for Deficit/Term Bond Outstanding
Less: Non-Electoral Debt Outstanding

$2,057,051,333
(__36.280.,000)

Non-Electoral Debt Capacity

Non-Electoral and Lease Rental Debt Limit (200% of Borrowing
Base)
Non-Electoral Debt Outstanding
Lease Rental Debt Outstanding

$2,020,771,333
915.885,000

Less: Non-Electoral Debt and Lease Rental Debt
Outstanding

Non-Electoral and Lease Rental Borrowing Capacity

$10,891,775,579
1.417.957.427
$ 9.473.818.152

$3.157,939.384

No Limit

No Limit

$3.157.939.384

$2.020.771.333
$1.137.168.051

$6,315,878,768

$2.936.656.333

$3.379.222.435



CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM

Capital Budget and Capital Improvement Program. The Capital Improvement Program,
detailing the School District’s capital plan for the ensuing six years, as well as a capital budget
detailing the expenditure requirements of the current fiscal year of the Capital Improvement
Program (CIP), must be adopted by the Board not later than the date of the adoption of the
Proposed Operating Budget and follows the same procedures related to public hearings, as
mandated by the Home Rule Charter. Implementation of the capital budget is contingent upon the
receipt of proceeds of debt obligations of the School District or other funds made available for
capital improvement purposes. On May 27, 2021, the Board adopted the amended FY 2021 CIP
for $2,001 million and approved the FY 2022 Capital Budget. The approved FY 2022 Capital
Budget of $422.6 million includes partial funding for 67 active construction projects, 49 “in-
design” projects including life-cycle replacements such as boiler and chiller replacements, new
HVAC and control replacements, structural and fagade restorations, building envelope, electrical
system upgrades, roof replacements, and 17 active central office projects. The approved CIP
utilizes proceeds of $530 million of debt that the School District incurred in FY 2020, and
anticipates the School District will incur $250 million of debt in FY 2022 and $250 million of debt
in FY 2024.

The School District has continued its ongoing environmental remediation efforts,
particularly, with respect to asbestos remediation and lead paint stabilization. During the FY 2021
School Year, the District was able to accelerate this work while the School District was operating
on a remote learning basis. The review of all capital projects includes a review of environmental
issues and remediation.

Facility Condition Assessments. As part of a two-year operations strategic plan, the Office
of Capital Programs undertook a comprehensive facility condition assessment (FCA) which began
in September 2020 to refresh the data reported in 2017 per the previous assessment of 2015 through
2017. The School District engaged a professional firm (PARSONS) to perform a visual survey and
assessment of 308 educational and athletic facilities with a total area of about 25.7 million square
feet. The FCA effort will be executed over four phases and will be completed in four years
(anticipated completion by February 2024). The first phase was completed in May 2021, and the
second phase is scheduled to start next month. The reports will be serving as the basis to prioritize
future capital projects and to establish priorities in the annual capital budget and six-year capital
improvement program. The FCA accomplished the following goals:

e Updated the central depository of data for critical building systems and their life
expectancy, however maintaining the progress of new capital investments remains an
objective.

e (alculated Facility Condition Index (FCI) Scores for buildings including FCI scores for
individual building systems.

e Prioritized building systems based on need, observed deficiencies, remaining useful life,
and classified each system based on a recommended timeframe for when these systems
should be replaced.



e Determined the School District’s overall outstanding capital expenditure needs which were
estimated at $4.5 billion to correct deficient building conditions and a recommended annual
plan to address deferred maintenance.

o Used data gathered from the FCI scores to develop 3-year capital improvement plans.

Guaranteed Energy Savings Agreements. The District has implemented “Guaranteed
Energy Savings Agreement” (GESA) plan to improve building conditions that support teaching
and learning through investments that reduce energy consumption, reduce utility costs, improve
building quality, and replace critical building systems beyond their useful life. To date, the District
has completed six (6) GESA projects. By the end of FY 2022, seven (7) additional school projects
are scheduled to be completed as part of the GESA program.

SCHOOL DISTRICT FINANCIAL PROCEDURES
Budgetary Process

The Home Rule Charter requires that the School District adopt an operating budget, a
capital budget and a capital improvement program in each fiscal year. The capital budget is
prepared as part of a six-year capital improvement program, of which the first year is the applicable
budget for the current fiscal year. All proposed expenditures included in the Capital Improvement
Program require the Board of Education’s authorization on a project by project basis.

Operating Budget. The operating budget is comprised of the General Fund, the
Intermediate Unit Fund, and the Debt Service Fund. See “CERTAIN FINANCIAL
INFORMATION OF THE SCHOOL DISTRICT - Operating Budget Revenues, Obligations and
Changes in Fund Balances” herein.

In October of each year, the School District begins its preparation of the following year’s
operating budget. From October through May, the budget is developed to project anticipated
revenues and projected expenditures, including both the cost of continued operations and new
programs for the following year. At various stages throughout this time, the District publicly
presents updated current year projections, as well as subsequent and multi-year projections.
Additionally, during this time, the District publishes quarterly reports on the current fiscal year,
which detail comparisons to the Adopted Operating Budget, updated budget projections, cash flow,
and other supporting finance documents.

The Board must observe specific timing requirements outlined in the Home Rule Charter
as follows:

1. At least thirty days prior to the end of the current fiscal year, the budget must be
adopted (no later than May 31st of each year);

2. At least sixty days prior to the to the adoption of the budget, a lump sum budget
must be adopted and submitted to the Mayor and City Council;

3. At least thirty days prior to adoption, public hearings must be held (no later than
April 30th of each year); and
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4. At least thirty days prior to public hearings, notice must be given of hearing dates,
and copies of the Proposed Operating Budget must be made available to all
interested parties (no later than March 31st of each year).

Budgets for Categorical Funds, including federal, state and private grants, the uses of which
are restricted to the pursuit of specific objectives of the legislative act under which funding is
authorized or conditions set forth by the foundation or charitable grantor, are not required to be
submitted for adoption.

A lump sum statement of estimated receipts and expenditures for the current fiscal year
and the ensuing fiscal year (“Lump Sum Statement”) is submitted to the Mayor and the President
of City Council on or before March 31 of each year. Since the School District has limited taxing
power, City Council must establish the rates and subjects of local taxation for school purposes to
fund the estimated expenditures of the School District after considering, under current law, the
estimated revenues from the Commonwealth. If total estimated funds from all sources are
insufficient to balance the budget, the Board must reduce anticipated expenditures to a level
consistent with total available funds, as mandated by the Home Rule Charter. The ensuing
balanced budget becomes the adopted financial plan for the School District for the forthcoming
fiscal year. Thereupon, budgetary appropriations for all principal administrative units by Object
Class of expenditure are finalized.

Basis of Accounting

The accounting policies of the School District conform to generally accepted accounting
principles for local governmental units as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board (“GASB”) and the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) audit and
accounting guide or otherwise “Audits of State and Local Governments.”

Basis of Reporting

The School District’s annual comprehensive financial report is prepared following
guidelines recommended by the Government Finance Officers of America (“GFOA”). GFOA has
awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting (“Certificate”) to the
School District for its component unit financial reports for each fiscal year beginning in 1985
through 2019. The School District also received the Certificate of Excellence in Financial
Reporting from the Association of School Business Officials (ASBO) International for its annual
financial reports for each Fiscal Year from 1985 to 2019. The School District will file its
applications for GFOA and ASBO certificates for Fiscal Year 2021. A government unit must
publish an easily readable and efficiently organized annual comprehensive financial report, the
contents of which must conform to program standards. Such reports must satisfy both generally
accepted accounting principles and applicable legal requirements in order to be considered for the
Certificate. A Certificate is valid for a period of one year only.

Although the School District issues its own annual financial report, it is considered a
discretely reported component unit of the City of Philadelphia for financial reporting purposes
only and is included in the City’s Annual Comprehensive Financial Report. The determination that
the School District is a component unit of the City is in accordance with GASB Statement No. 14
and Statement No. 39, as amended by GASB Statement No. 61 and Statement No. 80.
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Cash Management

As previously mentioned, the Superintendent serves as the Treasurer of the School District.
For practical administration of treasury functions, these responsibilities are delegated to the Chief
Financial Officer, whose principal subordinate for this purpose is the Deputy Chief Financial
Officer, Financial Services.

All moneys of the School District are held separate and apart from the funds of any other
entity, including the City. The Deputy Chief Financial Officer accounts for all moneys received
and disbursed by the School District and develops twelve-month cash flow forecasts (updated
monthly) based on adopted budgets and historical and projected receipts and expenditure data.
These forecasts form the basis for cash management activities during the fiscal year, including the
forms and sources of funding, temporary cash deficiencies and negotiating the best forms of
investment of idle moneys consistent with legal limitations. To facilitate cash management
activities and related borrowing/investment programs, the School District established a pooled
cash account, as described below.

Pursuant to the School Code and resolutions of the School Reform Commission and the
Board (“Investment Resolution”), all School District funds, except sinking funds, shall be invested
in United States Treasury bills, in short-term obligations of the United States Government or its
agencies or instrumentalities, in obligations of the United States Government or its agencies or
instrumentalities backed by the full faith and credit of the United States of America, in certain
approved school and local government investment pools, Act 10 of March 25, 2016 permissible
investments and in savings accounts and time deposits of financial institutions insured by the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) which are collateralized in amounts in excess of
FDIC insurance in accordance with state law. Neither the School Code nor the Investment
Resolution permits the School District to use reverse repurchase agreements or other means to
leverage its investment portfolio, nor do they authorize the School District to invest in derivative
products. The requirements for investment in United States government securities (including
collateralized repurchase agreements for the same) contained in the Investment Resolution
conform to the Guidelines for Municipal Investment in U.S. Government Securities issued by the
Office of the Auditor General of the Commonwealth. Investment of the School District’s sinking
funds is governed by both the Debt Act and the resolutions authorizing the issuance of the School
District’s related bonds.

The Investment Resolution, adopted by the Board of Education in September of 1994,
amended in December of 1995, and most recently amended by the School Reform Commission in
April of 2004, reflects an investment policy based on the recommendations of the initial and
supplemental reviews and amendments to the investment provisions of the School Code. The
School District intends to continue this review process and make formal adjustments to these
policies as the Board deems appropriate.

As the District has maintained more reliable fund balances there is more of an opportunity
to achieve a better investment rate of return on public funds while minimizing risk. In 2018, PFM
Asset Management, LLC was awarded an investment management contract with the School
District. Their investment management approach combines Local Government Investment Pools
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(LGIPs) offering daily liquidity and a market rate of return in conjunction with a portfolio of high-
grade fixed income securities balanced with future cash flows.

Pooled Cash Account. The School District maintains a Pooled Cash Account to facilitate
cash management and coordinated borrowing, investment and accounting activities. All funds that
can be legally and practically combined are included in the Pooled Cash Account. Proceeds of
general obligation bonds issued for capital improvements and interest earnings thereon, however,
are deposited in the Capital Projects Fund which is not included in the Pooled Cash Account).

Financial Control Procedures

The Board is required to adopt an annual operating budget by principal administrative unit
and by object class of expenditure. Allocations are made from each principal administrative unit,
e.g., Business and Financial Services, to programs which represent a specific function, e.g., Chief
Financial Officer, and then to activities which represent sub-functions, e.g., Accounting, Payroll,
etc. These allocations are posted to an automated accounting system, which for selected
transactions, electronically compare encumbrances or expenditure documents to available funds
and rejects those in excess of available funding. Budgetary transactions are updated daily and are
available on-line for each activity and to all program managers.

The Office of Management and Budget must review the allotment of personnel and verify
the availability of funding. In addition, the Board is required to approve all personnel appointments
and purchases of materials, supplies, books and equipment in excess of $25,000. The School Code
requires all individual contracts in excess of $100 to receive Board approval. The Board delegated
limited contracting authority up to $20,000 per activity to principals, area academic officers, and
cabinet-level positions. The contracts are limited to professional services or the use of facilities
and associated costs in support of the instructional program. An Oversight Committee empowered
by the Board, which is comprised of central administrators, meets weekly to review applications
for approval of these limited contracts and reports quarterly to the Board.

The Office of Accounting Services, which performs pre-audit functions, reviews invoices
entered into the accounting system for propriety before any checks are issued or released.

The School Reform Commission, by resolution on November 15, 2006, and several
subsequent resolutions, adopted and expanded upon certain existing fiscal and budgetary policies.
In addition, the Board of Education, which assumed governance of the School District on July 1,
2018, has further enhanced fiscal and budgetary policies to strengthen internal controls and
financial oversight within the School District. In addition to enhanced controls, the Chief Financial
Officer, and his designees, will continue to monitor expenditures and budget adjustments and
report their findings to the Superintendent and the Board of Education.

Tax Collection

Pursuant to the School Code and the Home Rule Charter, School District local taxes (except
for the public utility realty tax, cigarette tax, sales tax, and rideshare tax described below) are
collected by the City’s Department of Revenue, in its capacity as School Tax Collector, subject to
the same collection procedures applicable to City taxes. Such taxes collected by the City on behalf
of the School District are wire-transferred to the School District on the next business day following
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collection by the City, except for deposits to the School District sinking funds established for each
series of general obligation bonds issued by the School District. The School District sinking funds
established for each series of general obligation bonds issued by the School District receive daily
deposits of school taxes to fund deposits currently required, which are wire transferred first to such
sinking funds on the same business day and then, to other School District-designated bank
accounts. School District local taxes collected by the City’s Department of Revenue, even when
held overnight by the City, are at all times the property of the School District.

The School Code requires that the Department of Revenue pay all school taxes when and
as collected to or upon the order of the School District and that a duplicate receipt for such taxes
be filed with the City Controller, formally recognized as School Auditor. The School Code further
requires that the Department of Revenue report the amount of school taxes collected on a monthly
basis to the Board and the City Controller. A Standard Accounting Procedure of the City, adopted
in 1961 and effective since that date requires that such information be furnished to the School
District on a daily basis.

School Auditor

The Home Rule Charter requires that the Office of the City Controller of the City (“Office
of the City Controller”) perform an annual audit of the books of account, as well as financial
records and transactions of the School District. The City Controller, an independently elected local
official, is required to appoint a Certified Public Accountant as deputy in charge of auditing.
Pursuant to these requirements, the Office of the City Controller conducted an independent audit
of the School District’s financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020. The
independent audit examined evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures contained in these
financial statements on a test basis; assessed the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by senior management; and evaluated the overall presentation of these financial
statements. The Office of the City Controller concluded that there was a reasonable basis for
rendering an unmodified opinion that the School District’s financial statements, for the Fiscal Year
ended June 30, 2020, are fairly presented in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States. The Independent Auditor’s Report is included as Appendix B hereto.

The City Controller has not participated in the preparation of this Appendix A nor in the
preparation of the budget or current estimates of the School District set forth herein, nor has the
City Controller reported on any financial statements of the School District included herein, other
than the financial statements for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2020, attached hereto as Appendix
B. The opinion of the City Controller which is part of the financial statements attached hereto
contains the following language: “In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present
fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the
business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the
School District, as of June 30, 2020, and the respective changes in financial position, and, where
applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.” See Appendix B — Note 1.E for a full
description and the complete opinion. The City Controller expresses no opinion on any of the data
contained in this Appendix A relating to the School District.
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SOURCES OF SCHOOL DISTRICT REVENUE

In Fiscal Year 2020, the School District’s actual operating revenue and other financing
sources were derived from three sources: (i) the Commonwealth, which represents approximately
45.9%; (i1) local, which represents approximately 43.7%; and (iii) federal and other financing
sources, which represent approximately 10.4%.

Commonwealth Subsidies

The General Assembly is required by the Pennsylvania Constitution to provide for and
maintain a system of public education, and for that purpose, makes subsidy payments to school
districts located within and throughout the state. Commonwealth education appropriations have
been constitutionally mandated since 1874, but are subject to legislative changes in amounts and
funding formulae and to annual appropriation. Commonwealth education subsidies are included
in the Commonwealth’s operating budget each fiscal year. Total Commonwealth education
subsidies to the School District increased annually in each Fiscal Year from 1982 to 2011. Fiscal
Year 2012 was the first year in over three decades in which education subsidies declined. There
have been increases in education subsidies in Fiscal Years 2013 through 2022, except
Commonwealth education subsidies budgeted in Fiscal Year 2021 which was the same as Fiscal
Year 2020.

The largest component of Commonwealth subsidies is the basic education funding
allocation, which the School District can use for any costs attendant to the operation of the public
school system.

In Fiscal Year 2021, the School District’s Amended Budget revenues from the
Commonwealth were $1,158.3 million from the basic education funding allocation. Other
revenues from the Commonwealth included (i) $154.2 million in special education funding and
(i1) $336.7 million in other funding, the largest component of which was reimbursements for a
portion of pension costs. Revenues from the Commonwealth for Fiscal Year 2022 were expected
to be at the same levels as FY 2021 and is consistent with the assumptions included in the School
District’s adopted FY 2022 budget. However, the Commonwealth’s budget included an additional
$65.8 million in basic education subsidies and an additional $8.4 million in special education
funding for the School District.

Pursuant to federal law, school districts are required to pay the full employer’s share of
social security taxes directly to the Federal government. The Commonwealth reimburses school
districts, on a quarterly basis, for a portion of such employer’s share. With respect to contributions
to the Public School Employee Retirement System (“PSERS”), school entities are required to pay
100% of the employer’s share of such contributions to PSERS.

The Commonwealth makes quarterly payments to school districts to reimburse each for a
portion of retirement contributions made.

The School District is also eligible to receive a Commonwealth subsidy for a portion of the
debt service on the School District’s lease rental and general obligation debt related to capital
projects, which constitute eligible capital projects (although the Commonwealth has not made such
payments since Fiscal Year 2017). The Commonwealth also subsidizes the IU for special
education programs, special education transportation, and non-public school services. Advance
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funding for special education transportation is partially reimbursed to the Commonwealth in the
subsequent fiscal year.

The School District annually reports total subsidy revenues net of this reimbursement in
order to reflect the net resources actually provided by the Commonwealth to finance operations.

[The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank.]
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THE SCHOOL DISTRICT OF PHILADELPHIA
COVERAGE RATIOS OF NET CASH RECEIVED FROM
COMMONWEALTH SUBSIDIES TO DEBT SERVICE PAYMENTS
Fiscal Years 2017-2021 (o)

(Dollar Amounts in Thousands)

ACTUALS ESTIMATED
Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Fiscal Year
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Net
Commonwealth $1,464,185 $1,533,279 $1,555,035 $1,637,781 $1,649,243
Subsidies (b)
Long-term Debt
Service (including
State Public $267,859 $272,292 $300,332 $448,569 $311,514
School Building
Authority)
Ratios 5.47 5.63 5.18 3.65 5.29
Long-term and
Short-term Debt $646,984 $678,732 $758,132 $802,464 $865,524
Service (¢)

. 2.26 2.26 2.05 2.04 1.91
Ratios
Short-term note $379,125 $406,440 $457,800 $353,895 $554,010

debt service (d)

(@) Actual data is derived from the School District’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports.
a Estimated data is derived from the School District’s FY 2021 Amended Budget, as approved
by the Board of Education on May 27, 2021.

Net Commonwealth subsidies reflect gross receipts for General Fund, Area Vocational
(b) Technical Fund and Intermediate Unit, less certain cash deductions made by the State for

payments to other educational entities.

) Includes both Long-term Debt Service and Short-term Debt Service principal and interest.
¢ Does not include issuance costs.

(d) Short-term debt service represents interest and principal payments on the School District’s
borrowings in each fiscal year, in anticipation of the receipt of taxes and other revenues.
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Local Tax Revenues

Under the Home Rule Charter, the Board is required to levy taxes, upon subjects and within
the limits prescribed by either the General Assembly or City Council, sufficient to provide funds
to pay operating expenses, debt service and the costs of any other service incidental to the operation
of public schools.

The General Assembly has authorized the School District to levy up to 16.75 mills on
taxable real estate in the City without City Council approval. See “SOURCES OF SCHOOL
DISTRICT REVENUES — Local Tax Revenues — House Bill 1857 herein.

The Board is required to submit to the Mayor and City Council an annual request for
authority to levy taxes to balance the School District’s operating budget for the ensuing Fiscal
Year. After reviewing such a request, City Council has the power to alter the rates or subjects of
taxation for school purposes, (except for the rate of real estate tax of 16.75 mills authorized by the
General Assembly which can be levied by the School District directly, but the use of which is
limited. See: SOURCES OF SCHOOL DISTRICT REVENUES — Local Tax Revenues — House Bill
1857 herein.

As described herein under the caption: Local Tax Revenues - “Real Estate Tax,” the City
for tax year 2020 has reassessed approximately 503,000 parcels of real estate within the City to
more nearly approximate the market values thereof. By City Council ordinance adopted on June
9,2017 the School District is authorized to levy its taxes for Fiscal Year 2022. Neither City Council
nor the Mayor has ever failed to authorize taxes for school purposes. The ordinances authorizing
the levy of the liquor sales tax and the cigarette tax do not require annual re-enactment and remain
in effect. See “SOURCES OF SCHOOL DISTRICT REVENUE—Local Tax Revenues—Liquor
Sales Tax herein.

The School District’s Board authorized the levy of the following taxes for Fiscal Year 2022
by resolution on June 24, 2021. The following is a brief description of those taxes levied for school
purposes:

Real Estate Tax. For tax year 2020 (as certified on March 31, 2019), the City’s Office of
Property Assessment (OPA), revised the assessed values of over 503,000 parcels throughout the
City as part of its reassessment. As of June 3, 2021, OPA has received 11,728 First Level Reviews
(“FLRs”), with approximately 20% that have yet to be decided. As of June 3, 2021, the Board of
Revision of Taxes (“BRT”) has received 7,629 appeals, with approximately 3,003 that have yet to
be decided.

For tax year 2021 (as certified on March 31, 2020), OPA had planned to conduct a second
year of trending for assessments, but initial results showed certain anomalies that would result in
assessed values that were not acceptable to the City’s standards. As such, the City carried forward
the assessed values from tax year 2020, with the exception of properties that had new construction,
expiring abatements, renovations, subdivisions, consolidations, or errors in prior year assessments.
As of June 3, 2021, OPA has received 678 FLRs, with approximately 10% that have yet to be
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decided. As of June 3, 2021, BRT has received 2,279 appeals, with approximately 2,275 that have
yet to be decided.

For tax year 2022 (as certified on March 31, 2021), the City did not conduct a citywide
reassessment due to operational delays regarding COVID-19. As such, the City carried forward
the assessed values from tax year 2021, with the exception of properties that had new construction,
expiring abatements, renovations, subdivisions, consolidations, or errors in prior year assessments.

House Bill 1857. On October 18, 2012, the Pennsylvania Legislature enacted and on
October 24, 2012, the Governor of Pennsylvania signed into law, House Bill 1857 (which was
originally introduced as Senate Bill 1303 at the request of the City). House Bill 1857 permits
downward adjustments to the School District millage tax rates in the face of higher assessments,
which would otherwise be prohibited under current Pennsylvania School Code provisions by
providing that (i) for the reassessment year (defined as the year immediately following the year in
which the Director of Finance of the City first certifies that the total assessed value of all real
property in the City is at full market value) and the two years thereafter, the rate of any tax
authorized by the City to be levied for the School District or dedicated to the School District may
be adjusted so that the yield on taxes based on assessed values of real estate authorized by the City
for the School District, as estimated and certified by the Director of Finance of the City, is equal
to an amount equal to or greater than the highest yield of the taxes based on assessed values of real
estate authorized by the City to be levied by the School District or dedicated to the School District
during any of the three full preceding years prior to the reassessment year; and (ii) in the third and
fourth years following the reassessment year, the rate of any tax authorized by the City to be levied
for the School District or dedicated to the School District shall be not less than the rate authorized
in the immediately preceding year.

House Bill 1857 further provides that in the reassessment year and each year thereafter, in
any year in which the School District is subject to a declaration of distress, the School District may
only levy taxes on real estate using the authorization for 16.75 mills (which the School District
may levy directly pursuant to legislative authorization by the General Assembly without any
further action by the City), to the extent the estimated yield on all taxes on real estate for the year
is less than an amount equal to the yield in the year prior to the reassessment year, increased by an
amount equal to the yield in the year prior to the reassessment year, increased by an amount
proportional to the increase since the year prior to the reassessment year in total assessed value of
real estate in the City. For Fiscal Year 2016, the Director of Finance certified that the yield on
taxes based upon assessed value of real estate would be equal to or greater than the highest yield
during the three full preceding years prior to the assessment year and for Fiscal year 2016 the tax
rate was increased. Accordingly, the School District did not levy any of the 16.75 mills of direct
authorization from the Commonwealth since the implementation of the City’s Actual Value
Initiative. For a discussion of certain litigation relating to the reassessment and its potential impact
on the School District, see “LEGAL PROCEEDINGS - Litigation — Duffield House Assocs., et al
v. City of Phila, et al.” herein.

On June 9, 2017, City Council authorized the School District to levy tax of 0.7681% on
assessed value of real estate and on June 24, 2021, the School District re-authorized the levy for
Fiscal Year 2022.
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Assessments are certified in March, subject to certified revisions, and taxes are levied as
of January 1. If paid by the last day of March, the gross amount of the tax is due. If the tax is not
paid by the last day of March, tax additions of 1.5% per month are added to the tax for each month
that the tax remains unpaid through the end of the calendar year. If the tax remains unpaid on
January Ist of the succeeding year, a tax addition of 1.5% is added, the tax additions (totaling 15%)
which accumulated from the time the tax was due are capitalized and the tax is registered
delinquent and subject to lien (“Tax Claim Principal Amount”). Interest is then computed on the
Tax Claim Principal Amount at a rate of 0.75% per month or 9% per annum until the real estate
tax is fully paid. Commencing in February of the second year, an additional 1% per month penalty
is assessed for a maximum of seven months. After the seven-month period, no further tax additions
are assessed, although interest continues to accrue on the unpaid tax at the delinquent rate of 9%
per annum until paid in full. In addition to current collections in any given year, the School District
also receives delinquent real estate taxes applicable to prior tax years.

Business Use and Occupancy Tax. City Council authorized the Board of the School District
to impose a tax for general public school purposes on the use or occupancy of real estate within
the School District for the purpose of conducting any business, trade, occupation, profession,
vocation, or any other commercial or industrial activity. This tax for Fiscal Year 2022 is 1.21%.
This tax is due monthly.

Non-Business Income Tax. This tax is applied to the non-business income of residents from
the ownership, lease, sale or disposition of certain real or personal property, including net income
from dividends and interest on securities. The rate of this tax cannot exceed the rate of wage and
net profits tax imposed on City residents. By ordinance enacted on June 24, 2021 (Bill No. 210324)
the rate authorized for FY 2022 is 3.8398%, and is payable by April 15 of the following calendar
year.

Public Utility Realty Tax (PURTA). Act 66 of 1970 enacted by the General Assembly
provides for distribution to local taxing authorities, on a varying percentage basis, of the amounts
of this tax collected by the Commonwealth on realty of various public utilities located throughout
the Commonwealth. Amendments to the PURTA Act, enacted on May 5, 1999, changed the base
of the tax and the timing of payment of the tax, among other things.

Liquor Sales Tax. City Council authorized the Board to levy a liquor sales tax effective
January 1, 1995, on the retail sale of liquor and malt and brewed beverages at the rate of ten percent
of the sales price. This tax is payable monthly on or before the 25th day of the month following
collection of the tax by the retail establishment.

Cigarette Tax. On September 24, 2014, the Governor of Pennsylvania signed into law
House Bill 1177 which authorizes the School District to impose and assess an excise tax upon the
sale or possession of cigarettes within the School District at a rate of 10 cents per cigarette.

Pursuant to an ordinance of the City enacted June 6, 2013, and resolutions of the School
District adopted June 27, 2013, and June 30, 2014, the School District has imposed the cigarette
tax, effective October 1, 2014.

As required by House Bill 1177, the tax is collected by the Department of Revenue of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania (the “Department”) and is paid by the Department to the State
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Treasurer (net of the Department’s costs of collection) for payment directly to the School District
on or before the 10th day of each month. Additionally, the legislation sets a floor of $58 million
in annual cigarette tax revenue for the School District.

House Bill 1177 provides that the School District may lower the rate of the tax imposed or
repeal the tax, in each instance, upon certain prior notice to the Department (20 days for a change;
30 days for a repeal).

Ridesharing Revenue. Act 85 of 2016 provides that a transportation network company
operating in Philadelphia shall pay an assessment amount equal to 1.4% of the gross receipts from
all fares charged to all passengers for prearranged rides. The State Treasury shall distribute 66.67%
to the School District and 33.33% to the Philadelphia Parking Authority. The Rideshare
Assessment is currently set to sunset on December 31, 2022.

Proceeds of 1% City Sales Tax. Effective September 28, 1991, the City adopted 1% sales
and use tax (the “City Sales Tax”) for City general revenue purposes. The Commonwealth
authorized the levy of this tax under the Pennsylvania Intergovernmental Cooperation Authority
Act in response to the City’s financial crisis. The City Sales Tax is imposed in addition to, and on
the same basis as, the Commonwealth’s sales and use tax. The City Sales Tax is collected for the
City by the Commonwealth Department of Revenue. On October 8, 2009, the General Assembly
of the Commonwealth enacted legislation authorizing an additional 1% City Sales tax which
expired on June 30, 2014.

In July 2013, the General Assembly of the Commonwealth enacted legislation authorizing
the imposition of an additional City Sales Tax of 1% replacing the expiring 1% tax, effective July
1, 2014. The legislation provides that (1) the first $120 million of this tax collected in a fiscal year
will be paid directly to the School District by the State Treasurer upon certification by the Secretary
of Education that the School District is implementing reforms that provide for fiscal stability,
educational improvement, and operational control; (2) for Fiscal Years 2015 through 2018, the
next $15 million collected was applied to payment of debt service on obligations issued by the
City for the benefit of the School District (and thereafter such amount will be paid to the Municipal
Pension Fund); and (3) the remainder will be paid to the City pursuant to Act 205 for application
to the Municipal Pension Fund. City Council authorized this sales tax by ordinance which was
signed into law by Mayor Nutter on June 12, 2014, and became effective on July 1, 2014.

[The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank.]
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The following sets forth, for each tax, the actual tax revenues in Fiscal Years 2018 through
2020, and the estimated tax revenues set forth in the amended budget for Fiscal Year 2021 and
adopted budget for Fiscal Year 2022:

The School District of Philadelphia
Local Tax Revenues
Fiscal Years 2018-2022
(Dollar Amounts in Thousands)

Actual (@) Actual (@) Actual (a) Amended (b)) Adopted (b)
Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Fiscal Year  Fiscal Year Fiscal Year

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Real Estate Tax 791,806 847,726 845,447 871,477 882,400
Business Use & Occup. Tax 181,162 186,532 177,150 171,463 176,356
Non-Business Income Tax 48,048 49,434 51,560 48,406 49,345
Public Utility Tax 1,153 1,182 1,176 1,318 1,318
Liquor Sales Tax 76,650 79,300 58,845 30,031 61,626
Sales Tax 120,000 120,000 120,000 120,000 120,000
Cigarette Tax 58,000 58,154 57,771 58,000 58,000
Ridesharing Tax 3,269 4,461 5,138 3,950 4,900
Payments in Lieu of Taxes 9 0 5 5 5
Total Taxes $1,280,097 $1,346,789 $1,317,092 $1,304,648 $1,353,950

(@) Derived from the School District’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports.

(b) The FY 2021 and FY 2022 figures reflect the School District’s Amended FY 2021

and FY 2022 Adopted budget, each approved by the Board on May 27, 2021.

Local Non-Tax Revenues

City Grants. City Grant revenues for FY 2021 were $252.6 million and estimated to be
approximately $256 million in FY 2022.

Gaming Revenue. The School District receives the first $5 million of revenue distributed
to Philadelphia County from each licensed facility located in the county as well as from interactive
gaming revenue.
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The table below sets forth local tax revenues by month subject to daily deposits, which are
first deposited by the Fiscal Agent into the sinking funds for the School District’s general
obligation bonds. See “SCHOOL DISTRICT FINANCIAL PROCEDURES — Tax Collection”

herein.
Local Tax Revenues Subject to Daily Deposit Covenant by Month
Fiscal Year 2021
(Dollars in Thousands)
Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun TOTAL
37,991 | 31,390 | 20,097 | 29,552 | 23,504 | 45,519 | 66,466 | 89,410 | 535588 | 179,214 | 69,358 | 43,283 | 1,171,372

Source: The School District’s actual monthly cash receipts.

[The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank.]
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The following table sets forth the School District's Real Estate Tax Levies and Collections
for the calendar years 2011-2020:

SCHOOL DISTRICT OF PHILADELPHIA
REAL ESTATE TAX LEVIES AND COLLECTION
For the Calendar Years 2011 through 2020

Collected within the
Calendar Year of the Original Tax Total Collected to Date
Delinquent Taxes
Tax Levy for the Adjusted Total Percent of Collections in Percentage of
Calendar Calendar Year Levied Tax (b) Original Subsequent Years Original Tax

Year (Original Levy) (a) (c) Amount ($) (d) Levy (%) (d) Amount ($) Levy (%)
2011 612,265,808 595,724,756 549,036,079 89.67% 44,304,903 593,340,982 96.91%
2012 655,005,955 636,956,173 549,558,020 83.90% 48,930,447 598,488,467 91.37%
2013 659,127,013 639,960,121 595,637,192 90.37% 62,939,249 658,576,441 99.92%
2014 737,777,950 709,717,778 605,454,814 82.06% 48,768,316 654,223,130 88.67%
2015 731,692,538 701,131,808 607,462,012 83.02% 39,797,156 607,462,012 83.02%
2016 703,064,816 685,102,289 641,567,436 91.25% 33,415,753 641,567,436 91.25%
2017 753,705,217 760,322,293 667,954,497 88.62% 28,287,991 667,954,497 88.62%
2018 854,532,826 824,213,011 749,239,893 87.68% 15,863,768 749,239,893 87.68%
2019 862,438,749 832,874,856 805,047,314 93.42% 9,912,322 805,047,314 93.42%
2020 878,853,757 (e) 857,369,390 (e) 823,724,857 93.73% N/A 823,724,857 93.73%
Notes:

(a) Represents original billings as of the calendar year (December 31st) for current year real estate taxes only.

(b) Adjustments include assessment appeals, a 1% discount for payment in full by the end of February, the senior citizen tax freeze, and the tax increment
financing (TIF) return of tax paid. For 2014, adjustment include the Longtime Owner Occupants Program (LOOP), since the program was implemented
after the initial bills were sent.

(c) Represents adjustment to original billings as of the end of the calendar year (December 3 1st) for current year real estate taxes only.

(d) Source: City of Philadelphia, Revenue Department Reports-Taxes Collected for Tax Years 2011 through 2020-Gross Principal Only.

(e) Memorandum City of Philadelphia Department of Revenue 2020 Monthly Real Estate Billed/Balance Due dated 01/27/2021 through December 31, 2020.

N/A = Data Not Applicable
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The following table sets forth Assessed and Market Value of Taxable Real Estate in the
City for the calendar years 2011-2020:

THE SCHOOL DISTRICT OF PHILADELPHIA
ASSESSED AND ESTIMATED ACTUAL MARKET VALUE OF TAXABLE REAL ESTATE
For the Calendar Years 2011 through 2020
(Dollars in Millions)

Certified Assessed Values

Exempt Property, Percentage Certified
Homestead Increase Over STEB & Percentage
Total Exemption, & Prior Year AVI Increase Over
Assessed Certification & Total Tax (Total Assessed Estimated Prior Year
Calendar Value of Billing Assessed Assessed Value Actual Estimated Millage for
Year of Property Adjustments (b) Value of Value of Ratio (d) Taxable Actual Taxable School
Levy (a) (b)(H) (c) Property (b) Property) ® Value (e) Value Purposes
2011 $ 17,940 $ 5,593 $ 12,347 0.58 % 02805 % $ 44,018 2.44 % 49.59
2012 18,022 5,685 12,337 (0.08) 0.2887 42,733 (2.92) 53.09
2013 18,181 5,765 12,416 0.64 0.2868 43,291 1.31 53.09
2014 137,404 42,891 94,513 661.22 1.0000 94,513 118.32 7.382
2015 136,341 43,928 92,413 2.22) 1.0000 92,413 2.22) 7.681
2016 136,295 44,758 91,537 (0.95) 1.0000 91,537 (0.95) 7.681
2017 136,681 44,940 91,741 0.22 1.0000 91,741 0.22 7.681
2018 152,995 48,006 104,989 14.44 1.0000 104,989 14.44 7.681
2019 164,672 49,116 115,556 10.06 1.0000 115,556 10.06 7.681
2020 168,263 52,687 115,576 0.02 1.0000 115,576 0.02 7.681

NOTES:

(a) Real property tax bills are sent out in December and are payable at a one percent (1%) discount until February 28th, otherwise the face amount is due March 31 without penalty or interest.

(b) Source: The City of Philadelphia, Office of Property Assessment (CY2011-2015). Beginning in 2014, the Assessed Value Certification Date was moved up to March 31, 2013.
In prior years, the Certification date occurred on or slightly before the Billing Date; henceforth, the Certification Date was changed to March 3 1st.

(c)  The adjustment reflects reductions in assessments pursuant to established procedures for review of assessments. Starting in 2014, the City provided for a $30,000 Homestead Exemption
(amount subject to change) to all homeowners. Also, there are additional adjustments after the certification date of March 3 1st.

(d)  The State Tax Equalization Board (STEB) receives certified market values from each county assessor. The values represent amounts certified to the STEB. In addition, STEB annually
determines for each municipality in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania a ratio assessed valuation to true value. The ratio is used for the purpose of equalizing certain state aid distributions.
Obtained from STEB website-Market Value.

(e) Represents total taxable assessed value multiplied by the STEB ratio for calendar years 2011 through 2013. In calendar years 2014 through 2020, the market value represents the actual amounts.

(f)  The Office of Property Assessment (OPA) began the Actual Value Initiative (AVI) program in calendar year 2014. AVIis a program for the assessment of all real property - land and buildings -
in Philadelphia at their current market value.
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City Tax Reductions. The Pennsylvania Intergovernmental Cooperation Authority
(“PICA”), an instrumentality of the Commonwealth, and the City entered into an
Intergovernmental Cooperation Agreement in January of 1992. The Intergovernmental
Cooperation Agreement requires the City to submit a five-year financial plan of the City annually
to PICA for its approval. The first three five-year financial plans were based on the assumption
that tax rate increases would be harmful to the economic health of the City. Beginning in the
City’s 1996 fiscal year, the City implemented a program of incremental reductions in the City’s
key taxes, namely the City wage tax and the business privilege tax, as part of an effort to rebuild
Philadelphia’s economy. The only School District tax affected by these reductions is the Non-
Business Income Tax since the rate of this tax cannot be higher than the resident City wage tax.
The incremental reductions have not had a material adverse effect on the School District’s local
tax revenues.

SCHOOL DISTRICT EXPENDITURES

Of the School District’s FY 2021 Amended Budget expenditures (including expenditures
against the Federal ESSER relief funds), over $3.0 billion, or 87% of its budget, was budgeted on
District and Non-District operated schools. Of that $3.0 billion, approximately $1.76 billion was
spent on District schools, $1.19 billion was spent on charter schools and transportation for charter
students, and $95 million was spent on other Non-District operated schools and transportation for
students attending those schools. The School District’s FY 2022 Adopted Budget reflects over
$3.4 billion to be spent on District and Non-District operated schools with $2.1 billion spent on
District schools.

The remainder of the School District’s FY 2022 budget is comprised of debt service,
administrative support, and undistributed budgetary adjustments. In FY 2021, the School District
expects that it will spend $333.4 million, or 9.5% of its budget, on debt service. In FY 2022 the
School District has budgeted $338.3 million in debt service. Debt service costs relate to interest
and principal payments on the School District’s long-term debt.

School District administration supports schools directly through academic and climate
support, and provides key business, technology, and operational support. In FY 2021, $130.6
million, or approximately 3.7% of the School District’s budget, was spent on administration. In
FY 2022, the School District has budgeted $155.1 million on administration.

Undistributed budgetary adjustments were negative ($20.1) million in FY 2021 and ($16.7)
million in FY 2022. Undistributed budgetary adjustments account for indirect charges from other
funds and other credits that are not distributed to specific budget lines.

For information regarding the major categories of the School District’s expenditures for
the Amended FY 2021 Budget and the Adopted FY 2022 Budget, see the table below under
“CERTAIN FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE SCHOOL DISTRICT — Summary of
Operating Results.”
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CERTAIN FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE SCHOOL DISTRICT

Summary of Operating Results

The table on the following page reflects the revenues, expenditures and changes in the fund
balance of the General Fund, Intermediate Unit Fund, and Debt Service Fund (which comprise the
Operating Budget) for FY 2018 through 2020, the amended budget for FY 2021 and the adopted
budget for FY 2022. For FY 2021 and FY 2022, the numbers are inclusive of the federal relief
funds approved in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

No assurances can be provided that the School District’s final results for FY 2021 will not
differ materially from the amended budget. Further, no assurances can be provided that the FY
2022 budget, as adopted, may not need to be materially amended subsequently. The School District

budgets are publicly available on its website.

See “CERTAIN FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE SCHOOL DISTRICT -
Operating Budget Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances” and “Five-Year

Financial Plan” herein.

Actual Actual Actual Amended Adopted
2018 2019 2020 2021 (a) 2022 (a)
REVENUES (in 000s): $ $ $ $ $
Local Tax Revenue 1,280,096 1,346,789 1,317,092 1,304,648 1,353,949
Local Non-Tax Revenue 141,813 224,540 267,796 271,134 277,095
State Revenue 1,588,404 1,600,823 1,665,073 1,649,243 1,565,572
Federal Revenue 16,968 16,847 17,015 16,764 16,608
Subtotal Operating Revenues 3,027,281 3,188,999 3,266,976 3,241,789 3,213,224
Federal COVID-19 Relief Revenue 0 0 0 195,951 861,032
(b)
Total Other Financing Sources 3,037 402 7,553 18,131 2,049
(excluding Refunding) (c)
Total Operating Revenues & 3,030,317 3,189,402 3,274,529 3,455,871 4,076,305
Other Sources (excluding
Refunding)
Actual Actual Actual Amended  Adopted
2018 2019 2020 2021 (a) 2022 (a)

EXPENDITURES (in 000s): $ $ $ $ $
District Operated Schools (d) 1,624,566 1,661,284 1,719,832 1,761,115 2,093,000
Non-District Operated Schools (e) 998,019 1,102,673 1,174,064 1,286,571 1,354,424
Debt Service (d, f) 281,498 308,217 295,949 333,393 338,304
Administration 93,850 104,411 119,286 130,612 155,136
Undistributed Budgetary Adjustments -30,574 -28,278 -26,909 -20,124 -16,660
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Subtotal Expenditures 2,967,360 3,148,307 3,282,223 3,491,567 3,924,204

Other Financing Uses

(excluding Refunding) 3,486 1,831 1,904 1,888 1,835

Total Expenditures

(excluding Refunding) 2,970,846 3,150,139 3,284,127 3,493,455 3,926,039
Actual Actual Actual Amended  Adopted

2018 2019 2020 2021 (a) 2022 (a)

FUND BALANCE (in 000s): $ $ $ $ $

Net Impact of Refunding Sources and 0 0 11,860 0 0

Uses

Transfers from Reserves -14,702 4,633 -13,321 -13,321 -13,321

Reserve for Facilities 0 0 -25,000 12,500 12,500

Operating Surplus (Deficit) 44,769 43,896 -49,779 -38,404 149,445

Fund Balance (Deficit) July 1 124,697 169,466 222,607 172,828 134,423

Adjustment of Prior Year Fund 0 9,243 0 0 0

Balance (g)

Fund Balance (Deficit) June 30 169,466 222,607 172,828 134,423 283,869
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Notes Relating to the Summary of Operating Results

On May 27,2021, the Board approved the Amended Operating Budget for FY 2021
and adopted the Operating Budget for FY 2022. The amounts shown as Federal
COVID-19 Relief Revenue were not included in the Amended Operating Budget for FY
2021 nor in the Operating Budget for FY2022.

These revenues include projected State reimbursement for pension costs associated
with the federal relief funds.

Other Financing Sources consist of revenues from the sale of property, transfers
from other funds, and payments associated with debt financing for short-term
borrowings.

District Operated Schools expenditures previously included temporary borrowing
expense; 2018 through 2022 information has been updated to reflect temporary
borrowing expense as part of Debt Service.

These expenditures are for Philadelphia students who are in Charter operated
Schools; students placed by the courts and City departments of health and human
services in facilities located outside the City. Also included in this expenditure
category are payments for approved private schools and alternative education
schools.

The School District issued Qualified Zone Academy Bonds (QZABs) Series
2004E, 2007C, and 2007D which required annual mandatory sinking fund deposits
or cash to be held in trust with the fiscal agent until the debt under these instruments
matured. The principal and interest of: (1) QZAB bond Series 2004E of $19.3
million was due September 1, 2018, (2) QZAB bond Series 2007C of $13.5 million
is due December 28, 2022 and (3) QZAB bond Series 2007D of $28.2 million is
due December 28, 2022. For Debt Act purposes, amounts in the sinking funds may
be excluded in determining net debt.

The positive $9.2 million Fiscal Year 2019 actual prior period adjustment reflects
accounting adjustments made at the end of Fiscal Year 2019.

Five Year Plan

On May 27, 2021, the Board adopted its Operating Budget for FY 2022, the first year of a
Five Year Financial Plan (the “Financial Plan”) introduced in March 2021 as part of the process
of the introduction and adoption of the Lump Sum Statement. The Financial Plan reflects Fiscal
Years 2022-2026 and is a budget and spending estimate which strives for structural balance while
determining investments designed to achieve the mission of equity in educational opportunity for
all children. It utilized projections which the School District believes are reasonable for revenues
and expenditures based on, among other things, available budget information provided by the City
and Commonwealth, historical trends, as well as the significant impacts of the global pandemic.
The Financial Plan projects annual operating deficits in the last three years of the plan (FY 2024-
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FY 2026)_a positive year-end fund balance through the end of Fiscal Year 2025, and a negative
year-end fund balance in FY 2026. The Financial Plan may be amended and modified at any time.

The Financial Plan contains forward looking statements which may or may not be achieved
and the differences between projected results and actual results may be material. The School
District has no independent authority to increase its revenues and its ability to utilize its powers
under the School Code to reduce expenditures may be limited by current federal and
Commonwealth education mandates, court decisions and future legislation.

No assurance can be given that the School District will be able to continue to provide the
programs and services which it currently provides or which are assumed to be provided in the
Financial Plan or the then current Financial Plan without additional sources of or increases to
existing sources of revenues and/or relief from some of its non-discretionary expenditure
obligations.

Operating Budget Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Fiscal Year 2018 Adopted Operating Budget. On May 25, 2017, the School Reform
Commission adopted the Operating Budget for Fiscal Year 2018 with anticipated revenues and
other financing sources of $2,949.5 million, expenditures and other financing uses of $2,953.1
million, and transfers from reserves of negative ($14.7) million resulting in a projected $89.8
million ending fund balance on June 30, 2018.

Revenues increased by $131.3 million (excluding refunding and other financing sources)
from the revenues in the Fiscal Year 2017 Amended Operating Budget due to the following
changes: (1) Local Tax Revenues increased by $97.0 million due primarily to an increase of $83.1
million in real estate taxes, an increase of $13.4 million in business use and occupancy tax, and an
increase in liquor sales tax of $0.5 million, (2) Local Non-Tax Revenues decreased by ($11.4)
million due to a ($6.2) million decrease in parking authority revenue, a ($3.9) million decrease due
to the elimination of the casino settlement, and ($1.3) million decrease in all other areas, (3) State
Revenues increased by $42.0 million due to a $30.8 million increase in gross Basic Education
subsidy, a $21.4 million increase in retirement reimbursements from higher employer contribution
rates, an increase of $4.0 million in Special Education revenue, and a $3.1 million increase in IU
Special Education Transportation revenue offset by a decrease in Debt Service of ($13.7) million,
a decrease in school health program revenues of ($3.0) million, and a decrease in all other areas of
($0.6) million, and (4) Operating Federal revenue increased by $3.7 million primarily due to an
increase in the Federal Debt Service Subsidy.

Other Financing Sources declined by $1,307.8 million due to non-recurring refinancing
proceeds of $1,306.7 million offset by a $0.7 million increase for the sale of property, and an
increase in other transfers of $0.3 million.

Expenditures increased by $213.3 million from the expenditures in the Fiscal Year 2017
Amended Operating Budget (excluding refunding) due to the following changes: (1) a $88.9
million increase in salaries and benefits which included additional headcount related to
investments, a budgeted increase for labor contracts, and an increase in Employer contributions
for Retirement (PSERS) rate as a percentage of salaries from 30.03% in Fiscal Year 2017 to
32.57% in Fiscal Year 2018; (2) increases in non-District operated schools and Charter Schools of

A-40



$77.0 million; (3) increase of $17.5 million as a reserve against the proposed elimination of Title
II funding; (4) increase of $29.9 million in transportation, alternative education contracts, and all
other non-personnel areas. Other Financing Uses declined in the FY 2018 Adopted Operating
Budget by $1,315.9 million due to non-recurring refinancing uses of funds.

Subsequent Events. After budget adoption, the District reached labor agreements with the
Philadelphia Federation of Teachers (PFT), Commonwealth Association of School Administrators
(CASA), and School Police Association of Philadelphia (SPAP) labor unions. These contracts
resulted in a net ($36.2) million negative fund balance impact over the FY 2018 Adopted Budget,
which is a result of increased salary and benefit expenditures partially offset by corresponding
State revenue reimbursements and elimination of investments included in the Adopted Budget
(hold harmless at leveling for grades K-3, and elimination of 1st and 2nd grade combined classes).

Fiscal Year 2018 Amended Operating Budget. On May 24, 2018, the School Reform
Commission amended the Operating Budget for Fiscal Year 2018 with anticipated revenues and
other financing sources of $3,010.9 million, expenditures and other financing uses of $2,972.3

million, and transfers from reserves of negative ($14.7) million resulting in a projected positive
$148.6 million ending fund balance on June 30, 2018.

Fiscal Year 2018 — Actual. The School District ended Fiscal Year 2018 with a $169.5
million positive fund balance representing a $20.8 million surplus over the Fiscal Year 2018
Amended Budget. The surplus can be attributed primarily to: (1) higher than budgeted local
revenue totaling $16.8 million over the Fiscal Year 2018 Amended Budget, made up of $11.5
million in local tax revenue and $5.2 million in local non-tax revenue; (2) higher than budgeted
state revenues of $2.6 million over the Fiscal Year 2018 Amended Budget; and (3) $1.5 million of
reduced expenditures relative to the Fiscal Year 2018 Amended Budget.

Subsequent Events. The School Reform Commission (SRC) dissolved, based on a
resolution adopted on November 16, 2017, recommending that the Secretary of Education issue a
declaration that the District was no longer distressed and therefore no longer required SRC control.
A Board of Education was created, members were appointed by the Mayor, and local governance
through the Board was assumed on July 1, 2018.

Additionally, in December 2018, Moody’s upgraded the District’s underlying bond rating
by two notches to Baa3 and set the outlook at Stable. This marked the first time the District has
had an unenhanced investment grade rating from Moody’s since 1977.

Fiscal Year 2019 Adopted Operating Budget. On May 24, 2018, the Board adopted the
Operating Budget for Fiscal Year 2019 with anticipated revenues and other financing sources of
$3,188.3 million, expenditures and other financing uses of $3,129.6 million, transfers from
reserves of $4.6 million, and $17.5 million in reserve for potential federal funding cuts to Title II,
resulting in a projected $194.6 million ending fund balance on June 30, 2019.

Revenues increased by $177.4 million from the revenues in the Fiscal Year 2018 Amended
Operating Budget due to the following changes: (1) Local Tax Revenues increased by $88.8
million due primarily to an increase of $90.9 million in real estate taxes due to a proposed increase
in the Mayor’s proposed budget and an increase in liquor sales tax of $2.4 million, partially offset
by a reduction in business use and occupancy tax and school income tax of ($3.1) million and
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($1.6) million respectively, (2) Local Non-Tax Revenues increased by $67.3 million due to a $68.7
million increase in the contribution from the City, and offset by a reduction of ($1.3) million from
the Parking Authority Contribution, (3) State Revenues increased by $24.1 million, primarily due
to a $7.0 million increase in net Basic Education subsidy, a $3.1 million increase in the Special
Education subsidy, a $8.9 million increase in debt service subsidy, a $9.9 million increase in
Transportation Reimbursement, and a $8.4 million increase in retirement reimbursements from
higher employer contribution rates, offset by a $14.5 million decrease in Act 89 revenues which
were moved to categorical funds.

Expenditures increased by $157.2 million in the FY 2019 Adopted Operating Budget from
the expenditures in the Fiscal Year 2018 Amended Operating Budget (excluding refunding)
primarily due to: (1) a $39.7 million increase in salaries and benefits which included additional
employees related to investments, a budgeted increase for labor contracts, and an increase in
Employer contributions for Retirement (PSERS) rate as a percentage of salaries; (2) a $87.6
million increase in Charter Schools payments; and (3) an increase in debt service of $28.0 million.

Fiscal Year 2019 Amended Operating Budget. On May 30, 2019, the Board amended the
Operating Budget for Fiscal Year 2019 with anticipated revenues and other financing sources of
$3,175.5 million, expenditures and other financing uses of $3,147.0 million, and transfers from

reserves of $4.6 million, resulting in a projected positive $206.8 million ending fund balance on
June 30, 2019.

Fiscal Year 2019 Actual. The School District ended Fiscal Year 2019 with a $222.6 million
positive fund balance representing a $15.8 million surplus over the Fiscal Year 2019 Amended
Budget. The surplus can be attributed primarily to: (1) higher than budgeted local revenue totaling
$11.2 million over the Fiscal Year 2019 Amended Budget, made up of $7.3 million in local tax
revenue and $3.9 million in local non-tax revenue; (2) higher than budgeted state revenues of $2
million over the Fiscal Year 2019 Amended Budget; (3) $3.2 million of increased expenditures
relative to the Fiscal Year 2019 Amended Budget; and (4) $5.1 million increase in the adjustment
of Prior Year Fund Balance relative to the Fiscal Year 2019 Amended Budget.

Fiscal Year 2020 Adopted Operating Budget. On May 30, 2019, the Board adopted the
Operating Budget for Fiscal Year 2020 with anticipated revenues and other financing sources of
$3,340.7 million, expenditures and other financing uses of $3,382.3 million, and transfers from
reserves of negative ($13.3) million, resulting in a projected $151.9 million ending fund balance
on June 30, 2020.

Revenues and other sources were budgeted to increase by $165.2 million from the revenues
and other sources in the Fiscal Year 2019 Amended Operating Budget due to the following
changes: (1) Local Tax Revenues increased by $8.8 million due primarily to an increase of $7.3
million in real estate taxes, an increase of $1.4 million in school income tax and an $2.6 million
increase in liquor sales tax, partially offset by a ($1.4) million reduction in business use and
occupancy tax, and a ($1.1) million reduction in rideshare revenue, (2) Local Non-Tax Revenues
increased by $28.4 million due primarily to a $33.1 million increase in the contribution from the
City, partially offset by a ($2.8) million reduction in interest earnings, and a net ($1.9) million
reduction in all other areas, (3) State Revenues increased by $126.2 million due primarily to a
$78.3 million increase in net Basic Education subsidy, of which $40.4 million was from the shift
of the Ready to Learn Grant to Operating based on the Governor’s proposed budget, $9.8 million
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in the Special Education subsidy, $23.9 million increase in PSERS and Social Security
reimbursement, and $8.9 million in debt service reimbursement.

Expenditures and other uses increased by $235.3 million from the expenditures and other
uses in the Fiscal Year 2019 Amended Operating Budget due primarily to a $114.1 million increase
in salaries and benefits from additional headcount related to investments, a budgeted increase for
labor contracts, and an increase in Employer contributions for Retirement (PSERS) rate as a
percentage of salaries and $105.1 million of increases in charter school payments.

Subsequent Events. The Governor’s proposed budget, which was the basis for the Fiscal
Year 2020 Adopted Commonwealth Operating budget, shifted the Ready to Learn Grant
(categorical funds) to the Basic Education subsidy (operating funds). At State budget adoption, the
Ready to Learn was maintained as a grant and not included in the Basic Education subsidy.
Therefore, the Basic Education subsidy was reduced by $40.4 million with the total amount shifted
back to the pre-existing Ready to Learn Grant. This was not a reduction in overall State revenues
to the District, only a shift in the mix of Operating and Grant fund revenue.

In July 2019, the Philadelphia Court of Common Pleas ordered the City and the District to
provide nearly $35 million in tax rebates to commercial real-estate owners located in Philadelphia
because they prevailed in a consolidated challenge to the City of Philadelphia’s commercial
property assessment practices. In July 2021, the Commonwealth affirmed the trial court’s decision.
If the Commonwealth court’s ruling stands, it would have an estimated $35 million negative
impact on the District. The judgment as it currently stands would have an adverse effect on the
District’s future finances (it represents a potential loss of more than sixteen percent of the District’s
estimated FY 2020 ending Fund Balance). The City moved for reconsideration and re-argument.
On September 28, 2021, the Commonwealth Court denied the City’s motion for re-argument
exhausting the City’s final avenue of appeal by right. Presently the City and the District are
evaluating the merits of seeking leave to appeal these rulings to the Supreme Court of
Pennsylvania, a petition to do so being due by October 28, 2021. If leave to appeal is denied, the
stay on enforcing the judgment would be automatically lifted and the District’s revenue for the
next tax year would be reduced by the amount of the credits issued by the City to satisfy the
judgment. See “LEGAL PROCEEDINGS — Litigation — Duffield House Assocs., et al v. City of
Phila., et al.” herein.

In March 2020, the global pandemic disrupted School District operations. As a result of
the shutdown, the District incurred additional expenses in certain areas, but also saw expense
reductions in other areas. Schools were closed after March 13, 2020 by order of the Governor, and
the District developed a new system for delivering educational services via distance learning
platforms. The pandemic also disrupted and reduced certain District revenue sources, including
liquor sale tax and Use and Occupancy tax revenues. The Commonwealth passed Act 751 which
guaranteed that State subsidies would not be reduced throughout FY 20, waived certain
educational requirements, and provided guidance as to what activities must continue.

Fiscal Year 2020 Amended Operating Budget. On May 28, 2020, the Board approved an
amended Operating Budget for Fiscal Year 2020 with anticipated revenues excluding other
financing sources of $3,267.1 million, and anticipated expenditures and other financing uses,
excluding refunding, of $3,298.2 million. When including the net impact of refunding of negative
($1.8) million, transfers from reserves of negative ($13.3) million, and a ($25.0) million reserve

A-43



for facilities, the District projected to end the year with a positive $159.0 million ending fund
balance on June 30, 2020.

Fiscal Year 2020 Actual. The School District ended Fiscal Year 2020 with a $172.8 million
positive fund balance representing a $13.9 million surplus over the Fiscal Year 2020 Amended
Budget. The surplus can be attributed primarily to $14.0 million of reduced expenditures relative
to the Fiscal Year 2020 Amended Budget. These reduced expenditures were primarily due to a
$17.3 million reduction in District-Operated schools, a $3.4 million decrease in charter school and
charter transportation expenditures, and a $4.5 million decrease in Other Non-District Operated
Schools expenditures, partially offset by increased expenditures associated with Debt Service.

Fiscal Year 2021 Adopted Operating Budget. On May 28, 2020, the Board approved an
Operating Budget for Fiscal Year 2021 with anticipated revenues and other financing sources of
$3,401.9 million, expenditures and other financing uses of $3,526.2 million, and net transfers from
reserves of negative ($0.8 million), and use of fund balance of $125.1 million, resulting in a
projected positive $33.8 million ending fund balance on June 30, 2021.

Subsequent Events. The COVID-19 pandemic affected the School District. Liquor Tax
collections were approximately half of the FY 2021 adopted budget estimates. Some planned
expenditures were reduced as school buildings were closed, while the District saw increased
spending on technology for students and staff, personal protective equipment (PPE), increased
cleaning, and payments to cyber charter schools.

Subsequent to the adoption of the FY 2021 Budget, the federal government enacted
legislation related to the COVID-19 pandemic that included funding of over $1 billion to the
School District. These funds are anticipated to be used in FY 2021 through FY 2024 to support
certain costs related to student learning recovery, provide social and emotional supports, improve
District facilities, and maintain operations. The actual flow of funds from the federal relief
revenues remains unknown, as the funds are provided on a reimbursement basis, and grant
agreements have not yet been finalized with the Commonwealth.

Fiscal Year 2021 Amended Operating Budget. On May 27, 2021, the Board approved an
Amended Operating Budget for Fiscal Year 2021. The Amended Operating Budget did not include
the new federal relief funds but the School District intended to use those funds for new investments
to support students and to sustain operations. Therefore, the numbers reported here are inclusive
of the District’s new federal relief funds.

The Operating and federal relief fund amended budget includes anticipated revenues,
including other financing sources, of $3,455.9 million, and anticipated expenditures and other
financing uses, excluding refunding, of $3,493.5 million. When including net transfers from
reserves of negative ($0.8) million, the District was projected to end FY 2021 with a positive
$134.4 million ending fund balance on June 30, 2021.

Subsequent Events. On August 13, 2021, the District released its FY 2021 4" Quarter
School Manager Report, which included updated projections for FY 2021. The Quarterly Report
included anticipated final revenues and other financing sources of $3,473.1 million and anticipated
final expenditures and other financing uses of $3,457.2 million, resulting in a projected year-end
fund balance of $188.0 million. This anticipated fund balance increase of $53.6 million relative to
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the FY 2021 Amended Budget is due primarily to $17.3 million of increased revenues, driven by
higher than anticipated local revenues, and expenditure savings of $36.3 million.

Fiscal Year 2022 Adopted Operating Budget. On May 27, 2021, the Board approved an
adopted Operating Budget for Fiscal Year 2022. The Operating Budget did not include the new
federal relief funds but the School District expects to use a portion of these funds o for new
investments to support students and to sustain operations. Therefore, the numbers reported here
are inclusive of the District’s new federal relief funds.

The Adopted Operating Budget includes operating revenues, federal COVID-19 relief
funds, and other financing sources totaling $4,076.3 million, and anticipated expenditures and
other financing uses, excluding refunding, of $3,926.0 million. When including net transfers from
reserves of negative ($0.8) million, the District is projected to end FY 2022 with a positive $283.9
million ending fund balance on June 30, 2022.

This represents a revenue and other financing sources increase of $620.4 million and an
expenditure and other financing uses increase of $432.6 million over the FY 2021 Amended
Budget. The proposed revenue increase results primarily from the new federal relief funds. The
expenditure increase is primarily in District Operated Schools, as the District is directing its federal
relief funds to support students with learning recovery, social and emotional supports, and facilities
improvements.

No assurances can be provided that such budget, as adopted, may not be materially
amended subsequently.

Subsequent Events. At State Budget adoption, the Basic Education subsidy for the School
District of Philadelphia was increased to $1,224.1 million from the District’s adopted budget
projection of $1,158.3 million, an increase of $65.8 million. Additionally, the State’s adopted
budget included a Special Education Subsidy of $162.6 million, which was an $8.4 million
increase above the District’s FY 2022 adopted budget Special Education Subsidy of $154.2
million.

SCHOOL DISTRICT OPERATIONS

The School District is the eighth largest district in the nation based on enrollment data,
with over 202,940 pupils in Fiscal Year 2021, including approximately 79,401 students attending
both brick and mortar and cyber charter schools, and approximately 2,960 students in alternative
schools.

School Organization

The Fiscal Year 2021 organizational structure for the School District includes 215 public
schools comprised of the following: 48 elementary schools; 99 K-8 schools; 14 middle schools; 1
K-12 school; and 53 high schools (seven of which serve lower grades). Additionally, there are
currently 86 charter schools and 25 alternative educational schools and programs.

In an effort to advance the School District’s vision for all children to have a great school
close to where they live, the District launched a multi-year Comprehensive School Planning

A-45



Review (CSPR). Beginning in fall 2019, the District partnered with industry experts to take a
strategic, system-wide look at how populations and communities across our city are projected to
change in the coming years. The overall goal is for the District to design schools in every
neighborhood that meet the educational needs of the changing population by:

e optimizing utilization of School District buildings to ensure students have access to a high-
quality school close to where they live

e investing limited capital dollars where needed most, and

e creating thoughtful transitions for students at elementary and middle grades.

The review is being conducted in four cycles with each focusing on different areas of the City.
Information gained during each review cycle will be combined with school performance and
building quality data to guide recommendations to the Superintendent and Board. The District is
committed to the collaborative development of options that balance the desires of the students and
families in each study area with its overarching responsibility to do what is best for all learners.

Enrollment

The School District’s Performance Office, Office of Talent Administration, and Office of
Management and Budget monitor enrollment trends and prepare enrollment projections for future
planning purposes. These projections are based upon actual birth rate numbers from the
Philadelphia Department of Vital Statistics and historical enrollment trends for the School District.

Although the number of school age children in Philadelphia has been dropping gradually
over the past two decades, certain areas of the City experienced higher enrollment levels than other
parts as evidenced by data published in accordance with the 2010 Census. Currently,
approximately 39% of public school students have exited traditional public schools and opted to
enroll in charter and cyber charter schools. See “SCHOOL DISTRICT OPERATIONS — Charter
Schools” herein. The School District continues to take steps to alleviate the overcrowding in
certain areas of the City by the use of leased facilities, construction of primary grade annexes, and
the reconfiguration of various school facilities throughout the City.

The following table sets forth the actual fall enrollment by grade in the School District
for the academic school years 2016-17 to 2020-21:
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THE SCHOOL DISTRICT OF PHILADELPHIA
Fall Enrollment

2016-17 through 2020-21

Grade
2017-2018 2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021
K 10,790 10,331 9,881 7,143
1 11,249 10,865 10,299 9,515
2 11,331 10,807 10,345 9,771
3 11,260 10,994 10,373 9,872
4 11,287 10,990 10,473 9,925
5 10,616 10,624 10,093 9,672
6 9,359 9,839 9,631 9,150
7 9,005 8,950 9,578 9,239
8 8,531 8,783 8,789 9,253
9 9,686 9,951 10,033 9,827
10 9,385 8,962 9,242 9,548
11 7,975 8,102 8,054 8,344
12 7,166 7,245 7,393 7,596
Ungraded -- -- -
Subtotal 127,640 126,443 124,184 118,855
Alternative 4,013 3,854 3,207 2,956
Education
PA Virtual 462 551 507 637
Academy
Total Public 132,115 130,848 127,898 122,448
Schools
Charters 64,999 66,153 67,699 68,364
Cyber Charters 5,424 6,224 7,677 9,481
Non-Philadelphia 1,106 1,289 1,867 1,556
Charter
Total Charters 71,529 73,666 77,243 79,401
Total (a) 203,644 204,514 205,141 201,849

(a) Figures do not include students enrolled in non-public schools and Intermediate Unit #26.

Sources: District Performance Office; Office of Talent; and Office of Management and
Budget.
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Curriculum and Instruction

The Office of Curriculum and Instruction (C&I) encompasses several departments,
including Multilingual Curriculum and Programs and Arts and Creative Learning. The Office of
Curriculum and Instruction supports the development, implementation, and progress monitoring
of high-quality, standards-aligned, culturally and linguistically inclusive instruction. Significant
enhancements have been made to curriculum and instructional guidance for teachers and school
leaders. All of these instructional enhancements culminated with the creation of an Academic
Framework. The Academic Framework is an all-inclusive resource that contains content-specific
academic expectations and essential practices to support educators in making instructional
decisions. The Academic Framework actualizes our commitment to cultural and linguistic
inclusivity, standards alignment, equity-based MTSS, and serving English Learners & students
with special needs.

The Academic Framework

The Academic Framework provides high quality instructional guidance backed by educational
research and best practices. The Academic Framework includes:

e expectations for the instructional block for math and ELA
e access to the curriculum units for math and ELA
e amenu of options for determining tier 2 and tier 3 supports for students

o essential practices for making learning accessible to all students, particularly students with
IEPs and English learners

o guidance for developing instructional routines and a classroom environment that supports
a culture of learning in a safe and welcoming space

o explicit connections between assessments and implementation of the instructional
expectations

e provides a clear description of what successful implementation of instructional
expectations looks like

In addition, the Academic Framework is aligned to the Board of Education’s Goals &
Guardrails. The Goals set the expectation for what students can do, measure student outcomes in
reading, math, and college and career readiness while the Guardrails stipulate the non-negotiable
conditions that must exist in schools in order to reach our Goals.

Culturally & Linguistically Inclusive Foundation

With a shared commitment to dismantling racist systems and providing equitable learning
experiences, the School District of Philadelphia in partnership with students, educators, families,
and community members, developed the Culturally and Linguistically Inclusive Foundation
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(CLIF). The CLIF serves as a guide for students, families, school-based and district-level staff,
community members, and partners for creating learning environments that:

o affirm racial, linguistic, and cultural identities

o develop stakeholders’ abilities to connect across lines of differences
o clevate historically marginalized voices

o empower stakeholders as agents of social change

e prepare all students for rigor and independent learning

The CLIF features four strategic principles around curriculum and instructional resources,
professional learning, grading and progress monitoring, and teaching and learning. These
principles promote culturally and linguistically responsive education in order to meet the diverse
needs of all students, families, and communities we serve.

Multilingual Curriculum & Programs

The Office of Multilingual and Programs (OMCP) supports instructional programs to
approximately 15,000 English Learners (ELs) across the School District. The education of ELs is
a shared responsibility; therefore, OMCP works with all educators to ensure ELs have access to
grade-level curriculum and standards as well as instruction to support academic language
development in English. To accomplish this, there are a variety of instructional programs in place
including English as a Second Language (ESL) in more than 100 schools, bilingual programs in
six elementary schools, and one Newcomer Learning Academy (NLA) for ELs in high school with
significant gaps in formal education.

The Arts & Creative Learning

The Office of The Arts & Creative Learning provides multiple learning opportunities that
ensure a high quality well-rounded education for every student in the District by: (1) providing a
curriculum that is rigorous, standards driven, guided by the individual learning needs, rich cultural
heritages, and the diverse perspectives of each student; (2) providing professional development to
teachers and school leaders in Art, Music Theater, and Dance (3) providing in and out of school
enrichment and extra-curricular opportunities for students through a shared delivery model
including School District educators and community partners.

Art Education. The School District offers a rigorous art education program taught by
certified PreK-12 Visual Arts specialists. The arts promote creative problem-solving skills and
lead students to discover that there can be multiple answers to a problem. Developing this skill set
encourages students to think creatively, become innovators and have the confidence in their ability
to compete in the 21st Century workforce. The visual arts program through traditional and digital
art media, facilitates learning in and through the arts for children Pre-K through Grade 12. In FY
2021 there were over 200 Art Specialists teaching throughout the District, some serving in more
than one school.

Theatre Education. The School District offers arts credit for theatre education courses in
many District high schools. Certified Communications/English teachers 7-12 teach these courses.
The State of Pennsylvania passed a Theatre Endorsement in May 2015 to ensure quality theatre
programs in our schools. PreK-6 grade theatre classes are available in some schools within
individual classrooms. Theatre productions are encouraged as a creative art form in School District

A-49



schools. Community Theatre partners work with our teachers and schools to enhance the theatre
arts.

Dance Education. The School District offers arts credits for dance education courses in
several high schools taught by certified Vocational Dance, Physical Education and
Communications teachers. The State of Pennsylvania passed a Creative Movement Endorsement
in December 2015 as a guide to address a set of competencies relative to creative movement
courses and is currently pursuing a unified State Dance Certification. Community Dance partners
work with School District teachers and schools to enhance and encourage the art of creative
movement and dance.

Music Education. The School District continues its long-standing tradition of excellence
in music education while establishing itself as a recognized leader in innovative practices, striving
to provide opportunities for all students in grades Prek-12 with opportunities to enjoy the benefits
of participating in learning music as part of a "well-rounded" education. In FY 2021, 154 music
teachers facilitated music education in district schools through rostered programs and classes, with
an additional 70 itinerant Class Instrumental Music Teachers serving 196 schools each week
offering small group instruction. Programs include an emphasis on culturally relevant music and
ensembles and exposure to career opportunities in the Music Industry.

Health, Safety and Physical Education Curriculum and Programs

The Office of Health, Safety, and Physical Education focuses much of its Health and
Physical Education curriculum on preventing and delaying chronic diseases, reducing risk factors,
and promoting healthy decision making, fitness and wellness in children. Students are taught a
comprehensive Health curriculum and a fitness and skills-based Physical Education curriculum.
There are over 320 certified Health and Physical Education teachers providing instruction in
Philadelphia public schools.

The School District implements a K-12 Healthy Behaviors/Sexual Health Education
curriculum. It is a progression-based, comprehensive curriculum. In its high schools, the Health
Education teachers are providing the state mandated Hands Only CPR curriculum supplied and
supported by the American Heart Association and Youth Heart Watch. The School District’s
commitment to improving Health Literacy is evidenced by the Chief Academics Office statement
of expected instructional minutes: grades K-3 receive 30 minutes/week of Health instruction, while
grades 4-8 are rostered for 45 minutes/week of Health. Additionally, 6th-8th grade students receive
Health Education instruction provided by a certified Health and Physical Education teacher.

All School District schools are offered a variety of nutrition education services and
programs for students and caregivers. The Eat.Right.Philly program is a partnership with six
organizations who, along with the School District, receive Supplemental Nutrition Assistance
Program Education federal funding, to foster behavioral changes related to nutrition and physical
activity including the importance of healthy lifestyle choices.

The Office of Health, Safety, and Physical Education manages the First Aid/CPR/AED
certification training for district employees who are Health and Physical Education teachers and
high school/middle school athletic coaches. During the 2021-22 school year, we intend to expand
our capacity to train district employees by supporting internal candidates to become Train the
Trainers and Instructors for American Red Cross courses.
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The office also collaborates with a number of partners to supplement instructional
opportunities. Some of the relationships with partner organizations include: the American Heart
Association, American Red Cross, Special Olympics Unified programs, The Food Trust,
Philadelphia Eagles Mobile Junior Pro, Activity Works movement breaks program, Youth Heart
Watch, Think AED and Keeping the Beat CPR/AED programs, the Centers for Disease Control
HIV/Teen Pregnancy Prevention programs, the Philadelphia Department of Public Health Get
Healthy Philly program and many more. Additionally, the office also serves as liaison between the
Drivers Education classroom training at Penn Treaty High School and the Department of
Education.

Career and Technical Education

The mission of the Office of Career and Technical Education (CTE) is to deliver the highest
quality CTE programs that provide students with the opportunity to acquire challenging academic
and technical skills, and thus, be prepared for the high-skill, high wage, and high priority
occupations in the global economy. Currently, the School District operates five (5) CTE schools
and 120 CTE Programs with close to 6,000 students. CTE programs are also offered in an
additional 29 comprehensive and special admission high schools. During the 2020-2021 school
year, only a limited number of students were able to earn industry certifications as a result of
building closures required by the Governor’s COVID-19 stay-at-home order.

CTE Programs of Study (POS) incorporate secondary and post-secondary education
elements that include rigorous content aligned with challenging academic instruction and relevant
career and technical competency attainment to adequately prepare students to succeed in post-
secondary education, technical training centers, apprenticeships, or entry into careers with industry
certifications. The School District of Philadelphia’s Career and Technical Education offerings
include agriculture, culinary arts, business, construction, advanced manufacturing,
communication, information technology, transportation and health, education, and personal care.

In an effort to ensure that the highest quality CTE programming is provided to our students
and aligned with workforce and economic development needs, the Office of Career and Technical
Education seeks advice from subject-matter experts from both business and community
stakeholders. These meaningful partnerships, which include representatives from business,
industry, organized labor, Philadelphia Workforce Investment Board, economic development
agencies, community-based organizations, and post-secondary education, provide for informed
decision-making regarding the improvement in the overall quality of current CTE programs, as
well as new and emerging 21st century occupations for which education should be provided.

Postsecondary Readiness

The Office of Postsecondary Readiness (OPSR) promotes postsecondary awareness,
exposure, and immersion in grades Pre-K through 12. OPSR aims to prepare students with the
knowledge, skills, and tools needed to succeed in college, career, and life after high school. Each
program and initiative play an important role in supporting schools, students, families, and
partners.

This further aligns with the School District’s mission to “ensure that all students are given
an education that allows them to thrive, succeed and lead in a global society”, and “all children are
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capable of reaching their fullest potential, and they deserve a safe and nurturing school community
where they are valued, respected and encouraged” (School District of Philadelphia, 2020).

The key components of postsecondary readiness are centered on five Areas of Focus:

e Career Readiness Standard - The standard includes identifying, building, and navigating
future career pathways by increasing students’ understanding of the knowledge, skills, and
abilities necessary to be successful, and the integration of the standard(s) into the core
curriculum.

¢ On-Track to Graduation - Our focus in this area is on support for 9th Grade Academies,
academic advising, Career and Technical Education (CTE) retention and completion, credit
recovery, and support for student-athletes and special populations. This is inclusive of
English Language Learners (ELL), and students with Special Needs (SPED), and
Individualized Education Plans (IEP’s).

¢ Rigorous Coursework - The focus here is on fostering students’ leverage of Advanced
Placement courses, Dual Enrollment opportunities, International Baccalaureate programs,
Senior Year Only Programs, and Industry skill articulation through Career and Technical
Education in preparation to pursue various pathways after graduation.

e Postsecondary Transition - The emphasis here is on the transition to high school,
grounded in K-8 exposure to career pathways, summer transition, and support. This also
includes support in the transition from high school into postsecondary education, including
college and career pathway exposure and immersion.

¢ Industry & Work Based Learning - This area encompasses support for high quality CTE
programming, administration of NOCTI examinations, Career Connected Learning,
alternative opportunities in meeting graduation requirements, and opportunities for earning
industry certifications.

Alternative Education

The School District offers a variety of multiple pathways for students to earn their high
school diploma including 15 accelerated high school programs (over-age/under-credited), four
Continuation or Transition (disciplinary) school programs, four evening high school diploma
programs for adults and one dual-enrollment program (Gateway to College). These programs are
operated either by the School District or in partnership with an outside provider. The School
District also oversees two placement and support centers and operates two schools within Juvenile
Justice facilities in the City of Philadelphia.

Specialized Services
The School District is the public school system (IU26) for approximately 35,871students
identified and eligible to receive special education supports and services pursuant to the

Individuals with Disabilities Act (IDEA) and the Pennsylvania regulations as of the 2020-2021
school year.

The School District provides special education services to its students in 215 brick and
mortar buildings as well as a virtual academy. Approximately 21,871 students with disabilities
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are enrolled in School District programs. The educational portfolio also contains and provides a
charter school opportunity for parents and students in the form of over 87 authorized charter
schools. There are approximately 14,000 students with disabilities attending charter schools in the
City.

The Office of Specialized Services (OSS) provides operational and programmatic support
to schools in a variety of ways to meet the needs of students with disabilities under IDEA.
Specifically, OSS provides technological and consultative support to all schools and charter
schools in the context of mandated regulatory reporting. In addition, program specific support is
provided through the development, opening, staffing, academic materials, and equipment
purchases for specialized settings. Research validated interventions are provided and training
supplied for those staff working with students whose needs require the use of an intervention as
part of the educational program.

Technical assistance and consultative service is provided to school teams in the areas of:
behavioral support; inclusive practices; transition services; meeting student needs through IEP
goals and specially designed instruction specific to the learner with intellectual disability; autism;
blindness or visual impairment; deafness or hearing impairment; emotional disturbance; traumatic
brain injury, other health impairments, multiple disabilities, orthopedic impairments, speech and
language impairment, and specific learning disabilities. Evaluation services are provided to
students by 126+ certified school psychologists who also support building staff responding to
struggling learners and those in crisis. Students with fine and/or gross motor deficits receive
support through occupational and physical therapy staff who are deployed by OSS as are itinerant
vision and hearing therapists. For students with communication challenges, OSS provides assistive
technology evaluations and augmentative communication devices along with speech and language
support to remediate articulation deficits, stuttering and expressive and receptive communication
delays.

The provisions of IDEA allow for students with disabilities to be educated in the public
school setting by meeting graduation requirements up to and through the age of 21 if necessary.
For many students this provides an opportunity to spend time exploring and preparing for the world
of work, vocation, and independent or supported living. An array of transition services and
supports are provided to school teams for these students and include: itinerant vocational teachers,
work opportunities in school and the community, travel training, and independent living skills.

Some Philadelphia students have needs that require a program response that is more
structured and intense. For these students the District provides a placement in a more restrictive
setting that may be located in Philadelphia or in a neighboring county. OSS continues to monitor
the progress of these students, participates in IEP teams, and re-evaluates these students consistent
with the regulatory requirements.

A large number of students with disabilities require additional learning opportunities
beyond the 180-day school calendar. OSS organizes and staffs this additional learning experience
referred to as extended school year (ESY) services. OSS identifies school sites, arranges
transportation, moves materials and equipment, trains and organizes staff and ensures that all
materials and equipment are transported to the appropriate locations for the ESY experience.
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OSS supports the provision of specialized transportation for students with disabilities by
funding additional adult support or an alternative mode of travel if this is needed for the student to
be safely transported to and from school.

Parent engagement is a critical component of IDEA and a successful school experience.
OSS provides parent training through a parent coordinator and linkages to parent advocacy groups.

Charter Schools

The General Assembly enacted legislation, Act No. 1997-22 (“Charter School Law”), on
June 19, 1997, to amend the School Code to provide for the establishment of charter schools. Since
1997, there have been a limited number of amendments to the Charter School Law. In December
2017, the Charter School Law was amended to add provisions concerning multiple charter school
organizations (“MCSQ’s”) to enable academically high performing charter schools to consolidate
to form MCSOs after approval from the local school district and PDE. PDE released the MCSO
application form in early February 2018. As of August 19,2021, no MCSOs have been approved.

Charter schools are independently operated schools that are publicly funded. Monthly
payments for each student enrolled in an approved charter school are made by the school district
of the student’s residence to the charter school based on a formula in the Charter School Law. The
annual payment rate per student differs based upon whether the student is a regular education
student or a special education student. The Charter School Law permits a charter school to apply
directly to the Secretary of Education to request payment from state subsidy payments otherwise
due to the applicable school district in the event the charter school claims the school district did
not pay the charter school the correct amount for the students the charter school claims are enrolled
in the charter school. The Charter School Law requires the Secretary to withhold amounts
requested by charter schools from school district subsidies and hold a hearing if a school district
objects to the charter school’s request for payment; however, only a limited number of
administrative hearings before PDE have proceeded.

The School District is the largest charter school authorizer in the Commonwealth. Nearly
37% of Philadelphia’s students attend a variety of charter schools: (i) charter schools authorized
by the SRC and the Board consisting of standard brick and mortar charter schools and Renaissance
Charter Schools, which are schools formerly operated by the School District that have been
converted to charter schools; (i) cyber charter schools authorized by PDE; and (iii) charter schools
located outside of Philadelphia County. The Board has the authority to grant new charters, and to
revoke or non-renew the charters of operating charter schools within Philadelphia’s
boundaries. Additionally, the Board has considered amendment requests submitted by charter
schools, including requests for changes in (generally increases to) contractually agreed-to
maximum authorized enrollments and changes in facility location. See “THE SCHOOL
DISTRICT OF PHILADELPHIA — Board of Education,” herein.

At the commencement of the 2021-22 school year, there were 85 brick and mortar charter
schools in operation in Philadelphia. Two charter schools closed at the end of the 2018-19 school
year, and one charter school closed at the end of the 2019-20 school year. One operating charter
school merged into another operating charter school managed by the same management company
in the 2020-21 school year.
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Renaissance Charter Schools. As part of its strategic plan, beginning in 2010, the School
District embarked on a reform initiative, the Renaissance Schools Initiative, to identify chronically
under-performing School District operated schools and transform them into high-achieving
schools through conversion into Renaissance Charter Schools. Renaissance Charter Schools are
managed by third-party educational services organizations or charter management
organizations. In the 2020-21 school year, there are 21 Renaissance Charter Schools. These
schools include a mixture of elementary, middle and high schools. The process to convert School
District schools into Renaissance Charter Schools involves soliciting proposals and Renaissance
Charter applications from educational services organizations or charter management organizations
that have a proven track record of academic improvement and achievement through a Request for
Proposals process. All Renaissance Charter Schools remain neighborhood schools, and are
required to accept and enroll students already attending the school prior to conversion to a charter
school and/or who reside within school catchment areas up to the maximum authorized enrollment
in the Renaissance Charter School's charter.

Cyber Charter Schools and Non-Philadelphia Charter Schools. Cyber charter schools,
which are authorized by PDE, primarily provide educational programs through the internet or other
electronic means. Additionally, a limited number of students in Philadelphia choose to attend
charter schools operated outside of Philadelphia.

For the 2020-21 school year, it is estimated that approximately 10,874 Philadelphia
students were enrolled in cyber charter schools and that approximately 1,678 Philadelphia students
were enrolled in nine brick and mortar charter schools located outside of the City. The School
District’s total payments for all charter schools for the 2020-21 fiscal year are projected to be
approximately $1,160 million. Under the Charter School Law, school districts are required to
provide certain transportation for charter school students. The costs of transportation for charter
school students for the School District during the 2020-21 fiscal year are estimated to be
approximately $28 million.

The following table shows by year, the number of new charter school openings and total
charter schools in operation in Philadelphia, exclusive of cyber charter schools:

SCHOOL NEW TOTAL SCHOOL NEW TOTAL
YEAR CHARTERS CHARTERS YEAR CHARTERS CHARTERS
IN IN
OPERATION OPERATION
1999-00 12 25 2010-11 7 74
2000-01 9 34 2011-12 6 80
2001-02 5 39 2012-13 4 84*
2002-03 7 46 2013-14 3 86
2003-04 3 48* 2014-15 0 84*
2004-05 4 52 2015-16 1 83
2005-06 3 55 2016-17 6 86
2006-07 1 56 2017-18 0 84*
2007-08 5 61 2018-19 3 87
2008-09 2 63 2019-20 2 87
2009-10 6 67* 2020-21 0 86

A-55



* One charter school closed in 2004, two in 2009-10, one in 2013, two in 2014, two in 2015, three in 2016, two
in 2017, one in 2018, and two in 2019.

New Charter School Applications. House Bill 1177, approved in September 2014, required
the School District in November 2014 to accept new charter applications for the first time in seven
years. In November 2017, the Charter Schools Office accepted nine applications for new charter
schools; however, two of these applications were withdrawn by the applicants prior to
consideration by the former SRC. In February, 2018, the SRC conditionally approved one
application for a new charter school and denied the six other active applications. In February 2019,
the Board denied three applications for new charter schools. In February 2020, the Board denied
two applications for new charter schools. In March, 2021, the Board denied five applications for
new charter schools. The Charter School Law allows for resubmission of a denied new charter
application and for applicants to appeal denials of applications to the State Charter School Appeal
Board (“CAB”). Decisions of the CAB can be appealed to the Commonwealth Court. To be
eligible for an appeal, an applicant must obtain signatures of at least two per centum of the residents
of the school district or of one thousand (1,000) residents, whichever is less, and obtain a
determination by the court of common pleas that the signatures are sufficient to perfect an appeal
to CAB. An applicant for one of the applications denied in February 2020 submitted a signature
petition to the court, and the court determined the signatures were sufficient. The District has
appealed the court decision.

Planning and Evidence-based Support Office (PESO): Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA)

The Pennsylvania ESSA Consolidated Plan was approved by the U.S. Department of
Education thereby ushering in new accountability measures for the Local Education Agencies. The
School Performance Profile (SPP) is used to support Educator Effectiveness ratings and The Future
Ready Index dashboard reports Local Education Agency achievements in student proficiency and
growth, English language acquisition, graduation and post-graduation success, student access to
Advanced Placement (AP), International Baccalaureate (IB), college credit and CTE courses and
career pathways with industry credentials.

New State accountability systems (and related interventions) took effect in school year
2018-19. In Fall 2018 under the new ESSA legislation, 43 School District schools were identified
as Comprehensive Support and Improvement (CSI) and 17 as Additional Targeted Support and
Improvement (A-TSI). In Fall 2019, 69 School District schools were designated as Targeted
Support and Improvement (TSI), 10 of which also hold the A-TSI designation for additional
subgroups. Currently, all schools, regardless of federal designation, receive technical assistance
supervised and provided by the PESO with specialized supports provided to CSI and A-TSI
schools. Currently, technical assistance represents significant intervention in a school and is
specifically designed to remedy the school’s persistent inability to make progress toward all
students becoming proficient in reading and mathematics, with an added layer of focusing on
subgroup progress in addition to the whole school. PESO staff work with schools in areas of data
analysis, utilizing data to improve instruction, monitoring approaches, building capacity, and
leading change within the school’s environment.
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In alignment with indicators of school performance in the PA ESSA Consolidated Plan,
the School District utilizes a local performance and accountability tool now called the School
Progress Report on Education and Equity (SPREE). The SPREE looks at schools on multiple
dimensions - academic achievement, academic progress, climate, and (for high schools only)
college and career readiness - reflecting the richness and complexity of the educational experience.
The SPREE puts the most emphasis on equity, with many metrics scored for the overall school
population and subgroups of students, reflecting the School District’s focus on and commitment
to ensuring that all students are learning. The School District uses the SPREE to celebrate schools
that are meeting or exceeding a standard of educational excellence for all students. It is also used
to learn from principals and teachers who are realizing exceptional success in serving particular
student populations or establishing a positive school climate. The SPREE tool is used to identify
schools needing interventions and supports and also the principals and teachers using innovative,
evidence-based approaches for breaking down barriers to student success.

In an effort to align the School District’s practice to the ESSA for the 2021-2022 school
year, the Planning and Evidence-based Support Office will provide targeted specialized support to
schools designed to offer such targeted support and evidence-based interventions by collaborating
with other District offices in the identification, implementation and monitoring of the targeted
evidence-based interventions for the schools.

Multi-Tiered System of Supports & Response to Instruction and Intervention

In 2012-2013, the School District of Philadelphia implemented Response to Instruction
and Intervention (RtIl) in all schools K-12 as part of a five-year plan to maximize student
achievement and to reduce attendance and behavioral health issues. Since that time, the District
has transitioned from RtII to Pennsylvania’s Multi-Tiered System of Support (MTSS) as directed
by the Pennsylvania Department of Education. MTSS is a standards-aligned, comprehensive
school improvement framework for enhancing academic, behavioral and social-emotional
outcomes for ALL students. The MTSS framework considers students’ academic, social-
emotional/behavioral, attendance, and health/wellness needs simultaneously. This whole-child
focus helps ensure that the root causes of students’ challenges are identified and viewed in context.
The District’s focus on equity-based MTSS ensures equity in opportunity for students including
Black/African American and Latinx students, students with IEPs, and English Language Learners
who have been marginalized and negatively impacted by existing systems. As part of the
framework, Response to Instruction and Intervention continues as an essential component of
MTSS to improve student achievement using research-based strategies, products, and/or programs
as tiered support and interventions to match students’ instructional, attendance, behavioral, and
social-emotional needs. The District is using a phased approach for an equity-based MTSS
implementation.

Assessment

School year 2018-19 was the fifth year of the new, more rigorous Pennsylvania System of
School Assessment (“PSSA”). The long-term trends are moving in the right direction, with more
students scoring Proficient/Advanced, and fewer scoring Below Basic, across all subject areas.
After seeing little to no year-over-year change in 2015-16 District-wide, the School District
observed positive increases three years in a row, 2016-17, 2017-18, and 2018-19 on both the
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English Language Arts and math PSSAs and two years of improvement in 2017-18 and 2018-19
on the science PSSA.

The percentage of students scoring Proficient/Advanced on the PSSA in English Language
Arts in 2018-19 was 36% (up from 35% in 2017-18, 33% in 2016-17 and 32% in 2015-16) in all
grade levels 3-8. Most notably, the School District observed a five-percentage point increase for
4th grade students (31% to 36%) in 2018-19 compared to 2017-18. Additionally, the School
District reduced the number of students who scored Below Basic. Approximately 3,100 fewer 3-
8 grade level School District students scored Below Basic in 2018-19 on the English Language
Arts PSSA compared to results in 2014-15.

The percentage of students scoring Proficient/Advanced in Math has increased steadily
since 2014-15 by five percentage points. It was 22% in 2018-19 (up from 20% in 2017-18, 19%
in 2016-17, 18% in 2015-16, and 17% in 2014-15) in all grade levels 3-8. Additionally, the School
District reduced the number of students who scored Below Basic by approximately 2,800, resulting
in a five-percentage point decrease compared to results in 2017-18.

The percentage of students in 4th and 8th grade scoring Proficient/Advanced in Science
was 40%, up five percentage points from 2017-18 (35%), and an eight-percentage point
improvement from 32% in 2016-17. Notably, this is the highest level since 2014-15 (37%). There
was also an additional three percentage point reduction in the number of students scoring Below
Basic in 2018-19, the same as 2017-18 on the science PSSA, an overall decrease of 14 percentage
points (2,664 fewer students) compared to results in 2014-15.

Keystone Examinations were administered for the first time in the 2012-13 school year,
after a pilot administration the previous spring. School year 2018-19 represented the seventh year
of Keystone Examinations testing. Keystone Examinations are end-of-course assessments
designed to assess proficiency in the areas of Algebra I, Literature, and Biology.

The Commonwealth’s 2018-19 Keystone assessment results have allowed the School
District to identify areas for improvement, even though gains were observed in prior years. The
Proficient/Advanced rates decreased for Algebra I by two percentage points (from 22% to 20%),
but the School District observed a three-percentage point increase in the number of students
scoring Advanced from 2014-15 (from 5% to 8%). In Literature, 41% of students scored
Proficient/Advanced, a small decrease of one percentage point compared to 2017-18 (42%). The
same year-over-year decrease was observed for Biology, 29% to 28%, although still five
percentage points higher than the 2014-15 Biology assessment results (23%).

The Pennsylvania Secretary of Education cancelled the Pennsylvania System of School
Assessment (PSSA), the Pennsylvania Alternate System of Assessment (PASA), and the Keystone
exams for the 2019-20 school year as a result of COVID-19. The United States Department of
Education approved the Commonwealth's request to waive all Federal assessment, accountability,
and reporting requirements for the 2019-20 school year. The Pennsylvania Secretary of Education
modified the schedule for the Pennsylvania System of School Assessment (PSSA), the
Pennsylvania Alternate System of Assessment (PASA), and the Keystone exams for the 2020-21
school year as a result of COVID-19. PSSA and PASA were administered in the spring to those

A-58



students attending in-person classes, and Keystone examinations will be administered in
September 2021. These assessments will not be used for accountability requirements for the 2020-
2021 school year.

Transportation

In Fiscal Year 2021, 32,899 students enrolled in public, charter and non-public schools
who opted for some form of in-person learning were eligible for bus and cab service from the
School District. An additional 43,313 public, charter and non-public students were eligible for free
student TransPasses for use on the City’s mass transit system (SEPTA). Approximately 2,000
students were transported to and from school by their parents.

School District policy provides for the provision of free transportation for the following:
students who live 1.5 miles or more from school, attend a school that is overcrowded, and are in a
special education program. The School District has a combination of 13 percent School District-
operated routes and 87 percent contractor-operated routes.

A number of initiatives are underway that are intended to increase the efficiency and safety
of transportation services provided by the School District. Specific activities include improved
training for drivers and bus attendants to be conducted as part of Professional Development, and
ensuring staff is effectively trained in dealing with students with disabilities and other special
needs. The transportation services department is also implementing GPS-based operations.
Additionally, the transportation services department is actively pursuing a modernization of the
fleet, effectively reducing the average age of the fleet by nearly 25%, while employing cleaner
more efficient technologies and vehicles with significant safety enhancements.

[The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank.]
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Personnel

The School District employs approximately 18,500 full-time employees funded from and
by all sources. The following table enumerates the instructional and non-instructional staff
positions budgeted for each of the school years 2010-11 through 2021-22 from the Operating
Budget:

THE SCHOOL DISTRICT OF PHILADELPHIA

Personnel*

SCHOOL INSTRUCTIONAL NON NON-

YEAR PROFESSIONAL PROFESSIONAL INSTRUCTIONAL TOTAL
2010-11 9,719 1,507 5,103 16,329
2011-12 8,941 1,161 4,197 14,300
2012-13 8,653 1,126 4,164 13,944
2013-14 7,810 1,468 3,770 13,048
2014-15 7,747 1,371 3,717 12,835
2015-16 7,579 1,550 3,624 12,753
2016-17 7,687 1,795 3,625 13,106
2017-18 7,891 2,410 3,811 14,112
2018-19 8,047 2,524 4,011 14,582
2019-20 7,999 2,685 4,022 14,706
2020-21 8,243 2,657 4,014 14,914
2021-22 8,186 2,785 4,069 15,040

* Personnel funded by the operating budget.

Pension Plan

School districts throughout the Commonwealth must participate in the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania’s Public School Employees Retirement System (“PSERS”), a state-administered
pension program. Under the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) Code, the PSERS pension plan is
classified as a 401(a), governmental defined benefit plan. A defined benefit plan means that an
individual’s retirement benefit is determined by a formula which includes a retirement factor, years
of credited service, and the final average salary. Under this program, contributions are made by
each of three parties; participating employees, local educational entities (school districts,
Intermediate Unit and Area Vocational Technical Boards) and the Commonwealth. All of the
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School District’s full-time employees and hourly employees participate in the program. Each party
to the program contributes a percentage of an employee’s gross earnings. The employees’ rate was
5.25 percent for employees hired prior to July 23, 1983, and 6.25 percent for employees hired
subsequent to that date. Act 9 of 2001 established a new employee contribution rate of 7.50 percent
effective January 1, 2002, for employees electing to participate in the new membership class.
Effective July 1, 2011, all new employees to PSERS have the option to remain as a T-E member
(min 7.5% - max 9.5%) or elect to become a class T-F member (min. 10.3% - max. 12.30%).

Effective July 1, 2019, all new employees to PSERS have the option to remain in a T-G
hybrid (9.00% as of July 1, 2021) or elect to become a class T-H member (8.25% as of July 1,
2021) which both have a “shared risk” provisions or Class DC (Defined Contribution of 7.5%)
where the member assumes all investment risk in a DC Plan with no guaranteed defined benefit
monthly payments in retirement. The T-E, T-F, T-G and T- H plans have “shared risk” provisions,
meaning the contribution rate may increase or decrease by 0.50% or 0.75% within the specified
range once every three years.

The Commonwealth reimburses the School District 50 percent of the School District’s
retirement cost for employees hired prior to July 1, 1994, and a percentage equal to the greater of
50 percent or the School District’s market value/personal income aid ratio for employees hired
after June 30, 1994. The School District’s market value/personal income aid ratio for Fiscal Year
2021 was 72.13 percent. For Fiscal Year 2022 the current estimate is 70.43 percent.

In Fiscal Year 2020 the employer rate was 34.29 percent, and in Fiscal Year 2021 the
employer rate increased to 34.51 percent of payroll for all employees, regardless of their PSERS
class.

The School District has no authority over benefits and no responsibility or authority for the
operation and administration of PSERS nor does it have any related liability except for the annual
contribution requirements which include payments for current normal costs plus amortization of
the PSERS unfunded liability. See the PSERS website at www.psers.state.pa.us for information
about the state-administered pension program. In its Fiscal Year 2019 Financial Statements, the
School District reported its “net pension liability” as required by GASB 68 and 71.— See Appendix
B attached hereto.

SCHOOL DISTRICT LABOR RELATIONS

The School District engages in collective bargaining with the Philadelphia Federation of
Teachers (“PFT”), which represents approximately 13,000 employees; Service Employees
International Union Local 32BJ (“Local 32BJ”), formerly the International Brotherhood of
Firemen and Oilers, AFL-CIO, Local 1201, which represents approximately 2,000 employees; the
School Cafeteria Employees Union, Local 634 (“Local 634”), which represents approximately
1,600 employees; the Commonwealth Association of School Administrators (“CASA”), which
represents approximately 850 employees; and the School Police Association of Philadelphia
(“SPAP”), which represents approximately 300 employees. Some represented employees are
included in more than one bargaining unit.

The School District negotiated and settled a seven-year collective bargaining agreement
with the PFT effective September 1, 2013 through August 31, 2020. This Agreement provided for
annual salary increments beginning in 2016, annual lump sum payments for employees at the
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maximum of the salary schedules beginning in 2017, and a two percent (2%) across the board
increase in wages effective September 1, 2019. It also provided for reductions in the School
District’s contributions to the PFT Health and Welfare Fund, restructured other medical benefits
including increasing co-pays and employee contributions. On October 23, 2020, the School
District and PFT negotiated a one-year extension of the 2013-2020 Agreement, which called for a
two (2%) across the board increase in wages effective August 16, 2020. On August 31, 2021, the
parties reached a tentative agreement in which details will be released upon affirmative vote of the
PFT membership.

The School District negotiated and settled a five-year collective bargaining agreement with
CASA. This collective bargaining agreement, which runs from September 1, 2016 through August
31, 2021, generally follows the PFT pattern for salary increases. It continues to provide a cost-
saving medical plan and requires employees represented by CASA to contribute to medical
premium costs. In addition, employees represented by CASA were required to pay a $40/pay
surcharge, which increased to $100/pay in 2020, if they elected to enroll a spouse in a School
District medical plan and the spouse has employer-provided medical coverage elsewhere. The
parties are currently negotiating a successor agreement.

The School District negotiated and settled an eight-year collective bargaining agreement
with SPAP for the period from September 1, 2013, through August 31, 2021, and generally follows
the PFT wage pattern. There is a thirty-day extension to the contract as parties continue negotiating
a successor agreement.

On August 25, 2020, the School District and Local 32BJ negotiated a two-year extension
of the 2016-2020 Agreement, which called for a two percent (2%) across the board increase in
wages effective September 1, 2020, and a lump sum payment of $1000 to all employees effective
September 1, 2021.

The School District and Local 634 negotiated and settled a four-year collective bargaining
agreement covering the period from October 1, 2019, through September 30, 2023. The agreement
provides for across the board increases effective August 25, 2020, August 25, 2021, August 25,
2022, and August 25, 2023. Effective August 25, 2023, Local 634 bargaining unit members will
pay between 1% and 1.5% of the total medical premium contributions. Over the life of the contract,
each position will receive a pay increase of 6-12.4%, which includes an increase of 3% for all
positions in the final year of the contract.

Collective Bargaining Following Dissolution of the School Reform Commission

The following statutory provisions apply to the School District: Section 11-1127A of the
School Code provides that any school district of the first class with an appointed board shall
comply with and be subject to the binding arbitration provisions of the Pennsylvania Employee
Relations Act (“PERA”) and is not subject to provisions in Sections 11-1123A, 11-1124A, or 11-
1125-A.5 of the School Code regarding arbitration. A school district of the first class remains
subject to the other sections of Article XIA of the School Code, including those governing
mediation and fact-finding. Section 805 of PERA, which otherwise applies to units of guards and
court employees, requires binding arbitration when the parties have reached impasse in collective
bargaining. The School District and its employees have been subject to the binding arbitration

A-62



provisions of PERA since July 1, 2018. School District administrators are subject to binding
arbitration pursuant to the Administrative Code, 71 PS § 371.

INSURANCE

The School District is self-insured for most of its risks. However, the School District does
purchase certain insurance. The types of insurance purchased by the School District include: (1)
property and casualty insurance or surety bonds when required by law, leases or other contracts;
(1) property and casualty insurance when categorical funds are available to pay the premiums; (iii)
excess property insurance in the amount of $250.0 million per loss; (iv) property insurance for
special property, such as computer equipment, boilers and machinery, and fine arts; (v) excess
workers’ compensation insurance; (vi) employee dishonesty bonds; and (vii) Board members and
Chief Officers’ travel accident insurance and other various accident insurance.

The School District is self-insured for workers’ compensation, unemployment
compensation and weekly indemnity (salary continuation during employee illness) coverage which
is shared by the School District and covered employees through payroll deductions. The School
District annually budgets an amount believed to be adequate, based on past experience, to provide
for these claims. Actual payments in Fiscal Year 2021 as of June 30, 2021, for workers’
compensation totaled $17,974,956. Payments for unemployment compensation and weekly
indemnity coverage totaled $2.5 million and $7.5 million, respectively. As of June 30, 2021, the
School District estimates there is a cumulative total potential liability of $38,346,078 for workers’
compensation claims and $4.1 million for unemployment compensation claims.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
General

The School District receives financial assistance from numerous federal, state and local
governmental agencies and other entities in the form of grants or subgrants to conduct a variety of
educational programs. Generally, the expenditure of funds from such grants must comply with
government regulations and/or terms and conditions of the grants (subject to audit by the grantor).

The District is a party to various claims, arbitrations and litigation in the ordinary course
of business. For Fiscal Year 2019, the amount paid from the Operating Funds for losses and
judgments, which includes settlements and judgments in personal injury, property damage, civil
rights and special education matters, including plaintiffs’ attorneys’ fees and costs, labor and
employment, and commercial matters, was approximately $9.3 million. The total amount paid in
Fiscal Year 2020 for losses and judgments was approximately $10.5 million. The amount paid in
Fiscal Year 2021 for losses and judgments was approximately $8.8 million. The Fiscal Year 2022
adopted budget includes $11.0 million for losses and judgments.

Under Pennsylvania law, school districts are immune from liability in tort on account of
injury to persons or damage to property, except for that caused by negligent acts of a school district
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or its employees arising out of the operation of motor vehicles; damage to personal property of
others in the District’s possession; care, custody, or control of certain animals; a dangerous
condition of real property, trees, traffic controls, street lighting, utility service facilities, streets,
sidewalks; and sexual abuse. Damages in most state law personal injury and property damage cases
in which the District is not immune are capped by statute at $500,000 in the aggregate arising from
the same or a series of causes of action or transactions or occurrences, except that there is no
limitation on damages for claims made under the sexual abuse exception. Immunity, which is
subject to challenge and judicial interpretation, does not extend to civil rights, contract,
commercial, and certain state statutory claims. The District is required to defend and indemnify
employees acting within the scope of their offices or official duties.

Charter School Withholding Requests

The District is defending the following suits brought by numerous charter schools which if
decided for the plaintiffs could result in a material adverse effect on the School District:

Federal Funds Deduction Administrative Actions. In these administrative actions, eight
brick and mortar and cyber charter schools claim that PDE impermissibly permits the School
District (and all school districts) to deduct amounts constituting expenditures of federal funds from
total expenditures when calculating per-pupil rates and those deductions are not expressly
permitted under the Charter School Law. These administrative matters had originated in actions
brought by the charter schools against the School District and PDE in the Pennsylvania
Commonwealth Court. The Commonwealth Court in Antonia Pantoja Charter School, et al. v. Pa.
Dept. of Educ., et al., 289 M.D. 2017, related to the 2015-16 school year, ordered the matter to
proceed at PDE, and the charter schools moved their federal funds claims for the 2016-17 (4ntonia
Pantoja Charter School, et al. v. Pa. Dept. of Educ., et al., 167 M.D. 2019) and 2017-18 (Antonia
Pantoja Charter School, et al. v. Pa. Dept. of Educ., et al,, 431 M.D. 2019) school years to
PDE. For these claims, there are twelve docketed matters before PDE related to the 2015-2016
school year, thirteen docketed matters related to the 2016-2017 school year, and twelve docketed
matters related to the 2017-2018 school year. These matters are assigned to a hearing
officer. Hearings were held on November 9, 10, 12, and 17, 2020; January 15 and 19, 2021; and
February 1, 2021, and post-hearing briefs were submitted to the hearing officer by the parties. The
matters have been referred to the Secretary of Education for a decision.

In Re: Adoption of an Amended Financial Plan for Chester Upland School District, Del.
Cty. CCP, No. 12-9781. Chester Upland School District (“CUSD”) is a public school district
serving the City of Chester, the Borough of Upland, and Chester Township in Delaware County,
Pennsylvania. Upon petition by the Pennsylvania Secretary of Education, CUSD was placed into
receivership on December 13, 2012. The receivership has been extended twice and currently
terminates on June 3, 2022. A Revised Financial Recovery Plan was submitted to the court on
December 19, 2019.

In November 2019, Chester Community Charter School (“CCCS”) petitioned the court to
direct CUSD and its Receiver to issue an RFP to convert CUSD schools to charter schools to take
over the entire pre-K to 8" grade program, along with CUSD school buildings. Approximately
1,415 Philadelphia resident children were enrolled in CCCS during fiscal year 2020-21, and
enrollment for 2021-22 is projected at 1,415 Philadelphia resident students. For fiscal year 2020-
21, the School District paid approximately $19.9 million to CCCS, and payments for 2021-22 are
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projected to be approximately $20.6 million. Pursuant to the Charter School Law, the School
District must also transport all children to a charter school, such as CCCS, within a ten-mile radius
of Philadelphia. The transportation expenditure to transport Philadelphia resident students to
CCCS was approximately $1,155,615 in Fiscal Year 2020 (through March 13, 2020) and
approximately $363,160 in Fiscal Year 2021, and is projected to be approximately $2,106,070 in
Fiscal Year 2022.

The court twice denied the Philadelphia School District’s petitions to intervene in the
case. The School District argued that, due to the number of Philadelphia students attending CCCS,
the School District has a stake in the matter, and that any CUSD schools converted to charter
schools should have enrollment limited to CUSD residents.

In May 2020, the court accepted and approved the Financial Recovery Plan and authorized
the Receiver to issue RFPs to address the options for the management and delivery of education
for Pre-K through 12th grade, including converting CUSD schools to charter schools through a
competitive RFP. Three proposals to convert CUSD schools to charter schools were submitted;
however, the Receiver did not accept any of the proposals. The Receiver engaged Montgomery
County IU to manage CUSD and then Receiver resigned. On August 13, 2021, the judge appointed
a new Receiver, rejecting the individual PDE put forward to be Receiver.

The School District cannot predict the potential financial impact if the Financial Recovery
Plan is implemented in its present form or CUSD schools are converted to charter schools.

Litigation

The District is defending the following lawsuits, each of which alleges potential material
damages and which if decided for the plaintiffs could result in a material adverse effect on the
School District:

T.R., et al. v. School Dist. of Phila., U.S. Dist. Ct. for E.D. Pa., C.A. No. 15-4782, aft’d,
U.S. Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit No. 20-2084 — Plaintiffs filed this putative class action
challenging the sufficiency of translation and interpretation services provided to Limited English
Proficient (LEP) parents of special education students. Plaintiffs allege violations of the
Individuals with Disabilities Education Act for depriving LEP parents of meaningful participation
in the Individualized Educational Plan process and related violations of other laws, including
Section 504 and the Equal Education Opportunity Act. The complaint seeks injunctive and
declaratory relief, and attorneys’ fees and costs. The District Court denied plaintiffs” motion for
class certification in April 2019; and the Third Circuit denied their request for interlocutory
appellate review of the class certification denial. The case proceeded on the named-plaintiffs’
individual claims. The School District moved for summary judgment in late September 2019. In
May 2020, the Court granted the School District’s motion and judgment on all counts in the School
District’s favor. On May 28, 2020, Plaintiffs appealed the denial of class certification and the
District Court’s dismissal of the case to the Third Circuit. On July 9, 2021, the Third Circuit issued
a decision upholding the District Court, in the School District’s favor. Plaintiffs/appellants have
ninety days from the entry of judgment to file a writ of certiorari asking the United States Supreme
Court to review the case.
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Duffield House Assocs., et al. v. City of Phila., et al., Phila. Cty. CCP, No. 17091536
(Cons.) vac. in part and aff’d in part, Commonwealth Court of Pennsylvania Nos. 1501, 1502,
1504-1513, 1516 CD 2019 — This consolidated proceeding by commercial property owners and
tenants in the City alleges that the City’s 2018 property tax reassessment violated the Pennsylvania
Constitution’s Uniformity Clause. In 2018, plaintiffs requested a preliminary injunction to compel
usage of the 2017 assessment levels for all tax bills. Because that request implicated the School
District’s Business Use and Occupancy Tax, the District intervened as a defendant. The Court
denied the plaintiffs’ requested preliminary injunction but stayed their individually filed BRT
appeals pending the outcome of the dispute. The Court conducted a trial on the merits in June
2019. On July 18, 2019, the Court issued an opinion, ruling against the City (and, in effect, adverse
to the School District’s interests). The City and School District moved for post-trial relief, which
the Court denied. The City and School District appealed to the Commonwealth Court. In July
2021, the Commonwealth Court affirmed the trial court’s decision, ruling against the interests of
the City and School District. If the intermediate appeals court’s ruling stands, it would have an
estimated $35 million impact on the District. The judgment as it currently stands would have an
adverse effect on the District’s future finances (it represents a potential loss of more than sixteen
percent of the District’s estimated FY 2020 ending Fund Balance). The City moved for
reconsideration and re-argument. On September 28, 2021, the Commonwealth Court denied the
City’s motion for re-argument exhausting the City’s final avenue of appeal by right. Presently the
City and the District are evaluating the merits of seeking leave to appeal these rulings to the
Supreme Court of Pennsylvania, a petition to do so being due by October 28, 2021. If leave to
appeal is denied, the stay on enforcing the judgment would be automatically lifted and the
District’s revenue for the next tax year would be reduced by the amount of the credits issued by
the City to satisfy the judgment. If leave is granted, a ruling would be significantly delayed
possibly beyond tax year 2022.

Pagan v. School Dist. of Phila., et al., U.S. Dist. Ct. for E.D. Pa., C.A. No. 19-cv-05799
— The parents of a minor plaintiff brought a civil rights/state created danger action related to alleged
injury of their child caused by eating lead paint chips at school. After discontinuing the original
state court case, plaintiffs re-filed in federal court, naming the School District, the City, the Comly
School and its principal, the Acting Deputy Commissioner of the City Department of Health, the
School District’s Environmental Director, and plaintiffs’ landlord as defendants. The $500,000
tort claims immunity cap does not apply to federal civil rights claims. The School District
defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss on February 11, 2020. On October 28, 2020, Judge Tucker
allowed Plaintiffs’ state-created danger and negligence claims to proceed against the District. A
settlement conference with a magistrate judge is scheduled for Thursday, September 30, 2021.

Veolia Energy Philadelphia, Inc. v. School Dist. of Phila., - The School District received
a claim letter from Veolia, a steam energy provider, alleging that the School District is in breach
of a purchase agreement entered into in 2004 to provide steam energy to five School District
schools. Veolia asserts that the School District’s alleged breach triggered a “Termination Payment”
in the amount of $2,810,356. The School District and Veolia are working to either amend the
agreement or identify additional School District buildings to receive steam energy in place of the
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schools that are no longer utilizing steam energy; however, no assurance can be given that the
matter will be resolved.

Linda Spruill, individually and o/b/o the estate of Phillip Spruill v. School District of
Philadelphia, et al, 21-cv-1174 - Plaintiff, mother of deceased student Phillip Spruill, brought
claims under the ADA, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, the Civil Rights Act, and the
Pennsylvania Wrongful Death and Survival statutes. Plaintiff claims that her son's suicide was the
result of bullying and harassment on the basis of sex, and/or the failure to appropriately implement
his individualized education plan (IEP). The School District filed a motion to partially dismiss
Plaintiff's complaint and the court heard oral argument on the motion in June 2021. The parties
are awaiting the Court's ruling.
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STUDENT ART

The art displayed throughout this report is the work of the School District of Philadelphia’s art students. The winners
were chosen from the entries submitted for the 2019-20 Annual Financial Report Cover Design Contest. The theme for
this year is “Celebrating the Heroes of COVID 19”. The year 2020 has been unlike any time in recent history. We
have had more challenges than we could have ever imagined. For teachers and students, school took place in our homes
on a computer instead of in a classroom. Parents were not only surrogate teachers for their own children, but many
continued to work their jobs from home as well. Medical professionals and staff worked many hours to care for those
who contracted COVID 19 at personal risk. First responders, EMTs, Police and Fire Fighters had to respond to all
emergencies including assisting COVID 19 victims. Last but not least, all of the workers who manned supermarkets,
pharmacies and hardware stores to sustain our basic needs such as food, medications and home repair materials. All are
the heroes that helped to get us through the darkest days.

This contest theme provides a unique opportunity for students to challenge their intellect, imagination and creativity to
visually express their ideas, influences, experiences that have had an impact on their lives and what life lessons can be
learned about the heroes of the worldwide pandemic. For this competition, students were encouraged to interpret this
theme two dimensionally using their own stylistic approach. Exemplary artwork selected for the Annual Financial
Report has been used on the front and back covers and dividers in the book. This publication is distributed nationally
and has received prominent attention for its outstanding illustrations produced by The School District of Philadelphia
K-12 public school students.

The winners are as follows:

STUDENT ART TEACHER
1 Prize
Front Cover Alexandra Volyanyuk Ms. Mary Lisabeth Shean
Loesche Elementary School
Grade 4
2" Prize
Back Cover Vivian Chen Ms. Kimberly Colasante
Wilson Middle School
7" Grade
3" Prize
Front Inside Cover Jada Jankauskas Ms. Kimberly Colasante
Wilson Middle School
7% Grade

Back Inside Cover Kamilla Charimova Ms. Mary Lisabeth Shean
Loesche Elementary School
Grade 5

Divider:
1 Masiya Mom Ms. Marsha Rosenthal
Northeast High School
12 Grade

Thuong Nguyen Ms. Marsha Rosenthal
Northeast High School
12" Grade

ond Alice Huang Ms. Kimberly Colasante
Wilson Middle School
8" Grade

Christina Deng Ms. Kimberly Colasante
Wilson Middle School
7% Grade

3% Amber Glenn Ms. Maria Benitez
Hill-Freedman Middle School
7" Grade

Javeria Javed Ms. Kimberly Colasante
Wilson Middle School
6% Grade

Ms. Deborah Klose, Director of Arts Education
Office of the Arts and Creative Learning
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',.,‘ THE SCHOOL DISTRICT OF Oftice of the Superintendent

Williz . Hite, JR., E4.D.
A E L P H I A Sulitemlilrilil{xbelr‘t;)l BaD

440 North Broad Street
Philadelphia, PA 19130

February 15, 2021
To the Members of the Board of Education, Honorable Mayor and Citizens of the City of Philadelphia:

We are pleased to present this Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (“CAFR”) of The School District of Philadelphia (“School District” or
“District”) for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2020. Pursuant to provisions of The Philadelphia Home Rule Charter (“Charter”), these financial
statements were prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) of the United States of America. As such,
management of the School District assumes full responsibility for the completeness and reliability of all information presented in this report and
provides reasonable assurance that its financial statements are free of any material misstatements.

The Charter requires that the Office of the City Controller of the City of Philadelphia (“Office of the City Controller”) perform an annual audit of the
books of account, as well as financial records and transactions of the School District. The City Controller, an independently elected local official, is
required to appoint a Certified Public Accountant as deputy in charge of auditing. Pursuant to these requirements, the Office of the City Controller
conducted an independent audit of the School District’s financial statements. The independent audit examined evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures contained in these financial statements on a test basis; assessed the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by senior
management; and evaluated the overall presentation of these financial statements. The Office of the City Controller concluded that there was a
reasonable basis for rendering unmodified opinions that the School District’s financial statements, for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2020, are fairly
presented in conformity with GAAP. The Independent Auditor’s Report is presented for your formal review and consideration.

As further required, senior management of the School District established a comprehensive system of internal controls that are designed to protect the
School District’s assets from loss, theft, and misuse. Because the cost of a control should not exceed the benefits to be derived, the objective is to
provide reasonable, rather than absolute assurance, that the financial statements are free from any material misstatements. Internal offices of the
School District, namely the offices of Management and Budget, General Accounting, Accounts Payable, Grants Fiscal Services and Compliance,
Office of Inspector General and Audit Services, regularly review expenditures of School District funds and perform selective and random reviews of
operations and controls further ensuring that this report is complete and reliable in all material respects and in conformity with GAAP. Furthermore,
and as part of the federally mandated “Single Audit” requirement, the Office of the City Controller performs an annual audit of the School District’s
internal controls and compliance thereto with legal requirements involving the administration of federal awards and grants. The Single Audit is
designed to meet the needs of federal grantor agencies. These reports are available in the School District’s separately issued Single Audit Report.

Management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) immediately follows the independent auditor’s report and provides a narrative introduction,
overview and analysis of the basic financial statements. MD&A complements this letter of transmittal and should be read in conjunction.

Profile of the School District

Despite being a component unit of the City of Philadelphia (“City™) for financial reporting purposes only, the School District is an agency of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania (“Commonwealth” or “State™) created to assist in the administration of the Commonwealth’s responsibility under
the Pennsylvania Constitution to “provide for the maintenance and support of a thorough and efficient system of public education.” It is by far the
largest of the 500 school districts in the Commonwealth and the only School District of the first class, employing over 20,050 full time employees as
of June 2020 and the tenth largest in the United States (including Puerto Rico) based on student enrollment data.

As required by GAAP, the financial statements of the School District include those of the primary government and its component unit, the
Intermediate Unit No. 26 (the “TU”). The financial statements of the IU have been included in the School District’s reporting entity as a blended
component unit. The IU is included in the School District’s reporting entity because of the significance of the operational relationship with the
School District. All IU services are performed by the School District pursuant to contracts between it and the IU.

Although considered a quasi-state agency, the School District directly serves the citizens of the City of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, the sixth largest
city in the United States with a population of 1.58 million and a land area of approximately 130 square miles. The School District educates almost
12% of the Commonwealth’s 1.8 million public schoo! students. Total enrollment in the School District managed schools has declined over the past
decade while charter school enrollment significantly increased. Enrollment for the School District for the 2019-2020 school year as of October 1,
2019 was over 204,600 students including 77,243 attending charter schools and 3,207 in alternative education programs/schools. The enrollment for
the School District for 2020-2021 as of December 1, 2020 was 203,687 students including 80,546 attending charter schools and 3,522 in alternative
education.

During Fiscal Year 2020, there were 215 schools that the School District operated, as well as 26 alternative education programs/schools and 87
charter schools managed by other entities within the city and that serve Philadelphia’s children. In addition, there are 14 cyber charter schools and 8
brick and mortar charter schools that students may attend. In Fiscal Year 2020, approximately 40% of public school students in the School District
attended charter schools, making the School District a national leader in providing meaningful school choice to parents and students. The Fiscal Year
2020 organizational structure for the School District includes 48 elementary schools; 99 elementary/middle schools; 14 middle schools; and 54 high
schools. At the end of the 2013-2014 School Year, the School District had closed 24 schools that the District operated due to a myriad of factors
including: low occupancy levels, the shift of enrollment to charter schools, academics, school climate and building conditions. There has only been



one other school closure since that time in Fiscal Year 2017. About 13.3% of the School District’s buildings are 40 years old or less, 43.5% are
between 41 and 80 years old, 43.2% are 81 years or older.

The School District provides a comprehensive range of mandated educational services that include general, special, International Baccalaureate
program, Advanced Placement (AP) program and vocational education at the elementary and/or secondary levels, as well as related support and
transportation services. Pre-K educational services have become an increasing strategic priority to expand. The School District provides summer
school programs, in addition to pre-school and after-school program services, depending on the needs of a community and available funding. To
ensure schools have the administrative support they require and to provide targeted supports and services, schools are assigned to one of thirteen
geographically dispersed Neighborhood Networks and an additional three specialization Networks to include Opportunity, Acceleration and
Innovation. There is also a Charter School Network, although the Charter Schools are considered Philadelphia Public Schools they are their own
independent Local Educational Authority (LEA’s).

As an agency of the Commonwealth, the School District is governed by both The Public School Code (“School Code™) and the City Charter. As
such, the School District is a separate and independent home rule school district of the first class established by the Charter under the First Class City
Public Education Home Rule Act, approved August 9, 1963, P.L. 643 (“Act”). The Act expressly limits the powers of the City by prohibiting the
City from, among other things, assuming the debt of the School District or enacting legislation regulating public education or its administration,
except only in setting tax rates authorized for school purposes pursuant to the directive of the General Assembly of the Commonwealth.

Prior to 2001, the School District was governed by the Board of Education (“Board™) consisting of nine members appointed generally by the Mayor
of the City. In December of 2001, the Secretary of Education of the Commonwealth declared the District financially distressed suspending the
governing powers of the Board and placing management of the District under the control of a five-member School Reform Commission (“SRC”).
The Governor of Pennsylvania from December 2001 through June 30, 2018 appointed three members, including the Chairman, the Mayor of
Philadelphia appointed the remaining two members. The SRC exercised all powers and had all the responsibilities and duties of the original Board,
along with additional powers. The SRC voted to turn the governance of the School District over to local control of the City of Philadelphia
beginning on June 30, 2018 and local governance by a Board of Education consisting of nine members appointed by the Mayor of the City of
Philadelphia began on July 1, 2018. The Superintendent reports to the Board of Education. During the Fiscal Year 2020 reporting period, the
Superintendent was Dr. William R. Hite, Jr. and the Chief Financial Officer was Uri Z. Monson.

The School District’s fiscal year is July 1% to June 30 and is identical with those of both the City and the Commonwealth. The Charter requires that
the School District adopt an operating budget, a capital budget, and a capital improvement program each fiscal year. To ensure financial control, the
Board must first approve, by action item, all personnel appointments, purchases of materials, supplies, books, and equipment in excess of $19,700
and individual contracts for professional services and associated costs in excess of $20,000. The School District maintains further budgetary controls
to ensure compliance with legal provisions embodied in the annual appropriated budget by the Board of Education,

Activities in the General Fund, the Intermediate Unit Fund, the Debt Service Fund, and the Capital Projects Fund are included in the annual
appropriated budget. Purchase commitments are subject to an automated accounting system which tests for verification of available allotments and
are encumbered, if not in excess of the available allotment, prior to the release of funds to a vendor and do not lapse. At year-end, encumbrances are
included as a budgetary assignment in the governmental funds, except in Categorical Funds, since they do not constitute expenditures or liabilities.
However, unencumbered appropriations lapse at year-end.

Major Initiatives

No one could argue that Fiscal Year 2020 has been an exceptionally challenging year for school districts across the nation and certainly the School
District of Philadelphia is no exception. Fiscal Year 2020 can really be thought of as a year of two distinct parts — pre-pandemic (July 1, 2019 to
mid-March 2020) and post pandemic (mid-March 2020 to June 30, 2020). The delivery of educational services and learning methods have assuredly
been impacted by the effects of the global pandemic caused by COVID-19 which caused all in-person learning to cease on March 13, 2020 through
the end of the 2019/2020 school year and continues indefinitely into the current school year. Due to the constant evolving situation, the District has
had to re-adjust and continyously change the school opening plan as the date to return to in classroom learning was constantly in flux and hybrid
approaches were pushed back. The District needed to re-focus and pivot many strategic investments to prepare for a 100% virtual learning
environment through the end of the 2019/2020 school year, which no one could have predicted, It is difficult to fully measure the impact of the
pandemic on student achievement as the standardized testing which typically occurs in the spring was suspended and the School Progress Reports
(SPR) to evaluate schools in multiple areas including educational, climate and growth, was interrupted by these much more pressing immediate
needs.

On the operational front, the District used recent unfavorable outcomes of a major renovation project for two high schools to develop a new strategy
on how to plan, design and manage construction projects. The Healthy Schools program initiatives ensure every school environment is healthy and a
welcoming environment for teaching and learning. Due to the age of our buildings, construction projects are an increased focus of the District’s
initiatives to ensure a welcoming, safe and modern learning environment for our students and educators and a major use of capital funds, primarily
financed through bond issuances. In addition, transparency and availability of financial information, remote digital financial system access and
significantly improved financial controls will be greatly improved with the successful launch of the District’s new cloud-based Financial Enterprise
Resource Planning (ERP) System on July 1%, The cloud-based Finance ERP system has come at a perfect time when much of the District’s business
operations and teaching and learning occur remotely. This was a remarkable accomplishment in itself to launch a new Finance ERP system during a
global pandemic.

Overall, the quality of education in Philadelphia’s public schools was steadily improving each year up to the point of the pandemic as we have
instituted reforms that provide for fiscal stability, educational improvement and operational control. Maintaining unrelenting focused activities on
our four action goals have been key to our success, but were superseded by the necessity of putting in place the tools and resources necessary to



continue the important work of virtual classrooms, at home learning resources and ensuring none of our students went hungry due to school building
closures. There were added complexities due to the lack of connectivity in many of our student’s households and the need to get essential technology
and devices for digital learning distributed to all our students and educators. Adding to these challenges was the need to update school plans and
develop learning materials tailored to a digital environment and provide professional development opportunities to educators for virtual teaching and
learning. There was also the need to implement Center for Disease Control (CDC), State Department of Health, and City Health Department
guidelines to ensure safe office and school environments if and when in-person learning resumed and essential personnel and students returned to our
buildings on a full or hybrid basis.

There were measurable improvements in college and career readiness, early literacy, staffing and fiscal stability over the past four years. We have
doubled the number of high-performing schools, seven out of ten schools have improved their performance, two new national blue-ribbon schools
were awarded and we have fifty percent fewer lower-performing schools. Our progress to-date is the result of the hard work and commitment of
thousands of students, families, District employees, elected officials and community members. At the same time, we have improved student
outcomes, we are maintaining a strong fiscal focus. For the first time since 1977 we achieved an Investment Grade credit rating from Moody’s
Investor Services and we had a positive year-end fund balance for the sixth straight year, Unfortunately, the full extent of the financial consequences
of the pandemic are still unknown and COVID-19 related expenditures and lost local revenues have taken away the small fund balance reserve we
had accomplished through Fiscal Year 2020. We are proud of our progress, but there is still much work we must do. In that regard, the locally-
appointed School Board, the governing body of the District, has recently announced their intent to prioritize their public meetings and accountability
on ensuring successful student educational outcomes and equity across all schools which will be implemented in Fiscal Year 2021 and going forward.

Our organization priorities are driven by our strategic mission, vision, core values, guiding principles and anchor goals which together form our
multi-year Strategic Action Plan district wide.

e Our Strategic Mission sets forth, “The School District of Philadelphia (SDP) will deliver on the civil right of every child in Philadelphia to
an excellent public education and ensure all children graduate from high school ready to succeed, fully engaged as a citizen of the world.”

e Qur Vision is, “All children have a great public school close to home.”

e Qur Core Values place emphasis that all students can and will learn, high quality instruction is central to our work, schools are learning
organizations, parents and families are our partners, and we are trusted stewards of public resources.

e Our Guiding Principles place emphasis that all students can achieve given the needed supports, there is educational equity for all students
and cultural diversity is valued.

e The Four Anchor Goals in support of our mission, vision, core values and guiding principles focus on early literacy, academic growth for
stronger college and career readiness, principals and teachers who can bring out the best in our students, and finances that are fiscally stable
and responsible.

Fiscal Year 2020 is the sixth year all major initiatives remained focused on these objectives (up until mid-March 2020) as we continued to build upon
our momentum and made progress on several fronts. For the fourth straight year, schools are improving, but not as fast as we would like. More
students are graduating and have strong reading skills, more classrooms are led by highly trained educators, more classroom are healthy and
welcoming learning environments and more services are in schools to support students and families. The sixth consecutive year with a positive year-
end fund balance has provided us with the needed resources to successfully carry-out our Action Plan and implement a remote learning model when
it was necessitated by unprecedented times.

Year six of our Investment Plan included the following budgetary investments focused on our Four Anchor Goals. This plan continues to evolve and

be expanded upon, and the District has made investments to improve performance across all aspects of its educational program:
e  Literacy coaches for elementary schools,

Modernized classrooms with new furnishings,

Expanding early literacy work to grades 4 and 5,

Increased supports for English Language Learners (ELL) students,

Additional alternative education seats,

Improved substitute teacher fill rate,

New books and materials for K-8 math and reading anthologies,

Elimination of Split Grade classrooms,

Increased funding and opportunity for advanced placement courses, gifted education, and PSAT/SAT testing,

A new middle college program, the only one in Pennsylvania,

Supplemental teacher hiring to address normal attrition and reduce vacancies,

Counselors for every school and nurses in every school/building,

Labor contracts with all unions that allow for 21% century learning environments,

New investments in lead paint, mold and asbestos remediation,

Increased numbers of cleaning crews and a new cleaning standard for all facilities.

Additional unanticipated investments were begun related to the global pandemic:
¢ Digital learning platforms and expansion of technology remote capacity,
Chrome books available to every student,
Learning materials distributed to students for remote learning,
Meals to go available to all students at distribution sites throughout the City,
Professional development opportunities for educators on virtual teaching and learning,
Licenses for virtual classroom teaching and meetings (e.g., Google Meets and Zoom),
Personal Protective Equipment (PPE), added cleaners, improved cleaning protocols, building readiness and health/safety measures.



Highlights of the achievements of each of the Four Anchor Goals targets are below based upon the School Progress Report (SPR) now in its seventh
year include the following improvements (school information excludes charter schools and is based upon school year 2018-19 data):

Anchor Goal 1 —100% of students will graduate, ready for college or career (5 Year Target of 80% graduation rate);
Public school Graduation Rate of 69%,

Increase of 5% in the four-year graduation rate to 78% for District managed schools,

7,300 students to earn over 13,400 industry certifications,

3,000 more high school students are on track for on-time graduation within four year,

6,700 students are enrolled in Advanced Placement and dual enrollment classes that count toward college credits,
Twice the number of higher performing schools,

50% fewer lower performing schools,

75% of schools (156 schools) increased their score, and 45% of schools (94 schools) increased their tier.

e & & o o o o o

Anchor Goal 2 — 100% of 8-year olds will read on grade level (5 Year Target 66% on grade level at age 8);

The number of 3 graders reading on grade level is 33%,

All District elementary schools have an early literacy coach to ensure the highest quality instruction,

All District Acceleration Network schools staffed with Reading Specialists that provide individual early literacy instruction,

All District K-3 teachers were trained to be expert early literacy instructors,

One million new books were distributed across every K-3 classroom,

500+ early literacy classrooms modernized across 39 schools,

Since the school year 2014-2015 over 4,600 31 grade students have moved up on the English Language Arts scores of their PSSA’s.

® & & & o o o

Anchor Goal 3 — 100% of schools will have great principals and teachers (5 Year Target — engaged and supported principals and teachers
with strong instructional skills);
*  97% employee fill rate,
Hired more teachers with 99% of all teacher vacancies filled by the start of the school year,
One of three teachers hired were educators of color,
One in two principals hired were educators of color,
Named an Employer of Choice by the City’s Department of Commerce and Office of Workforce Development.

Anchor Goal 4 - the School District will have 100% of the funding we need for great schools and zero deficit (5 Year Target - Balanced
budgets every year through 2022);
o  Fiscal stability is key to providing the monetary resources to achieve Anchor Goals 1, 2 and 3’s strategic objectives,
Positive Fund Balance for six consecutive years,
Fiscal Year 2020 Available Budgetary Fund Balance of $172.8million,
A Five-Year Plan which is projecting a Fiscal Year 2024 operating deficit of $224 million which is projected to grow to a $900 million
deficit by Fiscal Year 2026 due to mandated and fixed costs (unless adequate funding is secured or drastic program cuts enacted),
$500 million for school improvement and modernization,
Invested more than $23 million to complete asbestos-related projects and $14 million on led paint stabilization,
Created a reserve of $25 million for future environmental related projects,
Moody’s double credit rating upgrade and Fitch reaffirmed an issuer default rating of BB+.

Budget Structure

Included in its enabling legislation pursuant to the Philadelphia Home Rule Charter (“Charter”), the District is required to adopt an operating budget,
a capital budget and a capital improvement program for each fiscal year. Each budget is based on obligations; the most significant budgeted fund
being the General Fund. During the course of each fiscal year, the operating budget is amended and approved by the Board of Education. The
“original” or adopted budget was passed on May 30™of the preceding fiscal year (e.g., May30, 2019). The “amended” or final budget was passed on
May 28%f the current fiscal year (e.g. May28, 2020). The final amended budget incorporates all of the District’s approved adjustments that were
incurred since the initial advertised or adopted operating budget was issued. While all budgets must be approved by the Board of Education, the
Charter also requires the governing body to levy taxes annually, within the limits authorized by the Pennsylvania General Assembly and the
Philadelphia (PA) City Council, respectively, in amounts sufficient to provide funds to cover operating expenses and debt service charges. The
Philadelphia City Council annually holds hearings to determine the level of local tax funding for the District.

The capital budget is prepared as part of a six-year capital improvement program, of which, the first year of the program is the budget for the current
fiscal year. All proposed expenditures included in the School District’s Capital Improvement Program (CIP) require the authorization and approval
of the Board of Education on a project by project basis. The CIP is a set of projects that construct, replace and/or modernize District facilities to
offset the effects of age and use that has occurred in the school buildings and to improve the educational environment for our students. The CIP
identified over $1.72 billion in facility needs through Fiscal Years 2020 - 2025 to improve major infrastructure systems and buildings. On May 28,
2020, the School District adopted its 2021 Capital Budget of $397.2 million and six-year capital improvement program for Fiscal Years 2021-2026,
which identified $1.87 billion in facility needs. The CIP includes new construction, major renovations, classroom modernization, environmental
services, technology projects, bus transportation, and life-cycle replacements comprised of HVAC, structural, roofs, windows and doors, electrical
systems, site improvements, security equipment and the ongoing condition assessment. The School District also amended its Capital Budget for
Fiscal Year 2020 on May 28, 2020 to total approximately $219.5 million.



Local tax rates for the School District are authorized by the City Council. The City of Philadelphia collects current and delinquent local taxes and
other locally generated non-tax revenues for the School District. These taxes represent about 43% of the Fiscal Year 2020 overall governmental fund
revenues. The City and the School District have successfully focused attention on improving the collections of all taxes and expanding revenue
sources. However, due to the pandemic, it is anticipated that there will be a reduction of local tax revenues of which the total amount is currently not
determinable. This is anticipated to be primarily in the areas of Liquor Tax and Use and Occupancy Tax.

Since the School District is a service-oriented organization, it is labor intensive. Consequently, a substantial portion of its operating expenditures
involve personnel costs and related employee benefits. Personnel costs principally encompass the costs of instructional staff (teachers), school
support staff, administrative staff, custodial and maintenance staff and transportation staff. Staffing patterns and salary costs are largely determined
by school enrollment levels, collective bargaining agreements, state mandates and policies set by the Board of Education. Costs related to contracted
services, materials, books, instructional aids and equipment, are also primarily related to enrollment levels and certain new program initiatives. All
costs are sensitive to general inflation levels.

The School District currently spends approximately 3.1% of its budget on administrative costs (excluding re-funding costs) and approximately 96.9%
of its budget supports directly benefitting schools and financing for capital projects. Of the 96.9%, approximately 87.9% is spent on education and
other support services and the remaining 9.0% is spent on capital financing. The biggest cost drivers are mandatory or contractual in nature and
include personnel and related healthcare benefit and pension costs, charter school costs, and debt service costs.

Factors Affecting Financial Conditions

The information presented in the accompanying financial statements and report is best understood when placed in context with the District’s financial
planning and policy practices coupled with local social and economic factors, such as:

Financial Planning: With the constantly evolving and changing conditions brought on by the uncertainties of the global pandemic, it is very difficult
to fully know and plan for the financial impacts of COVID-19. As a direct result of the pandemic, local tax revenues have declined and expenses for
virtual learning and healthy schools have increased and are expected to have an unfavorable impact on the operating fund balance in Fiscal Year
2021 and beyond. The pace of economic recovery from the pandemic is not yet known and will directly impact the District’s finances for the next
several years.

‘While the pandemic has placed new strains the District’s budget, the federal government has committed to provide some relief through additional
funding. It is anticipated that those funds will support the District’s budget through Fiscal Year 2023. Nevertheless, the District still faces structural
budget issues that will require the District to make difficult financial decisions that could impact our forward progress. Already in Fiscal Year 2021,
we have had to make difficult choices to close the projected deficit. This is planned through: 1) use of the beginning fund balance, 2) Federal Cares
Act grant money of over $100 million, and, 3) Central Office staffing and expenditure reductions. To address the District’s longer-term structural
issues, the District is continuing to review its expenditures and pursue additional support from its funders, including seeking additional state funding
through the fair funding formula and legislative fixes to the charter school formula.

Over the past few years, the District has undertaken numerous initiatives to improve the efficient and effective use of public dollars and plan for
sustainable investments and our efforts in these areas will continue. For Fiscal Year 2020, the District was able to maintain a positive budgetary
operating fund balance of $172.8 million, due to increased State and Local funding, a strong financial focus resulting in more favorable financing
terms and smarter fiscal management coupled with past and current actions taken to ensure the continuance of recurring revenues. Efforts to put the
District on a strong financial footing and a positive financial outlook resulted in Moody’s upgrading the District’s bond ratings and outlook in Fiscal
Year 2019 with the District receiving a Baa3; investment grade bond rating for the first time since 1977. On October 3, 2019 Fitch upgraded the
School District’s unenhanced rating to BB+ from BB- and maintained the outlook as stable. The enhanced intercept rating from Fitch was affirmed
as A+ with a stable outlook. Fiscal Year 2021 reverses this positive trend as fund balance will need to be used to support District operations and
deficits are projected in future years that will require mitigating solutions. Although there were modest operating fund balances for the past six fiscal
years (about two weeks of operating revenues), expenditure growth rates outpaced revenue growth rates resulting in an outlook of significant
structural deficits in future years. Though facing deficits in the coming years, through tough choices, funding from stakeholders, including federal
relief dollars, a five-year budget plan and strong fiscal management, we are prepared to face these challenges and find solutions to allow us to
continue to develop our system of great schools in both the near term and future years.

Recognizing the need for more revenues to avoid a fiscal cliff while at the same time investing in the programming to ensure our students’ success,
the District was successful in obtaining and sustaining recurring revenues from the State. Recurring State revenues include the Cigarette Tax with
the District receiving at least $58 million annually and a rideshare program effective through December 31, 2022 in which the District receives a
portion of the revenues. At the local level, the District continued its pilot program to identify city properties whose assessed value is at least $1
million under-valued and file formal appeals for these properties. However, the City of Philadelphia has announced plans to freeze property
assessment for Fiscal Year 2021 and Fiscal Year 2022, the majority of which would have been shared by the School District. The District receives
about 50% of its general fund revenues from local property taxes and other locally generated taxes. These Local Tax revenues are projected to
decline in Fiscal Year 2021 due to Use and Occupancy Taxes and Liquor by the Drink Tax decreases impacted by COVID-19. Other funding
sources resulted from a Fiscal Year 2016 bond refunding of over $1 billion in high interest debt will save over $100 million over 20 years and from a
recent Fiscal Year 2020 bond refunding of over $303.9 million in high interest rate debt to save over $27 million over 14 years.

To plan for the future, operating costs which are fixed and/or mandated (which make up a significant portion of the overall expenditures), along with
new expenditures must be considered. Since the District is a service-oriented organization, labor costs represent a significant portion of the budget
with salary and benefit costs representing over 40%. The District has recently successfully negotiated two labor contracts, one with the 32BJ Service
Employees International Union and the other with the Philadelphia Federation of Teachers (PFT). The District continued its practice of achieving
structural fiscal balance while executing the major initiatives and action items discussed above which focus on equity, educational outcomes, school



choice and school climate. Part of the challenge is to continue to make the necessary sustainable investments in educational programming to achieve
the strategic goals to ensure all our students get the support they need to succeed while balancing fiscal integrity.

As we enter the seventh year of the District’s investment plan in our children’s future, the District’s longer-term finances, although steadily
improving up until the time of the pandemic, continue to pose challenges. Inadequate revenues to cover mandated expenditures, increases in
expenditures such as payments to charter schools and contractually obligated compensation and benefits, combined with an unsustainable cost
structure with fixed and mandated expenditures outpacing revenue growth unless alternatives are found, could impact the steady progress the District
has shown in recent years. Several years of significant program sacrifices has already been an indicator for us of the devastation this can have on our
student’s success and we will do everything in our power to ensure these drastic cuts do not repeat in the future. In addition, the physical aging of the
infrastructure has required considerable additional resources to maintain and update the District’s buildings and environmental factors. A recent
private donation for infrastructure safety and health projects of $100 million ($10 million a year over 10 years) from the University of Pennsylvania
is a welcome contribution to this work as this need will only increase as the buildings continue to age.

In summary, the District at the end of Fiscal Year 2020 is in a better academic and financial position than it has been in several years, but the recent
pandemic poses challenges to our progress. We have taken and will continue to take the necessary steps to build the financial and educational
foundation upon which teaching and learning can grow which includes: focusing on the four action goal areas that matter most to academic
outcomes; closing low performing and underutilized District schools and Charter schools; becoming a better authorizer of Charter schools;
negotiating contracts which fairly compensate employees and attract a highly qualified and diverse workforce; providing for 21 century learning
environments and school climate and school environmental safety; expanding high quality seats and choices; taking measures to identify and mitigate
rising expenditure areas such as special education, transportation, facilities costs and benefits; and establishing baseline expectations for all schools
because in our view all students can succeed.

The Local Economy: At the end of 2019 and at the start of 2020 the Philadelphia economic outlook was largely a story of success further expanding
upon years of economic progress and demographic change. However, the social aspects which are plagued by violent crime, the opioid crisis and
high poverty rates threaten the positive growth. How the picture will change due to the far-reaching impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic is also an
unknown. The key factors highlighting Philadelphia’s overall economic well-being falls into two distinct areas — the economy and social indicators.
The economic factors were mostly positive whereas the social indicators were less so. On the economic front, the City continued its prior year trend
and had a growing local economy, particularly in the center city areas, with strong job growth, steady population gains and a strong housing and
commercial construction market. The City had the highest jobs increases since 1991 and the average unemployment rate fell to 5.2%, the lowest
level since 2000, although higher than the national average and many other cities. With regards to social indicators, the high school graduation
continued to rise reaching 69% in the class of 2019. Although it’s far below the national average of 85%, it’s considerably higher than it was a
decade ago, and the percentage of adults with four-year degrees continued to modestly increase. The poverty rate has decreased slightly at 24.5%
and Philadelphia retained its title as the poorest of America’s 10 most populated cities. For more than a decade, Philadelphia has experienced steady
gains in population and jobs — in a way that has not happened since 1940. However, concerns over public safety could impact the progress. The rise
in violent crimes by 7.2% and major crimes increased marginally for the second year in a row in 2019 and the number of homicides climbed. Public
safety is one of the major reasons people move out of Philadelphia based on a poll conducted by the Pew Foundation. Philadelphia is hard hit by the
opioid crisis and in 2019 had one of the highest drug death rates in the country and the homeless population has tripled since 2014, The opioid crisis
has been found to be directly related to increases in crime.

The population of 1.58 million rose for the 13’hstraight year making it the sixth largest city in the United States. Contributing to the population
growth is the increase in the number of millennials remaining in Philadelphia (born between 1980 and 2000). The share of Philadelphians with a
college degree has grown in recent years to 30.9% overall and 45.1%among adults ages 25-34, making the city more attractive to employers. This
creates an exciting opportunity and challenge for Philadelphia to retain young families by continuing to make progress on the perceived quality of our
public schools. In addition to the increase in millennials, the City’s population is becoming more diverse with 15% Hispanic, 7% Asian and 15% of
the total population is foreign born. Nearly 18% of the population is school-aged (aged 5-19). Enrollment in Philadelphia-district run schools
continue to decrease while the number of students enrolled in Charters continued to grow. Philadelphia had the fifth largest higher education sector
among major U.S. cities in 2017 which help provide a well-educated and trained work force.

The City benefits from its strategic geographical location, affordability, cultural and recreational amenities, and its growing strength in key industries.
Philadelphia has developed an increasingly diverse economy centered on the healthcare industry, higher education, professional and business services
and leisure and hospitality. The cost of living index is low compared to other major North East cities and is 20% less than Washington DC and 61%
lower than Manhattan. In 2018, the Education and Health Services, Professional and Business Services, Trade, Transportation and Activities,
Financial Activities and Hospitality sectors represented 72.4% of the total employment for the year. The City is a center for health, education, and
science facilities with the nation’s largest concentration of healthcare resources within a 100-mile radius. The City is one of the largest health care
and health care education centers in the world, and a number of the nation’s largest pharmaceutical companies are located in the Philadelphia area.
Children’s Hospital of Philadelphia is ranked number two in U.S. children’s hospitals.

The City is in the heart of a five-county metropolitan area with approximately six million residents making it the Country’s sixth largest by
population and is both the largest city in the Commonwealth and the only city of the first class. The City is strategically located on the east coast
with easy access to markets, resources, government centers, and transportation. Since 2008, substantial private and public investment has led to a
revitalization of the City. Philadelphia is experiencing a construction boom. After nearly ten years of house price deflation and sluggish recovery,
2015-2019 proved to be the best years for Philadelphia housing since the recession. Recent major development investments completed or under
construction since 2017 were $7.4 billion. Total vacancy rates for office space remained strong at 13.8% in 2019 compared with an average of
15.0% in selected office markets across the nation,

“The City of Brotherly Love” is a cultural center and the centerpiece of early American history and is home to many national historical sites that

relate to the founding of the U.S. As a major urban center and the birthplace of this country, Philadelphia is increasingly gaining national recognition
for its cultural and recreational resources, which include the many tourism assets concentrated within city limits. Expansion of the Convention
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Center in 2011 increased the City’s appeal as a tourist destination. The City is rich in history, art, architecture, and entertainment. World-class
cultural and historic attractions abound in Philadelphia. Some of the more prominent ones are: the Philadelphia Museum of Art (which houses the
third largest art collection in the United States), the Philadelphia Orchestra, the Academy of Music, the Pennsylvania Ballet, the Constitution Center,
the Kimmel Center, Pennsylvania Academy of Fine Arts, Franklin Institute, Mann Music Center, Opera Company of Philadelphia, the Jewish History
Museum, the Rodin Museum, the Barnes Foundation Museum and the American Revolution Museum. The South Philadelphia sports complex is
home to the Philadelphia 76ers, Flyers, Phillies, and Eagles football team which won the NFL Super bowl in February 2018. The City also offers its
residents and visitors America’s most historic square mile, which includes Independence Hall and the Liberty Bell, as well as Fairmount Park and the
nation’s first zoo. Leisure demand grew in recent years due to high profile events such as the 2015 World Meeting of Families, culminating in a
papal visit from Pope Francis, the 2016 Democratic National Convention and the NFL Draft in the spring of 2017. Legislation passed by the
Pennsylvania General Assembly authorized two stand-alone casino licenses. Philadelphia’s first casino, Sugarhouse, opened in 2010 and in
November 2014, the City’s second casino license was awarded.

The economic, social and demographic data tell us that in recent years Philadelphia has many reasons to be proud of its recent performance and
economic gains which have netted more jobs and population growth more than has ever been seen. But concerns over public safety and the potential
effects of the current pandemic situation is still unknown and may impact the success and steady economic growth.

Accounting Pronouncements: Effective for Fiscal Year 2020, there were no new Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statements that
the District was required to implement. Due to the pandemic, the GASB postponed planned statement implementation dates by one year with the
exception of GASB 87, Leases which was postponed eighteen months

Long-term Debt. As of June 30, 2020, the School District’s net general bonded debt outstanding was $3.4 billion. The District’s former governing
agency, School Reform Commission, adopted a Debt Policy on February 18, 2009. The debt management policies are written guidelines that affect
the amount and type of debt issued by the School District, the issuance process, and the management of a debt portfolio. The goal of the debt
management policy is to improve the quality of decisions, provide justification for the structure of debt issuance, identify policy goals, and
demonstrate a commitment to long-term financial planning, including a multi-year capital plan. Adherence to a debt management policy signals to
rating agencies and the capital markets that a government is well managed and can be expected to meet its obligations in a timely manner. According
to the Local Government Unit Debt Act, and as further stated in the Debt Policy, the School District must establish serial maturities or sinking fund
installments for each bond issue that achieve, as nearly as practicable, level debt service within an issue or overall debt service within a particular
classification of debt. The School District has never defaulted in the payment of debt service on any of its bonds, notes or lease rental obligations.

Awards and Acknowledgements

The Government Finance Officers Association (“GFOA”) awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the School
District for its Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for each fiscal year beginning in 1984 up to and including 2019. Similarly, the Association
of School Business Officials International (“ASBO”) awarded a Certificate of Excellence to the School District for its Comprehensive Annual
Financial Report for each fiscal year beginning in 1985 up to and including 2019. In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement or a
Certificate of Excellence (collectively “Certificates”), a government unit must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized Comprehensive
Annual Financial Report, the contents of which must satisfy both generally accepted accounting principles and applicable legal requirements. The
Certificates are valid for a period of one year only. We believe our current Comprehensive Annual Financial Report continues to meet legal
requirements and all applicable mandates and guidelines. Consequently, the School District is submitting it to both the GFOA and the ASBO to
determine its eligibility for additional certificates for Fiscal Year 2020.

The preparation of this Comprehensive Annual Financial Report was made possible by the dedicated service of the entire staff of certain business and

financial offices, especially Accounting Services. We express our sincere appreciation to all participants who assisted in and contributed to the
preparation of this report. We also thank the Office of the City Controller for their support and continued assistance.

Respectfully sub?:%' : ! / %%L/

William R. Hite, Jr., Ed.D. Uri Z. Monson
Superintendent and Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
The School District of Philadelphia The School District of Philadelphia
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Chair and Members of
The Board of Education of the
School District of Philadelphia

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities,
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the School District of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
(School District), a component unit of the City of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, as of and for the year ended June 30,
2020, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the School District’s basic
financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation,
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the School District’s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the School District’s internal control. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions.
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Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate
remaining fund information of the School District, as of June 30, 2020, and the respective changes in financial
position, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

Emphasis of Matter — Correction of Errors

As discussed in Note 4.M. to the financial statements, in fiscal year 2020 the School District recorded prior period
adjustments for the corrections of errors in capital improvements, personal property, intangibles, and accumulated
depreciation. As of July 1, 2019, the School District’s net position was restated to reflect a net decrease in fund
balance because of the errors. Our opinion is not modified with respect to these matters.

Emphasis of Matter — Uncertainty

As discussed in Note 4.N. to the financial statements, in fiscal year 2020 and continuing into fiscal year 2021, the
School District expects that the effects of the COVID-19 global pandemic will impact the District with uncertainties
involving future federal, state and local funding levels, which are affected by the resumption of classroom
instruction. The School District cannot reasonably estimate the future impact on its operations or financial results.
Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s discussion
and analysis on pages 16 through 32, and the required supplementary information other than management’s
discussion and analysis as listed in the table of contents be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.
Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial
statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures
to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and
comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express
an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Supplementary Information

Our audit for the year ended June 30, 2020 was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial
statements that collectively comprise the School District’s basic financial statements. The accompanying Other
Supplementary Information for the year ended June 30, 2020, as listed in the table of contents, is presented for
purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the
responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The Other Supplementary Information has been subjected to
the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2020, and
certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. In our opinion, the Other Supplementary Information as listed in the table of contents is fairly
stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole for the year ended June 30,
2020.

We also previously audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, the School District’s basic financial statements as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019 (not presented
herein), and have issued our report thereon dated February 07, 2020, which contained unmodified opinions on the
respective financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the
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aggregate remaining fund information. The 2019 amounts included in the combining non-major fund financial
statements, and the Debt Service Fund Schedule of Budgetary and Actual Revenues and Obligations for the year
ended June 30, 2019 are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic
financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from, and relates
directly to, the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 2019 financial statements. The 2019
amounts included in the combining non-major fund financial statements, and the Debt Service Fund Schedule of
Budgetary and Actual Revenues and Obligations information have been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audit of the 2019 basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing
and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the
financial statements or to those basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the 2019 amounts
included in the combining non-major fund financial statements, and the Debt Service Fund Schedule of Budgetary
and Actual Revenues and Obligations are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial
statements as a whole for the year ended June 30, 2019.

Other Information

The other information, including the Introductory Section and Statistical Section as listed in the table of contents, is
presented for the purpose of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such
information has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements
and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on it.

Christy Brady, CPA
Deputy City Controller
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
February 15, 2021
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

SCHOOL DISTRICT OF PHILADELPHIA
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
JUNE 30, 2020

INTRODUCTION

As part of the Financial Section of the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (“CAFR”), the Management’s
Discussion and Analysis narrative (“MD&A™) is an important element of the reporting model adopted by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) in the Codification of Governmental Accounting and
Financial Reporting Standards (“GASB Codification”).

This section of the CAFR represents management’s discussion and analysis of the School District of
Philadelphia’s (“School District”) overall financial performance during the Fiscal Year that ended June 30,
2020. The intent of this narrative discussion and analysis is to provide readers with brief explanations of the
types of presentations that set forth the School District’s basic financial statements, results of operations, long-
term debt activity and significant variations from the original adopted and final amended budgets pertaining to
certain major funds.

The School District presents comparative financial information between the current and prior fiscal years in its
MD&A in an effort to illustrate its overall financial performance and condition. The intent of the MD&A is to
help the reader identify the reasons for changes in net position, expenses, revenues and fund balances from the
prior fiscal year. The MD&A also assists the reader with identifying significant financial issues, identifying
changes or any material deviations from the School District’s prior financial position, and identifying any
individual fund issues or concerns. As such, this section is to be read in conjunction with and as a complement
to the School District’s Letter of Transmittal located at the front of this CAFR and the Financial Statements
immediately following,.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The global pandemic has had profound impacts to both the financial results of the District and the prioritization
of resources and expenditures in Fiscal Year 2020. The full extent of these impacts cannot be quantified at this
time as the pandemic is unpredictable and continues into the 2020/2021 school year and into the foreseeable
future.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Several key financial highlights for Fiscal Year 2020 include, but are not limited to, the following:

Total revenues were $3,861.8 million. Over 48.0 % of total revenues and subsidies were from the
State with PA Basic Education Subsidy (BES) representing approximately two thirds and grants
awarded and appropriated by the Pennsylvania State government comprising about one third.
About 41.0% of the District's revenues are from the collection of local taxes and local nontax
sources. The remaining 11.0% is subsidies and grants awarded and appropriated by the Federal
government.

Total revenues increased by $100.4 million compared to Fiscal Year 2019. Program revenues
increased by $59.6 million primarily from: 1) $62.2 million increase in operating grants and
contributions; offset by 2) $1.2 million decrease in capital grants and contributions, and 3) $1.4
million decrease in service charges. This increase is largely due to additional grant funds received
from the federal government and private grantors. Local revenues increased by $47.6 million
primarily due to State and Federal grants and subsidies of $44.4 million due to increases in the
basic education appropriation, transportation reimbursement and pension plan reimbursement
local grants and contributions not restricted to specific programs increasing by $41.1 million.
This was offset by a $12.4 million decrease in Property taxes and a total decrease of $25.5 million
in Use and Occupancy tax, Liquor tax, School Income tax, Cigarette tax and Rideshare revenues
due to impacts from the pandemic. The District also had a decrease of $6.8 million in swap
derivative revenue as the District no longer had these types of investments.

Total expenses were $3,931.2 million. Approximately 96% of all expenses are for instructional
services, direct student-related costs and services directly benefiting students and schools such as
transportation, utilities and debt service for school renovations and construction. A significant
portion of these expenses are fixed and/or mandated by regulatory and contractual obligations
(e.g., for benefits per the Collective Bargaining Agreements, mandated pension plan
contributions, debt service costs, and charter school transportation and per pupil payments).

Total expenses increased by $290.1 million compared to Fiscal Year 2019. This increase is due to
an additional $208.6 million in instruction costs, $27.1 million in student support services, $22.7
million in administrative support services, $24.3 million in operation and maintenance of plant
services and $20.5 million of interest on debt, offset by decreases of $14.4 in pupil transportation.
In addition, expenses under Business-type activities increased by $1.3 million primarily due to the
food service fund added expenses due to the pandemic.

At the end of the current fiscal year, total net deficit was $4,352.0 million. Over 86% of the net
deficit was due to the adoption of GASB’s reporting requirements for pensions and other
postemployment benefits (OPEB). In Fiscal Year 2020, the District recognized an unfunded net
pension liability of $3,571.5 million and an unfunded net PSERS OPEB and Life Insurance OPEB
liability of $162.4 million and $16.9 million, respectively. The remaining 14% of net deficit is
due to other unfunded liabilities, such as termination pay liabilities and workers compensation.

The Operating Fund consists of the General Fund, the Debt Service Fund and the Intermediate
Unit Fund. The Fiscal Year 2020 ending Operating Fund balance is $275.2 million. Of the total
$275.2 million fund balance for the Operating Fund at June 30, 2020, $7.6 million is non-
spendable or encumbered for existing purchase commitments, $25.0 million is reserved for
facilities costs and $69.8 million is restricted for future debt service payments, leaving an ending
budgetary operating fund balance of $172.8 million.

The Operating Fund balance of $275.2 million as of June 30, 2020 reflects a $29.0 million
decrease from the Fiscal Year 2019 balance. This balance includes $7.2 million of encumbrances
for the General and Intermediate Funds, $0.4 million of General Fund inventories, and $69.8
million for future debt payments and $25.0 million facilities reserves resulting in a $172.8 million
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ending budgetary operating fund balance. The decrease from Fiscal Year 2020 is primarily the
result of several factors: higher net revenues and lower transportation costs due to Covid-19
remote operations offset by increased instructional, operation and maintenance, pupil
transportation, charter school payments, and principal and interest payments resulting in a Fiscal
Year 2020 decrease in net position.

¢ Under bond covenants, the School District is required to set aside, with the District’s fiscal agent
from daily local revenue receipts, amounts sufficient to meet debt service obligations due at future
dates. At fiscal year end, the sinking funds in the fiscal agent's custody totaled $227.5 million
from the School District. Of this amount, $157.7 million is to pay obligations for the next fiscal
year, and $69.8 million represents mandatory deposits for future debt payments.

o The Debt Service Fund is a separate governmental fund (within the Operating Funds) established
for the accumulation of resources to pay bond principal and interest, and for payment of other
associated costs. The Debt Service Fund balance ended Fiscal Year 2020 with a $32.5 million net
change, which represented a $28.4 million increase in the net change from Fiscal Year 2019 to
Fiscal Year 2020. This increase resulted from the following: 1) $180.2 million increase in other
financing source primarily related to refunding debt and increase earnings; 2) a $148.3 million net
increase in principal, interest, and authority obligations expenditures; 3) an increase of $5.3
million in issuance costs and administrative expenditures, and 4) revenue increases of $1.8 million
mostly from state and federal revenues.

USING THIS COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT

This Financial Section of the CAFR generally consists of three parts: (1) Management’s Discussion and
Analysis; (2) a series of Financial Statements and Notes to those statements; and (3) Required Supplementary
Information. The financial statements are organized to first provide an understanding of the fiscal performance
of the School District as a whole. The financial statements are then later organized to provide a detailed look
at the School District’s specific financial activities.

District-Wide Statements

The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities are financial statements that provide information
concerning the overall activities of the School District while also presenting a long- term view of the School
District’s finances. These statements utilize the accrual basis of accounting and the economic resources
measurement focus, which is similar to the accounting methods used in most private sector companies. For
example, full accrual accounting recognizes the financial effects of events when they occur without regard to
the timing of cash flows related to those events.

The School District’s assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and net
position are detailed in the Statement of Net Position. From this statement, the reader can identify which
assets the School District owns, the amount of debt that is outstanding and the nature of the remaining net
assets. This information is used to assess the School District’s ability to cover operating costs and finance
those services in the future as well as its remaining borrowing capacity. This statement can also be used to
determine how much of the School District’s net assets can be used as collateral to fund new services,
programs or special initiatives as compared to how much is either currently invested in capital assets or
restricted for specific purposes.

While the Statement of Net Position provides the reader with a long-term view of the School District’s
financial condition, the Statement of Activities contains detailed information pertaining to the School District’s
direct costs of providing services (i.e., expenses) and the resources used to fund those services (i.e., revenues).
This presentation is also used to identify the costs of various services and functions and the extent to which
those services are able to cover their own costs with, for example, user fees, charges and grants, as opposed to
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V.

being financed with general revenues. Moreover, the statement provides comparative data regarding whether
the financial status of the School District has improved or deteriorated during the reported fiscal year.

Fund Financial Statements

Principally, fund financial statements provide the reader with more detail concerning current operations than
the district-wide financial statements by providing the reader with detailed information and data regarding the
School District’s major governmental funds: General, Intermediate Unit, Categorical, Debt Service and Capital
Projects. From these statements, the reader can understand how services were financed on a short-term basis
as well as what funding remains available for future spending to cover those services.

In contrast to district-wide financial statements, the fund financial statements utilize the modified accrual basis
of accounting and the current financial resource measurement focus. Under modified accrual accounting, the
fund recognizes revenues when they become available and measurable and expenditures when the liability is
incurred and measurable, except for long-term debt and obligations, which are recognized as they become due.
Modified accrual accounting measures cash and all other financial assets that can be readily converted to cash
and, as such, provides a more detailed short-term view of the School District’s general operations.

Fiduciary Responsibilities

The Statement of Fiduciary Net Position presents financial information that captures activities where the
School District acts solely as an agent for the benefit of employees, students and/or parents. These types of
activities are excluded from the district-wide financial statements since the School District cannot use these
assets to finance its operational needs. As such, the School District is legally responsible for ensuring that the
assets reported in these funds and statements are used for their intended purposes. The School District is and
acts as a trustee for the Fiduciary Funds.

REPORTING BY THE SCHOOL DISTRICT AS A WHOLE

As previously mentioned the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities provide the financial
status and operating results of the School District as a whole. The data presented in these statements provides
the reader with insight as to how the School District performed financially in Fiscal Year 2020. These two
statements report the School District’s net position and any changes in net position that are shown on Table 1
and Table 2. In addition, the information reveals whether the financial position of the School District has
improved or deteriorated during the fiscal year as compared to the prior fiscal year.

Net Position

Table 1 provides a summary of the School District's net deficit position as of June 30, 2020. A more detailed
Statement of Net Position is on page 34 of the Basic Financial Statement section:

-19-



Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Net Position
As of June 30, 2020
(Dollars in Millions)
Table 1
Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total
Assets 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
Current & Other Assets $ 14166 § 1,015 § 239 § 317 § 14405 §  1,0532
Capital Assets 1,909.4 1,798.3 34 34 1912.8 1,801.7
Total Assets 3,326.0 2,819.8 273 35.1 33533 2,854.9
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred Refunding Charges - Loss 67.1 90.2 0.0 0.0 67.1 90.2
Deferred Pension 5743 700.0 8.7 10.6 583.0 710.6
Deferred OPEB 273 26.1 0.4 0.4 277 26.5
Total Deferred Outflows 668.7 816.3 9.1 11.0 677.8 8273
Liabilities
Current & Other Liabilities 5224 405.0 37 1.7 526.1 406.7
Long-Term Liabilities 3914.1 3,535.1 22 2.0 39163 3,537.1
Net Pension Liability 3,518.2 3,643.7 533 55.1 3,571.5 3,698.8
Net OPEB Liability 176.7 174.1 25 2.5 1792 176.6
Total Liabilities 81314 7,7579 61.7 613 8,193.1 78192
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred Refunding Charges - Gain 182 3.6 0.0 0.0 182 36
Deferred Pension 162.3 132.3 25 2.0 164.8 1343
Deferred OPEB 6.9 73 0.1 0.1 7.0 74
Total Deferred Inflows 1874 143.2 2.6 2.1 190.0 1453
Net Position
Net Investment in Capital Assets (667.7) (620.1) 34 34 (664.3) (616.7)
Restricted 243.6 210.6 0.0 0.0 2436 210.6
Unrestricted (Deficit) (3,900.0) (3,855.5) (31.3) (20.7) (3,931.3) (3,876.2)
Total Net Position (Deficit) $ (43241) § ($4265.0) § ($279) $ ($17.3) § (43520) § (4,2823)
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For the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2020, the School District's total net deficit was $4,352.0 million. This net
deficit amount is cumulative and represents the accumulated results of all prior fiscal year operations of which
($3,931.3) million is unrestricted. This balance reflects the unfavorable results of Fiscal Year 2020 operations
of $69.4 million of expenses over revenues and an unfavorable prior period adjustment related to capital assets
of $0.3 million. This total decrease of $69.7 million was the result of the following: 1) an increase in long-
term liabilities of $379.2 million, which primarily consists of new bonded debt, net premiums and discounts of
$365.4 million, 2) an increase in pension and OPEB deferred inflows, net of pension and OPEB liabilities and
deferred outflows of $31.8 million, 3) an increase in accounts payable, payroll liabilities and other current
liabilities of $119.5 million, and 4) an increase in deferred inflows of resources, net of deferred outflows, for
refunding charges of $37.7 million. These increases of $568.2 million were offset by 1) an increase in current
assets of $387.3 million which consists primarily of an increase in cash, cash equivalents, pooled cash and
investments, and investments (restricted and unrestricted) of $330.3 million, and 2) an increase in capital
assets, net of depreciation, of $111.2 million.

The increase in bonded debt, total cash and investments and capital assets is the result of new bond issuances
by the District in Fiscal Year 2020. The increase in deferred inflows of resources for pension is due to a
decrease in the District’s proportionate share as outlined in note 4K. The increase in accounts payable, payroll
liabilities and other liabilities is the result of the timing of check disbursements, an increase in teacher salaries
coupled with the timing of teachers receiving summer pay and an increase in interest accrued on bonds due to
newly issued bonds. The increase in deferred charges is the result of refunding bonds issued by the District in
Fiscal Year 2020. The increase in accounts receivable is largely due to the timing of when the District
received federal grant funds and additional tax revenues earned by June 30, 2020 but not received until July
and August 2020.

Moreover, restricted assets are reported separately on the Statement of Net Position to show legal constraints
from covenants and enabling legislation when applicable that limit the School District’s ability to use those
funds to cover daily operations.

Changes in Net Position

The Statement of Activities presents the School District’s revenues and expenses in a programmatic format,
For each activity, the statement presents gross expenses, offsetting program revenues and the resulting net cost
of each general activity. Since a large portion of the School District’s revenues are general or otherwise not
associated with or dedicated to providing any specific program, each activity in the statement displays either a
deficit (i.e., net cost of operating the activity) or a surplus (i.e., net profit of operating the activity).

The results of this year’s operations as a whole are reported in the Statement of Activities on page 35 of the
Basic Financial Statement section. Table 2 summarizes the data from that presentation.
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Changes in Net Position
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020

(Dollars in Millions)
Table 2
Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total

Revenues 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
Program Revenues

Charges for Services $ 37 $ 5.0 $ 17 $ 1.8 $ 54 $ 6.8

Operating Grants & Contributions 1,099.8 1,024.1 713 90.8 L1771 11149

Capital Grants & Contributions 6.9 8.1 - - 6.9 8.1
General Revenues

Property Taxes 8294 841.8 - - 829.4 3418

Other Taxes 475.0 500.5 - - 475.0 500.5

Grants & Contributions Not Restricted 266.8 2257 - - 266.8 2257

State & Federal Subsidies Not Restricted 1,101.2 1,056.8 - - 1,101.2 1,056.8

Investment Revenue/(Expense) - 6.8 - - - 6.8
Total Revenues 3,782.8 3,668.8 79.0 92.6 3,861.8 3,761.4
Expenses
Instruction 2,875.8 2,6672 - - 28758 2,667.2
Student Support Services 309.5 2824 - - 309.5 2824
Administrative Support & Other 167.9 1452 - - 167.9 145.2
Interest on Long Term Debt 164.7 1442 - - 164.7 1442
Pupil Transportation 86.3 100.7 - - 36.3 100.7
Operation & Maintenance 2373 213.0 - - 2373 213.0
Food Service/Print Shop/Use of Facilities - - 89.7 88.4 89.7 884
Total Expenses 3,8415 3,552.7 89.7 88.4 3,931.2 3,641.1
Excess before Transfers (58.7) 116.1 (10.7) 42 (69.4) 1203
Transfers 0.1) - 0.1 - - -
Increase in Net Position (58.8) 116.1 (10.6) 42 (69.4) 1203
Net (Deficit) - Beginning (4,265.0) (4,393.8) 173) (21.6) (4,282.3) (4415.4)
Prior Period Adjustment - Payroll Liabilities - 9.2 - - - 92
Prior Period Adjustment - Prepaid Expenses - 32 - - - 32
Prior Period Adjustment - Capital Assets (0.3) 0.3 - 0.1 0.3) 0.4
Net (Deficit) - Ending $ (4,324.1) $  (4,265.0) $ (27.9) $ (17.3) §  (4352.0) § (42823

The ending Fiscal Year 2020 Net Deficit of a $4,352.0 million, represents a negative $69.7 million change
from Fiscal Year 2019 Net Deficit of $4,282.3 million, as adjusted. The Fiscal Year 2020 Net Deficit is
comprised of: 1) revenues of $3,861.8 million with $1,189.4 miilion of program revenues and $2,672.4 million
of general revenues, and 2) $3,931.2 million of expenses mostly comprised of instruction related costs. Table 3
provides the revenue sources in more detail and Table 4 provides the expenses by major cost category.

Major Sources of Revenues

The School District’s overall revenues are derived primarily from three sources: (i) state grants and subsidies;
(ii) local taxes and non-tax revenues; and (iii) federal grants and subsidies. The largest component of state
subsidies is the basic education funding allocation, which the School District can use to cover any costs
associated with the operation of the public school system. The largest component of local revenue is the levy
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and collection of taxes such as real estate, business use and occupancy, sales tax, cigarette tax, non-business
income, liquor by the drink, ridesharing and public utility realty. A third source of revenue is both federal and
state grants dedicated to providing specific programs and services.

Revenue by Source and Type
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020

(Dollars in Millions)
Table 3
Program Revenues General Revenues
Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities

Revenue Source 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
Taxes $ - $ - $ - $ - § 13044 § 13423 $ - S

Locally Generated NonTax 244 15.0 17 1.8 266.8 2325

State and Federal Grants and Subsidies 1,086.0 1,022.2 713 90.8 1,101.2 1,056.8

Total Revenue $ L1104 0§ 10372 S 790 § 92.6 § 26724 § 26316 $ - $

The following bar graph illustrates the School District’s major sources of revenues for all revenue sources for
Fiscal Year 2020:

Cost of Services by Major Functional Expense Category

Table 4 and the accompanying graph illustrate and highlight the net costs incurred by each of the major
activities presented in the School District’s Statement of Activities. For each activity, the statement presents
gross expenses and the resulting net cost (surplus), offset by program revenues, of each general activity. The
major functional expense categories are titled: Instruction, Student Support Services, Operation and
Maintenance, Administrative Support and Other, Interest on Long Term Debt, Pupil Transportation, Food
Service/Print Shop/Use of Facilities and Early Childhood Education.
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Cost of Services by
Major Functional Expense Category
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020

(Dollars in Millions)
Table 4
2020 2019
Gross Cost Net Cost Gross Cost Net Cost
Functional Expense of Services of Services of Services of Services
Instruction $ 2,875.8 $ 2,181.1 $  2,6672 $ 2,030.6
Student Support Services 309.5 151.6 282.4 144.5
Operation & Maintenance 237.3 198.8 213.0 175.0
Administrative Support & Other 168.0 116.5 145.2 93.2
Interest on Long Term Debt 164.7 79.5 144.2 58.3
Pupil Transportation 86.3 3.8 100.7 13.9
Food Service / Print Shop / Use of Facilities 89.6 10.6 88.4 4.2)
Total Expenses $ 3,931.2 $ 2,741.9 3 3,641.1 $ 2,511.3
Governmental Activities Net Cost of Services
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020
(Dollars in Millions)
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V. FUND HIGHLIGHTS

While the School District maintains and accounts for a number of funds, six of these funds are considered
major funds. These funds are the General Fund, Intermediate Unit Fund, Categorical Funds, Debt Service
Fund, Capital Projects Fund and Food Service Enterprise Fund.

General Fund

The General Fund serves as the School District's main operating fund that records all financial activity except
for those transactions that must be specifically accounted for under the other funds, such as the Debt Service
Fund. The General Fund had a positive ending fund balance of $47.2 million on June 30, 2020. For Fiscal
Year 2020, there was an excess of revenues over expenditures of $523.9 million, offset by $583.9 of other
financing uses, together, these resulted in a decrease of $60.0 million to the ending fund balance.
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Intermediate Unit Fund

The Intermediate Unit Fund accounts for state appropriations for special education as well as certain
administrative costs. Programs include Autistic Support, Blind or Visually Impaired Support, Deaf or Hearing
Impaired Support, Emotional Support, Learning Support and Multiple Disabilities Support while related
administrative costs include physical and occupational therapy, special education transportation, health
counseling and sign language interpretation. During Fiscal Year 2020, the Intermediate Unit Fund had a
deficiency of revenues under expenditures of $292.6 million, other financing sources to cover the revenue
shortfall of $291.1 million totaling a net decrease of $1.5 million to fund balance resulting in an ending fund
balance of $0.5 million at June 30, 2020.

Categorical Funds

Categorical Funds account for specific purpose federal, state, city or private grants and non-public school
programs to cover the costs of dedicated programs and special initiatives. Categorical Funds had a $18.3
million negative net change in fund balance, which resulted in a negative $22.1 million fund balance at June
30, 2020. There were $22.1 million still outstanding from grantors and recorded as unavailable revenue for
Fiscal Year 2020 compared to $3.8 million from Fiscal Year 2019.

Debt Service Fund

The Debt Service Fund accounts for the School District's accumulation of resources for the payment of debt
service and bond issuance costs. During Fiscal Year 2020, the Debt Service Fund reflects a $32.5 million net
increase in fund balance to $227.5 million as of June 30, 2020. Primarily the causes of the net increase related
to: 1) $2.4 million increase for debt service principal requirements: 2) $17.1 million increase for debt service
interest payments, 3) an increase of $13.3 million set aside for mandatory sinking fund payments offset by, 4)
a decrease of $0.3 million in assigned funds for defeasance.

Capital Projects Fund

The Capital Projects Fund accounts for financial resources to cover the costs associated with the acquisition of
capital assets and for the construction, modernization, alteration, repair, and improvements to the School
District's major capital facilities and buildings. During Fiscal Year 2020, the Capital Projects Fund increased
by $322.5 million to a fund balance of $463.4 million. Revenues were $10.7 million, transfers-in were $0.3
million and bond issuance costs were $0.1 million. New building construction totaled $38.0 million, capital
alterations and improvements environmental management totaled $106 6 million, major renovations, and
equipment acquisitions totaled $73.8 million.

Enterprise Funds

The Enterprise Funds account for the operations of the Food Service Division (Major Fund), the Print Shop
(Non-Major Fund) and the Use of Facilities (Non-Major Fund). The Enterprise Funds had a total net deficit
balance of $27.9 million at the end of Fiscal Year 2020 with a negative $26.6 million for the Food Service
Fund, negative $1.5 million for the Print Shop and a positive $0.2 million for Use of Facilities. This reflects a
$10.5 million decrease in net position from the previous fiscal year, almost all related to the Food Service
Fund. The Food Service Division realized a $10.3 million net loss primarily due to a decrease in Federal and
State Grants of $13.3 million, which was offset by a $2.5 million decrease in food expense, all because of the
pandemic.

The financial performance and position of each of the previously discussed major and non-major funds can be

found in the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances on pages 40-41, as well as
page 44 for the Enterprise Funds, and are summarized in Table 5 and Table 6 that immediately follows:
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Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues, Other Financing Sources/Uses, and Over (Under) Expenditures for
Major and Non-Major Funds
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020

(Dollars in Millions)
Table 5
Fiscal Year Fiscal Year
Fund 2020 2019

General $ (60.0) $ 25.3
Intermediate Unit (1.5) 1.3
Categorical (18.3) 5.9
Debt Service 32.5 3.9
Capital Projects 322.5 (185.6)
Food Service (10.6) 4.1
Non-Major Enterprise 0.1 0.1
Non-Major Governmental 0.1 0.1
Total Change in Fund Balance/Net Position $ 264.8 $ (144.9)

Total Fund Balances and Net Position for Major and Non-Major Funds
As of June 30,2020

(Dollars in Millions)
Table 6
Fiscal Year Fiscal Year
Fund 2020 2019

General $ 47.2 3$ 107.2
Intermediate Unit 0.5 2.0
Categorical 22.1) (3.8)
Debt Service 227.5 195.0
Capital Projects 463.4 140.9
Food Service (26.6) (15.9)
Non-Major Enterprise (1.3) 1.4)
Non-Major Governmental 6.5 6.5
Total Fund Balance/Net Position $ 695.1 3 430.5

Internal Service Funds

In addition, the District has two Internal Service Funds which accounts for the Healthcare Self Insurance Fund
and the Internal Use of Facilities Fund. The Healthcare Self Insurance Fund was established for self-insurance
medical, vision and prescription service costs (excluding Health & Welfare payments to unions) to allow better
visibility and analyses by type of medical coverage due to these costs being a major cost factor of the District's
expenses. A new Internal Use of Facilities Fund was established last fiscal year as part of the Internal Service
Funds which segregates from the General Fund the related revenues and costs for use of our buildings after
business hours for internal users. At June 30, 2020, the Internal Service Funds had a total net position balance
of $43.3 million, almost all of which is for the Healthcare Self Insurance Fund, which includes $9.5 million of
restricted self-insurance funds for claim expenditures to fund incurred claim expenditures that have not been
billed to the District.
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BUDGETING HIGHLIGHTS

The Operating Budget consists of the General Fund, the Debt Service Fund and the Intermediate Unit Fund.
The following are the classifications of the Operating Fund balances: 1) General Fund, $15.2 million
unassigned, $6.7 million of encumbrances assigned and, $0.4 million of non-spendable fund balance for
inventories, 2) Intermediate Unit Fund, a positive $0.5 million of committed fund balance for encumbrances,
and 3) Debt Service Fund, a positive $227.5 million is considered restricted which includes $69.8 million for
future debt payments..

On May 30, 2019, the Board of Education adopted the Fiscal Year 2020 Operating Budget of $3,340.6 million
in revenues and other financing sources and $3,382.3 million in obligations and other financing uses. On May
28, 2020, the Board of Education amended the Fiscal Year 2020 Operating Budget of $3,625.6 million in
revenues and other financing sources and obligations and other financing uses of $3,651.0 million. Both the
adopted and amended Fiscal Year 2020 Operating Budget resolutions/action items reflect other financing
sources and uses net of transfers between the General Fund, Intermediate Unit and Debt Service Fund.

General Fund Budget (Included in legally adopted Operating Budget)

For Fiscal Year 2020, the final budgeted General Fund revenue and Other Financing Sources was $67.6
million lower than the original Fiscal Year 2020 budget adopted in May 2019. This resulted primarily from a
$57.0 million budget reduction in local taxes and a $28.9 million reduction in state revenues, primarily due to
the Ready to Learn grant not being included as part of the operating budget as proposed, offset by a $14.3
million increase in local non tax revenues and a $4.0 million increase in all other revenues and sources.

The anticipated obligations in the final General Fund budget represented a decrease of $67.3 million from the
original adopted budget. This decrease resulted from the following changes in budgets: net decreases of $57.3
million in Instruction, savings in transportation of $17.0 million due to the pandemic, savings in payments to
charter schools of $4.0 million, and savings in other support services of $16.0 million savings related to lapsed
appropriation and undistributed expenditures. The $57.3 million in instructional savings was primarily driven
by $39.1 million in Ready to Learn Grant expenditures included in the original budget that were not included
in the final budget, and savings related to per diem costs and payments to other educational entities, partially
offset by an increase in educational technology costs related to the COVID-19 pandemic. These savings were
offset by increases of $24.7 million in operation and maintenance of plant services due to additional spend on
new and improved facilities and a net all other increase of $2.3 million.

The anticipated Other Financing Sources and Uses in the final General Fund budget were $8.8 million
favorable over the original adopted budget. This is due primarily to a $3.9 million increase in General Fund
Sources, a $7.5 million reduction in the transfer amount to the Special Education fund, offset by a $2.6 million
increase in the transfer to the Debt Services fund.

The actual ending General Fund balance at June 30, 2020 of a positive $47.2 million was $39.4 million
favorable compared to the final budget ending balance of a $7.8 million. Actual General Fund revenues of
$3,100.4 million are $3.1 million lower than those estimated in the final General Fund budget of $3,103.5
million. Actual General Fund obligations totaling $2,559.1 million were $14.2 million lower than estimated in
the final budget of $2,573.2 million. Other financing sources and uses of $585.2 million were $3.7 million
unfavorable compared to the final budget.

In addition, $32.0 million of fund balance is not available for appropriation (a beginning fund balance variance
of $23.1 million is due to encumbrances and other reserve carry forward from Fiscal Year 2019 and a $8.9
million change in encumbrance and inventory reserves during the current year). Table 7 presents a summary
comparison of the General Fund’s original and final operating budgets with actual performance. More details
can be seen in the General Fund Budgetary Comparison Schedule of the Required Supplementary Information
section:
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General Fund Budget Comparison
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020

(Dollars in Millions)
Table 7
Budget Variance vs

Original Final Actual Final Budget
Total Revenues $ 31750 $ 31035 $  3,1004 $ 3.0
Total Obligations 2,640.5 2,573.2 2,559.1 14.1
Total Other Financing Sources/(Uses) (590.3) (581.6) (585.2) (3.6)
Net Change in Fund Balance (55.8) (51.3) (43.9) 7.4
Fund Balance Beginning of Year 719 84.1 107.2 23.1
Reserve for Facilities - (25.0) - 25.0
Change in Reserves - - (16.1) (16.1)
Fund Balance End of Year $ 16.1 $ 7.8 $ 47.2 $ 39.4

During Fiscal Year 2020, the School District incurred a number of variances compared to the final General
Fund budget including, but not limited to the following:

o Revenues had a $3.1 million unfavorable variance due to a $26.0 million favorable variance in local tax
revenues, a $28.8 million unfavorable variance in state grants and subsidies, and a $0.3 million
unfavorable variance in local non-tax revenues.

e Obligations were $14.1 million less than budgeted primarily due to savings of $11.1 million in facilities
and capital management, savings of $4.1 million in payments to other entities, and savings of $2.0 million
in payments to charter schools, offset by $3.1 million in higher than budgeted costs in other areas.

e  Other Financing uses were $3.6 million unfavorable from the final budget. This is due to an increase of
$6.4 million of transfers to the Debt Service Fund offset by a decrease of $2.4 million of transfers to
Special Education and $0.4 million in other uses.

CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

Capital Assets

As of the end of Fiscal Year 2020, the School District had $3,910.2 million invested in capital assets. Over the
years, these assets have depreciated by $1,997.4 million leaving a carrying value of $1,912.8 million. This
represents an increase of $111.4 million over the Fiscal Year 2019 ending balance. Table 8 represents Net
Capital Assets. Refer to Footnote 1D(8) and 4D for additional information.
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Net Capital Assets

As of June 30, 2020

(Dollars in Millions)

Table 8
Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities
Capital Asset Category 2020 2019 2020 2019

Land $ 129.3 $ 129.2 $ - 3 -
Buildings, Improvements & Intangible Assets 1,521.7 1,466.7 - -
Personal Property 40.5 49.2 34 34
Construction and Development In Progress 217.9 152.9 - -
Total Net Book Value $ 1,909.4 $ 1,798.0 $ 3.4 $ 3.4

Debt Administration

The School District is a component unit of the City of Philadelphia (“City”) for financial reporting purposes
only and the debt that is incurred is not considered a debt of the City. The School District issues debt in the
form of bonds to be used for the acquisition of land and equipment purchases, construction purposes and notes
to cover its short-term cash flow needs.

Almost all outstanding bonds issued prior to 2010 (except for its Qualified Zone Academy Bonds and
Qualified School Construction Bonds) were insured and carried mid-grade credit ratings from Standard &
Poor’s Rating Services (S&P), Moody’s Investors Service (Moody's) and Fitch IBCA (Fitch). The School
District when issuing bonds, thereafter, has relied on the enhanced security that the State Intercept Program
provides.

Pennsylvania lawmakers strengthened the Pennsylvania school district intercept program by passing
Pennsylvania’s Act 85 of 2016, which the Governor signed into law on July 13, 2016. The law allows the
Pennsylvania Department of Education, if needed in the event of a state budget impasse, to request available
Pennsylvania General Fund money to make debt service payments.

It is important to understand that while the new provisions strengthen the PA intercept mechanism, they do not
guarantee debt service payments will be paid. There are limitations. They are as follows:

Payments cannot exceed 50% of a school district’s annual general fund subsidy.
Funds are limited to available cash balances at the time of the intercept.

¢ The Commonwealth is restricted from issuing tax anticipation notes or entering into a loan
agreement with the PA Treasury for liquidity to provide intercept payments.

e A 10-day period giving the chair and minority chair of the appropriations committee of the
PA House time to “review and comment” on the request is required.

In December 2018, Moody upgraded the School District’s Bond rating to Baa3 and set the outlook to stable. In
June 2020, Moody's reaffirmed their credit rating and Fitch affirmed the School District's Issuer Default Rating
as BB+. This improved rating has positively influenced the District’s borrowing rates and future financing
needs.

Table 9, shows a summary of all long-term obligations outstanding:
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Long-Term Obligations Outstanding

As of June 30, 2020
(Dollars in Millions)
Table 9
Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Government-Wide
Net Net Net
2020 2019 Change 2020 2019 Change Change

Total Bonded Debt § 35479 § 31824 § 3655 b - $ - $ - $ 365.5
Employee Related Obligations 3,906.1 40183 (112.2) 58.0 59.6 (1.6) (113.8)
Due to Other Governments 453 453 - - - - -
Other 109.8 106.9 29 - - - 2.9
Total Long-Term Obligations Outstanding $ 76091 § 73529 § 2562 $ 580 § 596 § (1.6) $ 2546

The Total Long-term Obligations Outstanding increased by $254.6 million. This includes an increase in
bonded debt of $365.5 million, a decrease in employee obligations of $113.8 million and an increase of other
long-term obligations of $2.9 million. Refer to Footnote 4E (2), 4] and 4K for additional information.

VIII. FUTURE CHALLENGES FOR THE SCHOOL DISTRICT

Current Financial Situation

The School District ended Fiscal Year 2020 with a positive operating fund balance of $275.2 million, which
reflects expendable and nonexpendable categories and amounts that are restricted, committed, assigned or
unassigned. The $275.2 million includes $32.6 million of encumbrances, inventories and facilities reserves for
the General Fund and Intermediate Unit Fund, and $69.8 million in funds assigned to future long-term Debt
Service payments The ending budgetary operating fund balance is a positive $172.8 million after accounting
for those items.

The adoption of the GASB’s Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPEB) reporting requirements
in fiscal year 2018 and the adoption of GASB’s pension reporting requirements four years ago has had and will
continue to have a profound effect on the financial statements and net position of school districts in
Pennsylvania and across the nation.

As described in Footnote 1D (13), the District contributes for Healthcare benefits (OPEB) to the Pennsylvania
Public School Employees' Retirement System (PSERS), a defined benefit pension plan that provides retirement
benefits to public school employees of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. Under this approach, the District
reports its proportionate share of the net OPEB liability on the statement of net position of the government-
wide and proprietary fund financial statements. In addition, the District reports its total OPEB Life Insurance
Benefit liability under the net position for governmental activities on the government-wide statements. Total
OPEB Life Insurance Benefit liability are fully liquidated by the General Fund.

At June 30, 2020, the GASB’s OPEB reporting requirements had a cumulative net effect of $158.5 million. Of
the $158.5 million cumulative net effect at June 30, 2020, $156.3 million and $2.2 million affected the
Governmental activities section and Business-activities section, respectively. For the $156.3 million, under the
Governmental section, this included $176.7 million net OPEB liability, $27.3 million in deferred OPEB
outflows, and $6.9 million in deferred OPEB inflows. For the cumulative net effect of $2.2 million under the
Business-activities section, this included $2.5 million net OPEB Healthcare liability, $0.4 million in deferred
OPEB outflows, and $0.1 million in deferred OPEB inflows. OPEB pension inflows of the Food Service Fund
and Print Shop Fund Enterprise Funds statements, respectively. The $2.2 million under the Business-type
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section is reported in the Enterprise Funds statement. Reporting on the Governmental Fund statement is not
affected.

The adoption of the GASB’s pension reporting requirements continues to have a significant effect on the
financial statements and net position in the current fiscal year. The District contributes to the Pennsylvania
Public School Employees' Retirement System (PSERS), a defined benefit pension plan that provides retirement
benefits to public school employees of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. Under this approach, the District
reports its proportionate share of the net pension liability on the Statement of Net Position of the Government-
wide and Proprietary Fund financial statements.

In Fiscal Year 2020, the GASB’s pension reporting requirements resulted in a cumulative net effect of
$3,153.2 million. Of the $3,153.2 million cumulative net effect, $3,106.2 million and $47.0 million affected
the Governmental activities section and Business-activities section, respectively. For the cumulative net effect
of $3,106.2 million under the Governmental section, this included $3,518.2 million net pension liability,
$574.3 million in deferred pension outflows, and $162.3 million in deferred pension inflows. For the
cumulative net effect of $47.0 million under the Business-activities section, this included $53.3 million net
pension liability, $8.7 million in deferred pension outflows, and $2.4 million in deferred pension inflows. The
cumulative net effect of $47.0 million affected deferred pension outflows, net pension liability, deferred
pension inflows of the food service fund and print shop fund enterprise funds statements. Reporting on the
Governmental Fund statement is not affected.

The District is currently projecting a positive $30.8 million fiscal year ending June 30, 2021 budgetary
operating fund balance. The projected Fiscal Year 2021 fund balance was achieved primarily through a
beginning fund balance of $172.8 million, offset by a projected operating deficit including change of reserves
of $142.1 million. As of January 2021, the District projected a $47.6 million ending fund balance for Fiscal
Year 2022.

Major Factors Driving Costs

A major cost driver that has affected the School District's spending has been Federal regulations requiring
school choice options. As part of school choice options, the School District, in 2020, supported 109 Charter
Schools including brick and mortar and cyber charter schools where any student may apply to attend. Funding
Charter Schools, as required by the Pennsylvania Charter School Law, Act 22 of 1997 has had a significant
fiscal impact on the School District since its passage with approximately 40% or $1.1 million of the General
Fund obligation budget going to charters in Fiscal Year 2020. Five years ago, a Pennsylvania Supreme Court
Decision stated that the School Reform Commission (now the Board of Education) was not able to suspend
certain provisions of the Pennsylvania School Code to include caps on enrollment numbers of charter schools
unless contractually agreed to by both parties. Although this has not had a significant financial impact; future
impacts of this decision cannot be determined. In March of 2018, the Pennsylvania Department of Education
rescinded the charter payment guidelines, clarifying the calculations utilized to calculate the annual charter rate
in accordance with the Charter law.

Charter Schools remain highly dispersed geographically, with the students enrolled in Charter Schools not all
coming from the same classroom, grade level or even from the same school or neighborhood. Therefore, given
these realities, the School District has been unable to make dollar-for-dollar reductions in cost areas such as the
number of principals, custodians and bus drivers it employs. Fiscal Year 2020 expenditures from all
governmental funds were $1,061.4 million representing a $81.8 million increase over the prior fiscal year. As a
result, the impact of Charter Schools to the District's operating budget has increased due to increases in Charter
School costs driven by increased enrollments and per pupil costs.

Federal regulations also mandate that all teachers of core academic subjects must be considered
"Appropriately State Certified". To meet this standard, all teachers must be fully certified and/or licensed
by the state; hold at least a bachelor's degree from a four-year institution; and demonstrate competence in
each core academic subject area they teach. By the end of Fiscal Year 2019, 90.4% of the teachers in the
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School District were considered highly qualified, and 94.8% considered fully certified. With recruitment and
retention strategies, on-going professional development, and staffing process improvements, the internally
calculated percentage of highly qualified teachers was 89.4% in Fiscal Year 2020 and the percentage of highly
certified teachers of core academic subjects 91.2%.

The District has experienced a rising cost of personnel benefits, which is a major cost driver. Retirement
benefits are State mandated expenditures of $370.1 million (net expenditures of $202.8 million with State
reimbursement portion) in Fiscal Year 2020 and the required employer contribution rates have been growing
drastically over the past five fiscal years (from 25.00% in Fiscal Year 2016 to 33.36% in 2020, an increase of
33.44%), causing a further drain on District resources. Although the District's medical, dental and vision costs
have slowed in recent years, they represent a large share of the personnel costs. Self-Insurance related
Healthcare costs in Fiscal Year 2020 were about $172.0 million (excluding Health & Welfare payments to
Unions and dental). The District spent $453.9 million on debt service in Fiscal Year 2020. To manage these
debt service costs, the District has been effectively managing debt issuances and refinancing bonds. This along
with the positive financial outlook and recent investment grade bond rating has served to reduce these costs
further.

School Safety

The Office of School Safety (OSS) embarked on a comprehensive strategy to re-envision a department - with
an emphasis on restorative practices. In accordance with Pennsylvania’s Safe Schools Legislation, the job title
has been changed from School Police Officers to School Safety Officers (SSO). Our partnership with the
Philadelphia Police Department and Department of Human Services has allowed us to review the Philadelphia
Police School Diversion Program, in an effort to expand services and reduce the number of students being
arrested. The metal detector protocol has been revised to ensure the scanning process is conducted in a
procedurally just and humane manner. Safety Officers participate in comprehensive training programs that
include diversity and inclusion, trauma-sensitive care, adolescent development and restorative justice. OSS
continues to collaborate with students, teachers, administrators and other organizations to ensure our work and
strategies are prioritizing student health and safety.

Capital Improvement Program

The School District of Philadelphia faces many diverse challenges as it continues to pursue educational
excellence for students throughout the city; one such difficulty is addressing the extensive physical needs of
the school facilities. The District's Capital Improvement Program (CIP) is a set of projects that construct,
replace and/or modernize District facilities to offset the effects of age and use that has occurred in the school
buildings and to improve the educational environment for our students. The current CIP covers $1,869.0
million from Fiscal Years’ 2021 to 2026 and is updated every year with the planned annual expenditure levels
dependent on the District's ability to fund and issue long-term debt instruments as determined by the annual
operating budget's debt capacity. The Capital Budget for Fiscal Year 2021 is $397.2 million, and as of May
2020, will partially fund 96 active construction contracts and primarily fund 65 projects currently in the design
phase and 75 projects in the planning phase. The CIP includes new construction, major renovations, classroom
modernization, environmental services, technology projects, bus transportation, and life-cycle replacements
comprised of HVAC, structural, roofs, windows and doors, electrical systems, site improvements, security
equipment and the ongoing facility condition assessment,

IX. THE SCHOOL DISTRICT’S MANAGEMENT

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the financial conditions of the School
District. If you have questions about the report or need additional financial information, please contact Uri Z.
Monson, Chief Financial Officer or Marcy F. Blender, CPA, Comptroller, at 440 North Broad Street,
Philadelphia, PA 19130.
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ASSETS
Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash and Investments with Fiscal Agent
Equity In Pooled Cash and Investments
Taxes Receivable ( Net )
Due from Other Governments
Accounts Receivable (Net)
Accrued Interest Receivable
Internal Balances
Inventory
Prepaid Expenses
Prepaid Bond Insurance Premium Costs
Restricted Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Equity In Pooled Cash and Investments
Investments
Funds on Deposit
Cash Held in Escrow
Capital Assets:
Land
Buildings and Improvements
Personal Property
Construction and Development in Progress
Intangibles
Accumulated Depreciation

Total Assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred Refunding Charges - Losses
Deferred Pension
Deferred OPEB

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources

LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable
Overpayment of Taxes
Accrued Salaries and Benefits Payable
Termination Compensation Payable
Other Liabilities
Unearned Revenue
Dug to Other Govemnments
Bond Interest Payable
Non-Current Liabilities
Due within one year
Due in more than one year

Total Liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred Pension
Deferred OPEB
Deferred Refunding Charges - Gain
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources

NET POSITION
Net Investment in Capital Assets
Restricted for:
Medical Self-Insurance
Debt Service
Special Revenue Funds & Permanent Funds
Expendable - Student Health
Non-Expendable - Scholarships
Arbitrage Rebate Payable
Unrestricted Deficit

Total Net Deficit

School District of Philadelphia
Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2020

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total
$ - 2,205 $ 2,205
227,437,449 - 227,437,449
259,433,365 17,537,492 276,970,857
154,902,058 - 154,902,058
204,830,545 4,180,461 209,011,006
39,760,273 1,732,193 41,492,466
898,444 - 898,444
156,726 (156,726) -
381,120 582,439 963,559
2,183,523 - 2,183,523
7,325,524 - 7,325,524
40,376,937 - 40,376,937
322,703,858 - 322,703,858
144,700,353 - 144,700,353
9,500,000 - 9,500,000
2,000,000 - 2,000,000
129,309,409 - 129,309,409
3,269,688,117 - 3,269,688,117
194,734,423 18,635,107 213,369,530
217,915,391 - 217,915,391
79,917,818 - 79,917,818
(1,982,172,090) (15,243,934) (1,997,416,024)
3,325,983,243 27,269,237 3,353,252,480
67,076,715 - 67,076,715
574,320,107 8,690,788 583,010,895
27,317,594 415,877 27,733,471
668,714,416 9,106,665 677,821,081
212,211,953 2,736,914 214,948,867
24,411,798 - 24,411,798
186,922,436 852,711 187,775,147
14,227,964 161,680 14,389,644
6,738,676 - 6,738,676
25,099,154 - 25,099,154
10,781,003 - 10,781,003
41,998,801 - 41,998,801
279,778,425 157,071 279,935,496
7,329,279,642 57,781,806 7,387,061,448
8,131,449,852 61,690,182 8,193,140,034
162,284,233 2,456,017 164,740,250
6,863,650 95,379 6,959,029
18,210,229 - 18,210,229
187,358,112 2,551,396 189,909,508
(667,664,160) 3,391,173 (664,272,987)
9,500,000 - 9,500,000
227,460,019 - 227,460,019
4,310,350 - 4,310,350
2,221,063 - 2,221,063
54,833 - 54,833
(3,899,992,410) (31,256,849) (3,931,249,259)
$ (4,324,110,305) (27,865,676) $  (4,351,975,981)

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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ASSETS

Cash & Cash Equivalents

Cash and Investments with Fiscal Agent
Equity in Pooled Cash and Investments
Cash Held by Escrow

Investments

Taxes Receivable (Net)

Due from Other Funds

Due from Other Governments
Accounts Receivable (Net)

Accrued Interest Receivable

Inventory

Prepaid Items

Total Assets

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:

Accounts Payable

Overpayment of Taxes

Accrued Salaries and Benefits Payable

Termination Compensation Payable

Unearned Revenue

Due to Other Funds

Due to Other Governments

Other Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources:
Unavailable Tax and Accounts Receivable Revenue
Unavailable Grant Revenue

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources

Fund Balances:

Nonspendable:
Inventories
Permanent Fund Principal

Restricted: -
Retirement of Long Term Debt
Mandatory Deposits for Future Debt Payments
Debt Service Interest
Arbitrage Rebate Payable
Trust Purposes
Capital Purposes

Committed:
Special Education

Assigned:
Subsequent Year Expenditures
Facilities

Unassigned (Deficit):

Total Fund Balances (Deficit)

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances

School District of Philadelphia
Balance Sheet
Govemmental Funds
June 30, 2020

General Intermediate Categorical
Fund Unit Fund Funds

$ - $ - $ -
153,122,020 31,626,454 -

2,000,000 - -

154,502,058 - -

10,973,243 - -

77,178,506 17,877,205 98,681,129

37,762,877 353,756 -

381,120 - -

65,308 - -

$ 436,385,132 $ 49,857,415 $ 98,681,129
$ 102,799,713 $ 14,028,631 3 30,010,053
24,411,798 - -

118,517,786 35,326,526 32,792,153

14,227,964 - -

- - 24,781,666

- - 10,816,517

10,500,263 - 280,740

6,738,676 - -

277,196,200 49,355,157 98,681,129
111,983,766 = -

- - 22,086,430

111,983,766 - 22,086,430

381,120 - -

- 502,258 -

6,653,286 - -

25,000,000 - -
15,170,760 - (22,086,430)
47,205,166 502,258 (22,086,430)

3 436,385,132 3 49,857,415 $ 98,681,129

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Non-Major Total
Debt Service Capital Governmental Governmental
Fund Projects Fund Funds Funds

- 40,376,937 - $ 40,376,937
227,437,449 - - 227,437,449
10,000 328,526,757 6,540,473 519,825,704

- - - 2,000,000

- 144,700,353 - 144,700,353

- - - 154,902,058

- - - 10,973,243

- 11,083,228 - 204,820,068

- 1,643,640 - 39,760,273

22,570 875,874 - 898,444

- - - 381,120

- - - 65,308
227,470,019 527,206,789 6,540,473 $ 1,346,140,957
10,000 53,393,571 9,060 $ 200,251,028

- - - 24,411,798

- 285,971 - 186,922,436

- - - 14,227,964

- 317,488 - 25,099,154

- - - 10,816,517

- - - 10,781,003

. - - 6,738,676

10,000 53,997,030 9,060 479,248,576

- - - 111,983,766

- 9,806,972 - 31,893,402

- 9,806,972 - 143,877,168

- - - 381,120

- - 1,366,517 1,366,517
108,356,805 - - 108,356,805
69,803,000 - - 69,803,000
49,300,214 - - 49,300,214
- 54,833 - 54,833

- - 5,164,896 5,164,896

- 463,347,954 - 463,347,954

- - - 502,258

- - - 6,653,286

- - - 25,000,000
- - - (6,915,670)
227,460,019 463,402,787 6,531,413 723,015,213
227,470,019 527,206,789 6,540,473 $ 1,346,140,957




School District of Philadelphia
Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet for Governmental Funds
to the Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2020

Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds (page 37) $ 723,015,213

Amounts reported for governmental activites in the Statement of Net
Position are different because:

Prepaid Expenses used in governmental activities are not financial resources 2,118,215
and, therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds.

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and,
therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds. 1,909,393,068

Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current-period expenditures
and, therefore, are reported as unavailable revenue in the governmental funds. 143,877,168

Deferred outflows and inflows of resources for refunding losses and gains
are not available for the current period, therefore, are not reported in the
governmental funds. 48,866,486

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable and unfunded net pension payable,
are not due and payable in the current period, and therefore are not reported as
liabilities in the governmental funds. (7,627,206,344)

Deferred outflows are not current assets or financial resources and deferred
inflows are not due and payable in the current period and therefore are not
in the governmental funds. 432,489,818

Net position of the Internal Service Funds are not reported in the
governmental funds but is blended in the net deficit of the govenmental activities. 43,336,071

Net deficit of governmental activities (page 34) $ (4,324,110,305)

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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School District of Philadelphia
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Governmental Funds
For The Year Ended June 30, 2020

General Intermediate Categorical
Fund Unit Fund Funds
REVENUES
Local Taxes $ 1,317,092,381 $ - $ -
Locally Generated Non Tax 260,167,199 311,642 19,565,358
State Grants and Subsidies 1,522,789,171 142,283,623 170,501,415
Federal Grants and Subsidies 317,229 - 309,077,719
Total Revenues 3,100,365,980 142,595,265 499,144,492
EXPENDITURES
Current:
Instruction 1,058,095,049 294,323,740 340,615,498
Student Support Services 37,900,448 131,091,144 133,172,298
Administrative Support 102,653,491 9,786,776 32,443,580
Operation & Maintenance of Plant Services 233,372,533 - 651,652
Pupil Transportation 85,585,930 - -
All Other Support Services 9,443,737 - -
Payments to Charter Schools 1,049,430,968 - 11,981,507
Debt Service:
Principal - - -
Interest - - -
Principal & Interest - Authority - - -
Issuance Costs - - -
Administrative Expenditures - - -
Capital Outlay:
New Buildings and Additions - - -
Environmental Management - - -
Alterations and Improvements - - -
Major Renovations - - -
Equipment Acquistions - - -
Total Expenditures 2,576,482,156 435,201,660 518,864,535
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
over (under) Expenditures 523,883,824 (292,606,395) (19,720,043)
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES/(USES)
Transfers In - 291,093,999 1,403,621
Transfers Out (587,787,564) - -
Debt Issuance - - -
Bond and Note Premiums 3,911,592 - -
Bond Discount - - -
Proceeds of Refunding Bonds - - -
Bond Defeasement - - -
Total Other Financing Sources/(Uses) (583,875,972) 291,093,999 1,403,621
Net Change in Fund Balances (59,992,148) (1,512,396) (18,316,422)
Fund Balances (Deficit), July 1, 2019 107,241,103 2,014,654 (3,770,008)
Change in Inventory Reserve (43,789) - -
Fund Balances (Deficit), June 30, 2020 $ 47,205,166 $ 502,258 $ (22,086,430)

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement,
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Non-Major

Debt Service Capital Governmental Total
Fund Projects Fund Funds Governmental Funds
- - - $ 1,317,092,381
7,317,435 7,110,813 78,210 294,550,657
- 3,594,939 - 1,839,169,148
16,697,578 - - 326,092,526
24,015,013 10,705,752 78,210 3,776,904,712
- - 17,712 1,693,051,999
- - - 302,163,890
- - - 144,883,847
- - - 234,024,185
- - - 85,585,930
- - - 9,443,737
- - - 1,061,412,475
277,350,000 - - 277,350,000
102,612,719 - - 102,612,719
68,548,392 - - 68,548,392
5,309,346 139,419 - 5,448,765
57,775 - - 57,775
- 37,951,188 - 37,951,188
- 7,738,602 - 7,738,602
- 98,879,603 - 98,879,603
- 73,197,441 - 73,197,441
- 631,648 - 631,648
453,878,232 218,537,901 17,712 4,202,982,196
(429,863,219) (207,832,149) 60,498 (426,077,484)
298,430,268 294,817 - 591,222,705
(139,419) (3,351,541) - (591,278,524)
- 456,660,000 - 456,660,000
14,422,565 77,072,169 - 95,406,326
- (345,750) - (345,750)
336,519,360 - - 336,519,360
(186,913,950) - - (186,913,950)
462,318,824 530,329,695 - 701,270,167
32,455,605 322,497,546 60,498 275,192,683
195,004,414 140,905,241 6,470,915 447,866,319
- - - (43,789)
227,460,019 463,402,787 6,531,413 $ 723,015,213
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School District of Philadelphia
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures
and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds
To the Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement
of Activities (page 35) are different because:

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds (page 41)

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the
Statement of Activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated
useful lives and reported as depreciation expense. This is the amount by which
capital outlays exceeded depreciation in the current period.

Non capitalized purchases that exceed capital outlays - capital purchases.

The net effect of miscellaneous transactions involving losses arising from disposal, donation
and sale of capital assets are not reported as expenditures in the governmental funds.

Revenues in the Statement of Activities that do not provide current financial
resources are not reported as revenues in the governmental funds.

Bond proceeds provide current financial resources to governmental funds, but
issuing debt increases long-term liabilities in the Statement of Net Position.
Repayment of bond principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but
the repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the Statement of Net Position.
This is the amount by which proceeds exceeded repayments.

Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of current
financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds.

The change in net position of the Internal Service Funds are reported with the governmental activities.

Change in net position of governmental activities (page 35)

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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$

275,192,683

126,728,091

(15,505,631)

203,291

5,212,917

(410,598,446)

(49,060,206)

8,984,283

$

(58,843,018)




ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Equity in Pooled Cash and Investments
Due From Other Governments
Other Receivables
Funds On Deposit
Inventories
Total Current Assets

Noncurrent Assets:
Machinery & Equipment
Accumulated Depreciation
Total Noncurrent Assets

Total Assets

DEFERRED QUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES:

Deferred Pension Contributions

Deferred Pension Assumptions and Earnings

Deferred OPEB Contributions
Deferred OPEB Outflows
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities:
Accounts Payable
Accrued Salaries and Benefits Payable
Termination Compensation Payable
Due to Other Funds
Incurred But Not Reported Claims

Total Current Liabilities

Noncurrent Liabilities:
Termination Compensation Payable
Net Pension Liability
Net OPEB Liability
Total Noncurrent Liabilities

Total Liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES:

Deferred Pension
Deferred OPEB
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources

NET POSITION
Net Investment in Capital Assets
Restricted for Healthcare Claims
Unrestricted (Deficit)

Total Net Position (Deficit}

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Net Position

School District of Philadelphia
Statement of Net Position

Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2020
Enterprise Fund
Food Service Print Shop Use of Facilities Internal Service
Major Non Major Non Major Total Funds
2,205 3 - $ - 2,205 3 -
17,537,492 - - 17,537,492 62,311,519
4,132,657 45,565 2,239 4,180,461 10,477
1,394,193 - 338,000 1,732,193 -
- - - - 9,500,000
543,225 39,214 - 582,439 -
23,609,772 84,779 340,239 24,034,790 71,821,996
18,068,071 567,036 - 18,635,107 -
(14,729,640) (514,204) - (15,243 ,934) -
3,338,431 52,742 - 3,391,173 -
26,948,203 137,521 340,239 27,425,963 71,821,996
5,224,304 157,801 - 5,382,105 -
3,211,674 97,009 - 3,308,683 -
137,936 3,151 - 141,087 -
268,653 6,137 - 274,790 -
8,842,567 264,098 - 9,106,665 -
35,790,770 3 401,619 $ 340,239 36,532,628 $ 71,821,996
2,669,143 $ 67,771 $ - 2,736,914 $ 11,960,925
830,574 22,137 - 852,711 -
161,680 - - 161,680 -
- 30,559 126,167 156,726 -
- - - - 16,525,000
3,661,397 120,467 126,167 3,908,031 28,485,925
2,071,838 104,341 - 2,176,179 -
51,678,125 1,560,946 - 53,239,071 -
2,467,263 56,364 - 2,523,627 -
56,217,226 1,721,651 - 57,938,877 -
59,878,623 1,842,118 126,167 61,846,908 28,485,925
2,383,733 72,284 - 2,456,017 -
93,250 2,129 - 95,379 -
2,476,983 74,413 - 2,551,396 -
3,338,431 52,742 - 3,391,173 -
- - - - 9,500,000
(29,903,267) (1,567,654) 214,072 (31,256,849) 33,836,071
(26,564,836) (1,514,912) 214,072 (27.865,676) 43,336,071
35,790,770 3 401,619 3 340,239 36,532,628 $ 71,821,996

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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School District of Philadelphia

of R

, Exp , and Changes in Fund Net Position
Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020

Enterprise Fund

Food Service Print Shop Use of Facilities Internal Service
Major Non Major Non Major Total Funds

Operating Revenues:
Food Service Revenue $ 44,578 $ - $ - 44,578 -
Sale of Printing Services - 871,380 - 871,380 -
Rentat of Facilities - - 779.250 779,250 286,957
Contributions for Services - - - - 180,997,458
Total Operating Revenues 44,578 871,380 779,250 1,695,208 181,284,415

Operating Expenses:
Salaries 21,314,790 499,471 429,562 22,243,823 651,154
Employee Benefits 19,108,842 402,658 182.718 19,694,218 387,388
Other Purchased Service - Food 40,190,039 - - 40,190,039 -
Benefit Pavments - - - - 165,730,517
Depreciation 457,250 5,453 - 462,703 -
Other Operating Expenses 6,384,851 463,920 185,167 7,033,938 5,567.994
Total Operating Expenses 87,455,772 1,371,502 797.447 89,624,721 172,337,053
Operating Income/(Loss) (87,411,194) (500,122 (18,197) (87,929,513) 8,947,362

Non-Operating Revenues/(Expenses):

Federal and State Grants 77,109,435 154,846 101,222 71,365,503 36921
Loss on Sale of Capital Assets (7,512) - - (7.512) -
Income (loss) Before Contributions and Transfers (10,309,271) (345,276) 83,025 (10,571,522) 8,984,283
Transfers In/(Qut) (289,458) 345,276 - 55818 -
Change in Net Position (10,598,729) - 83,025 (10,515,704) 8,984,283
Total Net Position (Deficit) July 1, 2019 (15,966,107) (1,514,912) 131,047 (17,349,972) 34,351,788
Total Net Position (Deficit) June 30, 2020 $ (26,564,836) 3 (1,514,912) 3 214,072 (27,865,676) 43,336,071

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement,
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CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash Received from Users
Cash Payments to Employees for Services
Cash Payments to Suppliers for Goods and Services
Cash Payments for Other Operating Expenses

Net Cash (Used)/Provided by Operating Activities

CASH FLOWS FROMNONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payments to/Advances from Other Funds
State Sources
Federal Sources
Transfers In/(Out)

Net Cash Provided by Non-Capital Financing Activities
CASHFLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Facilities Acquisition, Ct cti

Net Cash Used by Capital
and Related Financing Activities

P

Net (Decrease)/Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents July 1, 2019

Cash and Cash Equivalents June 30, 2020

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash
Provided (Used) by Operating Activities:
Operating Income (Loss)
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income/(Loss) to Net Cash.

Provided (Used) by Operating Activities:
Depreciation
Donated Food Commodities
(Increase)/Decrease in Accounts Receivable
(Increase) in Due From Other Governments
Decrease/(Increase) in Inventories
Increase/(Decrease) in Accounts Payable
Increase in Accrued Salaries and Benefits Payable
Increase in Termination Compensation Payable
(Increase) in Deferred Pension Contributions
Decrease in Deferred Pension Assumptions and Famings
(Increase) in Deferred OPEB Contributions
(Increase) in Deferred OPEB Outflows
(Decrease) in Net Pension Liability
Increase in Net OPEB Liability
Incrense in Deferred Pension Inflows
Increase in Deferred OPEB Inflows
(Decrease) in Incurred But Not Reported Claims

Total Adjustments
Net Cash (Used) Provided by Operating Activities
Non cash items:
Federal and State Grant revenus not vet received
Donated Commodities

The notes to the basic financial stalements are an integral part of this statement.

School District of Philadelphiz

Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds

For The Year Ended June 30, 2020

Enterprise Fund

Food Service Print Shop Use of Facilities Internal Service
Major Non Major Non Major Total Funds
44,578 $ 871,380 $ 829416 s 1,745,374 b 181,284,415
(39,557,312) (866,453) (612,280) (41,036,045) (1,038,542)
(33.584.429) - - (33.584.429) (168.396.676)
(6,384.851) (447.124) (185.167) (7.017.142) (5.567.994)
(79,482,014 (442,197) 31.969 (79.892,242) 6,281,203
- (57,925) (150,228) (208,153) -
9,009,587 154,846 118,259 9,282,692 26,444
60,037,610 - - 60,037,610 -
(289.458) 345,276 - 55818 -
68.757.739 442,197 (31.969) 69,167,967 26,444
(508,084) - - (508,084) -
(508,084) N - (508,084) -
(11.232,359) - - (11.232,359) 6.307.647
28,772,056 - - 28,772,056 56,003.872
17,539,697 3 - $ - 3 17,539,697 5 62311519
(87.411,194) H (500,122) H (18.197) $ (87.929.513) H 8,947.362
457,250 5,453 - 462.703 -
6,032,366 - - 6,032,366 -
(1,394,193) - 50,166 (1,344,027) -
- (14,326) - (14,326) -
209,222 (3,953) - 205,269 -
1,758.215 35,073 - 1,793,288 (2.009.159)
238,166 6.672 - 244,838 -
167,983 15,226 - 183209 -
(282,247) (8,524) - (290.771) -
2,128,301 64,286 - 2,192,587 -
(5,492) (125) - (5,617) -
(5,224) 120) - (5,344)
(1,842,757) (55,662) - (1,898,419) -
26,130 597 - 26,727 -
440,721 13312 - 454,033 -
739 16 - 735 -
. - - - (657.000)
7,929,180 57,925 50,166 8,037,271 (2,666,159)
(79,482,014) 5 (442,197) $ 31,969 b} (79,892,242) 3 6,281,203
4,132,657 s 45,565 3 2,239 4,180,461 3 10477
6,032,366 - - 6,032,366 -




School District of Philadelphia
Statement of Net Position

Fiduciary Funds
June 30, 2020
Private - Purpose Agency
Trust Funds Funds

ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ - $ 5,098,624
Equity in Pooled Cash and Investments 728,463 115,072,151
Investments 200,013 -
Accounts Receivable 42 111,981

Total Assets 928,518 120,282,756
LIABILITIES
Payroll Deductions and Withholdings - 113,839,676
Due to Student Activities - 5,098,624
Other Liabilities - 1,344,456

Total Liabilities - 120,282,756
NET POSITION
Held in Trust for Various Purposes $ 928,518 $ -

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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School District of Philadelphia

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2020

Private Purpose
Trust Funds
ADDITIONS
Gifts and Contributions $ 423,700
Interest Received 10,629
Total Additions 434,329
DEDUCTIONS
Scholarships Awarded 423,700
Total Deductions 423,700
Change in Net Position 10,629
Net Position July 1, 2019 917,889
Net Position June 30, 2020 $ 928,518

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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School District of Philadelphia

SCHOOL DISTRICT OF PHILADELPHIA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2020

These notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements and include a summary of accounting policies and practices and other information
considered necessary to ensure a clear understanding of the statements.

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies and practices of the School District of Philadelphia (the “School District”), as reflected in the accompanying
financial statements for the Fiscal Year that ended June 30, 2020, conform to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”)
for local government units as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (the “GASB”).

The most significant accounting policies are summarized below:

A.

Reporting Entity

The accounting and reporting policies of the School District conform to generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as
applicable to governments. The Governmental Accounting Standard Board (GASB) is the standard setting body for establishing
governmental accounting and financial reporting principles, which are primarily set forth in the GASB’s Codification of
Governmental and Financial Reporting Standards (GASB Codification). The School District has adopted all GASB Statements
through No. 90 as required.

The School District is the largest school district in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania (the “Commonwealth™) and the tenth largest
public educational system in the United States according to student enrollment data. In Fiscal Year 2020, the School District served
over 204,500 students, including those in Charter and Alternative Schools, as well as employed over 20,000 full-time professional and
non-professional persons. The boundaries of the School District are coterminous with the boundaries of the City of Philadelphia (the
“City”). The School District is a political subdivision of the Commonwealth created to assist in the administration of the General
Assembly’s duties under the state Constitution to “provide for the maintenance and support of a thorough and efficient system of
public education to serve the needs of the Commonwealth.”

As such, the School District is a separate and independent home rule school district of the first class formally established by the
Philadelphia Home Rule Charter (the “Charter”) in December of 1965. The Philadelphia Home Rule Charter Act, P.L. 643 (the
“Act”) expressly limits the powers of the City by prohibiting the City from, among other things, assuming the debt of the School
District or enacting legislation regulating public education and its administration except only to set tax rates for school purposes as
authorized by the General Assembly of the Commonwealth. Although the School District is an independent legal entity, it is
considered to be a component unit of the City for reporting purposes only and is included in the City of Philadelphia’s Comprehensive
Annual Financial Report (the “CAFR”).

Effective December 2001, in a cooperative effort with the City to address the School District’s financial needs, the Commonwealth
assumed governing control of the School District by declaring it financially distressed in accordance with Sections 691 and 696 of the
Public School Code of 1949, Shortly thereafter the Commonwealth assumed governance, a five-member School Reform Commission
(the “SRC”) was established. The SRC exercised all powers and had all duties of the original Board of Education through June 30,
2018. The Governor of Pennsylvania appointed the chairman and two other members of the SRC while the Mayor of the City of
Philadelphia appointed the remaining two members. The five-member commission performed its fiscal oversight responsibility for
the Philadelphia public school system through the Fiscal Year 2018 reporting period. The SRC delegated all its duties to a local nine-
member Board of Education appointed by the Mayor of Philadelphia beginning July 1, 2018, which is the structure currently in place.

Prior to the formation of the SRC, the School District implemented a new management structure where a Chief Executive Officer (the
“CEO”) was appointed in lieu of a “Superintendent” effective November 1, 2000. Although the CEO performs all duties imposed on
the Superintendent of Schools by both the Charter and the Public School Code of 1949 (the “School Code) and serves as the
Secretary and Treasurer of the Governing Body of the School District, the new designation was designed to provide the Governing
Body with more freedom and to avoid being constrained to select a traditional “academic scholar” ignoring the business experience
that is equally necessary for such a large school district. In addition, the new administrative and management structure of the School
District recognized the enormity of the job of a CEO of a large, urban public school system and successfully sought to implement a
more corporate accountability structure and team management approach to ensure that the School District would accomplish specific
objectives and overall goals.

The organizational structure at June 30, 2020 included a Superintendent/CEO, Chief of Staff, General Counsel, Philadelphia Police
Department Liaison, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Academic Supports Officer, Chief Student Support Services Officer, Chief of
Schools, Chief Talent Officer, Chief Operations Officer, Chief of Information Technology Officer, Chief of Communication and
External Relations Officer, Chief of Evaluation, Research and Accountability Officer, Strategic Partnerships Office, Grants
Development Office, Strategy Delivery Office, Inspector General, Internal Audit Office, School Improvement and Innovation Office,
and Charter Schools Office. The Charter Schools Office, Inspector General and Internal Audit reported to the Board of Education
during Fiscal Year 2020. General Counsel had a dual reporting relationship to the Superintendent/CEO and School Board. All other
Chiefs and Offices report directly to the Superintendent/CEO.

The Superintendent/CEO is responsible for the general supervision of all business affairs of the School District, the furnishing of all

reports to the Department of Education of the Commonwealth and other matters prescribed by the School Code, as amended. As
Treasurer, the Superintendent/CEO receives all Commonwealth appropriations, School District taxes and other monies of the School
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School District of Philadelphia

District; makes payments on orders approved by the Governing Body; and is responsible for the investment of School District funds.
Under this management structure, the Superintendent/CEO still performs the duties of the Superintendent of Schools under the
Charter, including the pre-audit duties and functions of the school controller.

Moreover, the School District also serves as the agent for the Intermediate Unit No. 26 (the “IU”); a separate entity established by the
Commonwealth to provide special education and special education transportation. Similar to the School District, the Board of
Education also constitutes the Board of Directors of the IU; the boundaries of the IU are coterminous with those of the City and
School District. The School District performs all IU services, pursuant to contracts between the two. As required by GAAP, the
financial statements of the IU have been included in the School District’s reporting entity as a blended component unit. The IU is
included in the School District’s reporting entity because of the significance of the operating relationship the IU has with the School
District.

District~-Wide and Fund Financial Statements

“Basic Financial Statements - and Management’s Discussion and Analysis - for State and Local Governments” establishes
requirements and a reporting model for the annual financial reports of state and local governments. This statement was specifically
developed to make annual reports easier to understand and more useful to people who use governmental financial information to make
decisions.

The financial reporting model includes a requirement that the financial statements are accompanied by a narrative introduction and
analytical overview of the government’s financial activities in the form of Management's Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A™). This
analysis is similar to the analysis that private sector entities provide in their annual reports and is Required Supplementary Information
(the “RSI”). The basic financial statements include both District-wide (based on the School District as a whole) and fund financial
statements. District-wide and fund financial statements categorize primary activities as either governmental or business-type. Required
supplementary information other than MD&A, including the required budgetary comparison information, are presented immediately
following the notes to the financial statements.

Management’s Discussion & Analysis — MD&A discusses the current-year results in comparison with the prior year, with emphasis
on the current year. The MD&A is a fact-based analysis discussing the positive and negative aspects of the comparison with the prior
year. It uses charts, graphs, and tables to enhance the understandability of the information. The MD&A analyzes overall financial
position and results of operations to assist users in assessing whether financial position has improved or deteriorated as a result of the
year's operations. It presents the information needed to support this analysis of financial position and results of operations required.

More specifically, the MD&A analyzes: (1) the balances and transactions of individual funds; and (2) any significant variations
between original and final budget amounts and between final budget amounts and actual results for the general fund. The MD&A also
describes: (1) any significant capital assets and long-term debt activity that occurred during the year, including a discussion of
commitments made for capital expenditures, changes in credit ratings, and debt limitations that may affect the financing of planned
facilities or services; and (2) any currently known facts, decisions, or conditions that are expected to have a significant effect on
financial position (net position) or results of operations (revenues, expenses, and other changes in net position).

District-Wide Financial Statements — The District-wide financial statements (i.e. the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of
Activities) are prepared using full accrual accounting for all of the government’s activities. This approach includes not only current
assets and liabilities (such as cash and accounts payable), but also capital assets, deferred outflows of resources, long-term liabilities,
and deferred inflows of resources.

Accrual accounting also reports all of the revenues and costs associated with providing such services each year, not just those received
or paid in the current fiscal year or soon thereafter. Fiduciary funds are not included in District-wide financial statements.
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